ON THE YAU-TIAN-DONALDSON CONJECTURE FOR GENERALIZED KÄHLER-RICCI SOLITON EQUATIONS

JIYUAN HAN AND CHI LI

ABSTRACT. Let (X, D) be a polarized log variety with an effective holomorphic torus action, and Θ be a closed positive torus invariant (1, 1)-current. For any smooth positive function gdefined on the moment polytope of the torus action, we study the Monge-Ampère equations that correspond to generalized and twisted Kähler-Ricci g-solitons. We prove a version of Yau-Tian-Donaldson (YTD) conjecture for these general equations, showing that the existence of solutions is always equivalent to an equivariantly uniform Θ -twisted g-Ding-stability. When Θ is a current associated to a torus invariant linear system, we further show that equivariant special test configurations suffice for testing the stability. Our results allow arbitrary klt singularities and generalize most of previous results on (uniform) YTD conjecture for (twisted) Kähler-Ricci/Mabuchi solitons or Kähler-Einstein metrics.

Contents

| 1. | Introduction and main results | 1 |
|------------|--|----|
| 2. | Functionals and their dualities | 5 |
| 3. | Existence and properness | 14 |
| 4. | Generalized Mabuchi functional and its convexity | 19 |
| 5. | Non-Archimedean functionals and G-uniform stability | 31 |
| 6. | Yau-Tian-Donaldson conjecture for twisted Kähler-Ricci g-solitons | 40 |
| 7. | Stability via special test configurations | 44 |
| 8. | Examples | 48 |
| 9. | Appendix: Mabuchi functional as Kempf-Ness functionals | 49 |
| 10. | Appendix: Non-Archimedean Entropy and generalized Mabuchi functional | 51 |
| References | | 55 |

1. INTRODUCTION AND MAIN RESULTS

In this paper, we will use the variational approach to study generalized and twisted Kähler-Ricci soliton equations on log Fano varieties, which generalize the usual (twisted) Kähler-Ricci soliton equations on Fano manifolds which we first recall. Let X be a smooth Fano manifold and let Θ be a closed and positive (1, 1)-current. By a twisted Kähler-Ricci soliton (see [82, 90, 25]), we mean a Hermitian metric $e^{-\varphi}$ on $-K_X$ such that $dd^c\varphi = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2\pi}\partial\bar{\partial}\varphi$ is a Kähler metric and satisfies the equation:

(1.1)
$$Ric(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi) = \mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi + \mathfrak{L}_{\xi}\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi + \Theta,$$

where ξ is a holomorphic vector field and \mathfrak{L}_{ξ} denotes the Lie derivative. Based on the works in [22, 28], we know that the solvability of this equation is equivalent to appropriate coercivity condition of associated energy functionals. It is also possible to show the corresponding version

Date: September 27, 2020.

JIYUAN HAN AND CHI LI

of Yau-Tian-Donaldson conjecture which states that the solvability is equivalent to appropriate (twisted) K/Ding-stability of the data (X, ξ, Θ) . By now there is a long list of such results under different conditions of (X, ξ, Θ) . We refer to [77, 3, 79, 21, 80, 24, 9, 46, 59] for the Kähler-Einstein case (i.e. $\xi = \Theta = 0$), [33, 25, 9, 37, 73, 58, 81] for the twisted/conical Kähler-Einstein case (i.e. $\xi = 0$) and to [13, 25] for the general Kähler-Ricci soliton case. Moreover, recently there have been many parallel studies on Mabuchi-soliton metrics (see [66, 67, 87, 88, 46, 62] and references therein). Recall that a Kähler metric $dd^c \varphi \in c_1(X)$ is a Mabuchi soliton ([66, 67]) on (X, ξ) (with ξ holomorphic) if it satisfies the equation:

(1.2)
$$\bar{\partial}\left(\frac{e^{-\varphi}}{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}}\right) = \iota_{\xi}(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi).$$

Our main purpose in this paper is to generalize these results to a much more general setting. First, we will work with any log pair (X, D) allowing arbitrary (klt) singularities. Second, we will use the set-up of Berman-Witt-Nyström in [13] by considering more general complex Monge-Ampère equation of the following form:

(1.3)
$$g(\mathbf{m}_{\varphi})\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} = e^{-\varphi - \psi},$$

where \mathbf{m}_{φ} is the moment map associated to an effective torus action, g is any positive smooth function defined on the associated moment polytope $\mathbf{m}_{\varphi}(X)$. We will explain more of notations shortly. As is well known, (1.3) reduces to (1.1) when $\log g$ is affine, $(X, D) = (X, \emptyset)$ and $\Theta = \mathrm{dd}^{c}\psi$. In particular, when g is a positive constant, we get the twisted Kähler-Einstein equation. Moreover, when g is affine, then we get the Mabuchi-soliton equation (1.2).

Our method is based on the variational approach, which applies well to both smooth and singular varieties. Indeed, the variational approach to solve complex Monge-Ampère equations on possibly singular varieties were developed in recent years, especially in the works of [7, 6, 13]. Based such variational approach and the study of the space of Kähler metrics, Tian's properness conjecture has been resolved in [28, 27, 32]. Moreover the variation approach to YTD conjecture via pluripotential theory and non-Archimedean geometry have been successfully carried out in [9, 58, 46, 59].

As we will show in this paper, by working harder to generalize the techniques from these works, we can indeed achieve a version of the Yau-Tian-Donaldson conjecture for more general equation (1.3) which gives sufficient and necessary algebrao-geometric conditions for the existence of solutions. We will also show that the MMP process developed in [57, 8, 38, 11] works equally well for the more general equation (1.3), which allows us to test generalized-twisted K/Ding-stability using only special test configurations.

To state our results, we introduce some notations. Let X be a projective variety of dimension n, D an effective divisor such that $K_X + D$ is Q-Cartier. Let Θ be a closed positive (1, 1)-current which is the curvature of a possibly singular Hermitian metric $e^{-\psi}$ on a Q-line bundle B. We assume that $L = -(K_X + D) - B$ is ample.

Remark 1.1. By incorporating the divisorial part of Θ into D, we can usually assume that in the Siu-decomposition of Θ , there is no divisorial part.

Let ω_0 be a smooth Kähler metric on L, as the curvature of a Hermitian metric $e^{-\varphi_0}$ on L, i.e. $\omega_0 = \mathrm{dd}^c \varphi_0$. Then $e^{-\varphi_0 - \psi}$ is a Hermitian metric on $-K_X - D$ and we get a globally defined measure on X (see [6]):

(1.4)
$$d\mu_0 = e^{-\varphi_0 - \psi} = |s|^{2/m} e^{-\varphi_0 - \psi} (\sqrt{-1}^{mn^2} s^* \wedge \bar{s}^*)^{1/m},$$

where s is any no-where zero local holomorphic section of $m(-K_X - D)$ over an open set for some sufficiently divisible m, and s^{*} is the dual to s.

Let $T \cong (S^1)^r$ be a real torus of dimension r with the complexification $T_{\mathbb{C}} \cong (\mathbb{C}^*)^r$. We assume that $T_{\mathbb{C}}$ acts effectively and holomorphically on X, preserving the divisor D. Moreover, we assume the $T_{\mathbb{C}}$ action lifts to an action on the Q-line bundle B, which means it lifts to act on the line bundle mB for some $m \in \mathbb{N}$, and $e^{-\psi}$ is a T-invariant Hermitian metric so that Θ is also T-invariant. Note that since $T_{\mathbb{C}}$ naturally acts on $K_X + D$, it is equivalent to require that $T_{\mathbb{C}}$ lifts to an action on the ample Q-line bundle $L = -(K_X + D) - B$.

For any Kähler form $dd^c \varphi \in c_1(L)$, there is an associated moment map

(1.5)
$$\mathbf{m}_{\varphi}: X \to \mathbb{R}^r.$$

Let $P \subset \mathbb{R}^r$ be the image of \mathbf{m}_{φ} , which is known to be a convex polytope and independent of the choice of $\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi$. Let g be any smooth positive function defined on P. For any $x \in X$, for simplicity, we set $g_{\varphi}(x) := g(\mathbf{m}_{\varphi}(x))$. Then we can re-write the equation (1.3) as

(1.6)
$$g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} = e^{-(\varphi-\varphi_{0})} d\mu_{0}.$$

By [13] (see section 2 for an alternative way of definition), for any $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}_T^1(X, L)$, the lefthand-side of (1.6) is a well-defined Radon measure and the equation can be considered in the pluripotential sense. When φ is sufficiently smooth, one can easily see that, over X^{sm} , the equation (1.6) is equivalent to

(1.7)
$$Ric_{\varphi} := Ric(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi) = \mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi + [D] + \Theta + \mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\log g_{\varphi},$$

where [D] is the current of integration along the divisor $D^{\rm sm}$.

Definition 1.2. We say $\mathbb{X} := (X, D + \Theta, T)$ admits a Kähler-Ricci *g*-soliton (or simply KR *g*-soliton) if there exists a solution φ in the finite energy space $\mathcal{E}_T^1(X, L)$ (see Definition 2.30) to the equation (1.6).

In order to get a good existence theory using variational approach and pluripotential theory, we need to require some control of the measure $d\mu_0$. To express this, we choose a *T*-equivariant log resolution of singularities $\rho : \tilde{X} \to X$ such that $\rho^{-1}(D + X^{\text{sing}})$ is supported on a simple normal crossing divisor. We can then write down the ramification formula:

(1.8)
$$K_Y + D' = \rho^*(K_X + D) + \sum_i a_i E_i$$

where $D' = \rho_*^{-1}D$ is the strict transform of D and E_i are exceptional divisors of ρ . Choose a smooth volume form Ω on \tilde{X} . Then for any local holomorphic chart $\{U_{\alpha}, z_j\}$, there exists nowhere zero smooth functions f(z) and local psh function $\tilde{\psi}_{\alpha} = \rho^* \psi$, such that

(1.9)
$$\rho^* d\mu_0 = \prod_i |z_i|^{2a_i} e^{-\tilde{\psi}_\alpha} f(z)\Omega$$

Following [6, 9], we define:

Definition 1.3. We say that $(X, D+\Theta)$ is klt if the in the above representation $\prod_i |z_i|^{2a_i} e^{-\psi_\alpha} \in L^p(U_\alpha, \Omega)$ for some p > 1.

By slightly generalizing the previous work, we show that solutions to (1.6) are critical points of two functionals $\mathbf{D} = \mathbf{D}_{g,\Theta}$ and $\mathbf{M} = \mathbf{M}_{g,\Theta}$ (see (2.45) and (2.46)) defined on the space $\mathcal{E}_T^1(X, L)$ of *T*-invariant finite energy potentials. As in the usual Kähler-Einstein case, we first derive an analytic criterion for the existence of solutions to equation (1.6). Let $\operatorname{Aut}(X, D)$ be the automorphism of (X, D) and $\mathfrak{aut}(X, D)$ be its Lie algebra. Let \mathfrak{t} (resp. $\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{C}}$) be the Lie algebra of T (resp. $T_{\mathbb{C}}$)

Definition 1.4. Let (X, D, Θ) be the same as above. We define:

(1.10) $\mathfrak{aut}_T(X, D, \Theta) = \{\xi \in \mathfrak{aut}(X, D); \iota_{\xi}\Theta = 0, [\xi, c] = 0, \forall c \in \mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{C}} \}.$

Let $\operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$ be the connected subgroup of $\operatorname{Aut}(X, D)$ generated by $\mathfrak{aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$.

Remark 1.5. If $\Theta = 0$, i.e. $[\Theta] = 0$, then $T_{\mathbb{C}} \subseteq \operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D) := \operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, 0)$. If Θ is Kähler then $\operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$ is trivial.

Then we have:

Theorem 1.6. Let $\mathbb{X} := (X, D + \Theta, T)$ be the data as specified above. Assume that \mathbb{G} is a reductive subgroup of $\operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$. If **D** is \mathbb{G} -coercive over $\mathcal{E}^1_{T \times K}$ (see Definition 3.3), then \mathbb{X} admits a KR g-soliton.

Conversely, if X admits a KR g-soliton, then $\operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$ is reductive, and for any reductive subgroup G of $\operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$ that contains a maximal torus of $\operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$, **D** is G-coercive over $\mathcal{E}^1_{T \times K}$.

Our second main result is on the Yau-Tian-Donaldson type conjecture for the general equation (1.6).

Theorem 1.7. Let X be as above and G be a reductive subgroup of $\operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$.

If X is G-uniformly g-Ding-stable over $(T_{\mathbb{C}} \times \mathbb{G})$ -equivariant test configurations, then X admits a KR g-soliton.

Conversely if X admits a KR g-soliton and G contains a maximal torus of $\operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$, then X is G-uniformly g-Ding-stable over $(T_{\mathbb{C}} \times \mathbb{G})$ -equivariant test configurations.

Moreover, when Θ is a generic current associated to a *T*-invariant linear system (see Lemma (7.6)), it is enough to test the G-uniform g-Ding-stability over $(T_{\mathbb{C}} \times \mathbb{G})$ -equivariant special test configurations.

Remark 1.8. We point out that the above results work for all log varieties with klt singularities. When X and Θ are smooth, it might be possible to generalize the metric techniques (including Cheeger-Colding-Tian theory and partial C^0 -estimates) in [85, 51, 76, 25, 81, 64, 73] to prove similar results, although F. Wang pointed out to us some difficulty in such approach for non-KR soliton cases.

It is standard to get more regularity for the solution to (1.6) (see Proposition 3.7). On the other hand, if we just consider weak finite energy solutions, it is possible to allow $g \in C^0(P)$ for Theorem 1.6, and Theorem 1.7 (at least when X is smooth) to hold true.

As mentioned above, the proof of our results depend on generalizing and unifying the techniques in previous works. There are however various new ingredients in our arguments. For example, we get the generalized Mabuchi functional and its generalized Chen-Tian formula for *all* smooth g and for *all* Kähler classes (see 4.2). Moreover we would like to emphasize two key observations that make our arguments to work successfully as in the usual Kähler-Einstein case. The first is that the difficulty in dealing the g-soliton equation and the difficulty caused by the twisting $D+\Theta$ are de-coupled, at least when we use the Ding-functional/stability. This could be seen from the formula for the Archimedean/non-Archimedean Ding functional (see (2.45) and (5.19)). The second is that the well-known construction in the study of equivariant de-Rham cohomology together with the Stone-Weierstrass theorem can be applied in our calculations for various Archimedean/non-Archimedean functionals.

We end this introduction with an outline of the paper. In the next section, we will write down various functionals needed in the variational study of the equation (1.6), and study their relations. In section 3, we prove the analytic criterion for the existence of solutions to (1.6). In section 4, we prove the technical result that the generalized Mabuchi functional is convex along geodesic rays in the space of T-invariant metrics. In section 5, we introduce various non-Archimedean functionals and show the valuative criterion for the G-uniform stability. In section 6, we prove the Yau-Tian-Donaldson conjecture for the equation (1.6). In section 7, we point out that the stability can be tested over special test configurations when Θ is associated from a T-invariant linear subsystem. In section 8, we point out some immediate examples for which our results apply.

1.1. Acknowledgements. J. Han would like to thank Jeff Viaclovsky for his teaching and support over many years. C. Li is partially supported by NSF (Grant No. DMS-1810867) and an Alfred P. Sloan research fellowship, and he would like to thank Yuchen Liu for helpful discussions about equivariant K-stability. We would like to thank Feng Wang and Bin Zhou for helpful comments. We would like to thank E. Inoue for pointing to us his related work [49] and the earlier work of A. Lahdili [53], and T. Delcroix for bringing the work in [30] to our attention.

2. Functionals and their dualities

In this section, we will first review a result in [13] which defines the Radon measure $g_{\varphi}(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}$ for all T-invariant L-psh Hermitian metrics. We will give an alternative definition of these measures which are more adapted to our discussion. After that, we will define the functional $\mathbf{E}_q, \mathbf{J}_q, \mathbf{I}_q$ which are generalized versions of the usual functionals $\mathbf{E}, \mathbf{J}, \mathbf{I}$. Then we will define the generalized Ding functional **D** and generalized Mabuchi functional **M** by essentially generalizing some definitions from [83]. We will show that **D** and **M** are convex along weak geodesics. At last, we will show that the duality formalism in [7, 6] also apply to our functionals here.

2.1. g-Monge-Ampère measure. In this subsection, we will work on manifold X together with a smooth semi-positive closed (1,1)-form $\omega_0 = \mathrm{dd}^c \varphi_0 = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2\pi} \partial \bar{\partial} \varphi_0$.

Define the space of T-invariant psh metrics on L as:

(2.1)

 $\operatorname{Psh}_{T}(\tilde{X},L) = \{\varphi = \varphi_{0} + u; u \in L^{1}_{\operatorname{loc}}, \text{ and locally } \varphi \text{ is a } T \text{-invariant plurisubharmonic function}\}$

and smooth *T*-invariant *semipositive* potentials as:

(2.2)
$$\mathcal{H}_T(\tilde{X}, L) = \{ \varphi = \varphi_0 + u \in \operatorname{Psh}_T(\tilde{X}, L); u \in C^\infty(\tilde{X}, \mathbb{R}) \}$$

We will use $\omega = \omega_0 = \mathrm{dd}^c \varphi_0 = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2\pi} \partial \bar{\partial} \varphi_0$, $\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi = \mathrm{dd}^c (\varphi_0 + u)$. For each $1 \leq \alpha \leq r$, assume that ξ_α is the holomorphic (1, 0)-vector field generating the action of the α -th factor of $T_{\mathbb{C}} \cong (\mathbb{C}^*)^r$ and let $\theta_{\alpha} = \theta_{\alpha}(\varphi) \in C^{\infty}(\tilde{X}, \mathbb{R})$ be the associated Hamiltonian function for any $dd^c\varphi$. Then we have:

(2.3)
$$\iota_{\xi_{\alpha}} \mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \varphi = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2\pi} \bar{\partial} \theta_{\alpha}(\varphi).$$

We have the formula $\theta_{\alpha}(\varphi) = \theta_{\alpha}(\varphi_0) + \xi_{\alpha}(\varphi - \varphi_0)$ and the moment map $\mathbf{m}_{\varphi} : \tilde{X} \to \mathbb{R}^r$ and moment polytope are then given by:

(2.4)
$$\mathbf{m}_{\varphi}(x) = (\theta_1(\varphi)(x), \dots, \theta_r(\varphi)(x)), \quad P = \mathbf{m}_{\varphi}(X).$$

For any smooth function g on P, set

(2.5)
$$g_{\varphi} = g(\theta_1(\varphi), \dots, \theta_r(\varphi)).$$

When g > 0, we will often use the function:

(2.6)
$$f = \log g$$
 (defined on P), $f_{\varphi} = \log g_{\varphi}$ (defined on \tilde{X}).

So we have the formula:

$$\frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2\pi}\bar{\partial}g_{\varphi} = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2\pi}\sum_{\alpha}\frac{\partial g}{\partial\theta_{\alpha}}\bar{\partial}\theta_{\alpha} = \sum_{\alpha}g_{\alpha}\iota_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi) = \iota_{V_{g,\varphi}}\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi,$$

where we denoted

(2.7)
$$g_{\alpha} = D_{\alpha}g = \frac{\partial g}{\partial \theta_{\alpha}}, \quad V_{g,\varphi} := \sum_{\alpha} g_{\alpha}(\mathbf{m}_{\varphi}(x)) \cdot \xi_{\alpha}.$$

Note that $V_{g,\varphi}$ is *not* necessarily holomorphic. Similarly, for the smooth function $f = \log g$ on P, we set $f_{\varphi} = f(\mathbf{m}_{\varphi})$ and

(2.8)
$$V_{f,\varphi} = \sum_{\alpha} \frac{\partial f}{\partial \theta_{\alpha}} \cdot \xi_{\alpha} = \sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \xi_{\alpha}$$

which satisfy the identity:

(2.9)
$$\frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2\pi}\bar{\partial}f_{\varphi} = \iota_{V_{f,\varphi}}\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi,$$

It is well-known that both the moment polytope $P = \text{Im}(\mathbf{m}_{\varphi})$ and the Duistermaat-Heckmann measure $\mathbf{DH}_T(X, L) = (\mathbf{m}_{\varphi})_* \frac{(\text{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{n!}$ are independent of the choice of φ (see [13, Proposition 4.1]). As a consequence, the following integral gives the weighted volume that we will use in the following discussion.

(2.10)
$$\int_X g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{n!} = \int_P g(y) \mathbf{D} \mathbf{H}_T(X, L) := \mathbb{V}_g.$$

Note that $\mathbb{V}_1 = \frac{c_1(L)^{\cdot n}}{n!}$. For general g > 0 on P, by multiplying g by a positive constant, we can usually assume the normalization to simplify the notations in our following discussion:

(2.11)
$$\mathbb{V}_g = 1, \quad \int_X d\mu_0 = 1.$$

For any interval $I \subset \mathbb{R}$, set $\Sigma_I = \{s + \sqrt{-1}b; s \in I, b \in \mathbb{R}\} \subset \mathbb{C}$.

Lemma 2.1. Let $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ be any interval and $\Phi = \{\varphi(s)\} : s \in I \to \varphi(s) \in \mathcal{H}_T(\tilde{X}, L)$ be a differentiable map. Consider Φ as a Hermitian metric on p_2^*L where $p_2 : \Sigma_I \times \tilde{X} \to \tilde{X}$ is the natural projection. For any smooth function f on P, we have the identity:

(2.12)
$$\iota_{V_{f,\varphi}}(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\Phi) = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2\pi}\bar{\partial}f_{\Phi},$$

where f_{Φ} is a function on $\Sigma_I \times \tilde{X}$ defined as:

(2.13)
$$f_{\Phi}(s + \sqrt{-1}b, x) = f_{\varphi(s)}(x)$$

Moreover we have the identity:

(2.14)
$$\frac{d}{ds}f_{\varphi} = V_{f,\varphi}\left(\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial s}\right).$$

Proof. Recall that we have $f_{\varphi(s)}(x) = f(\theta_{\alpha}(\varphi))$ and $\theta_{\alpha}(\varphi) = \theta_{\alpha}(\varphi_0) + \xi_{\alpha}(\varphi - \varphi_0)$. Set $\dot{\varphi} = \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial s}$ and $t = s + \sqrt{-1}b$. We get:

$$\begin{split} \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2\pi} \bar{\partial} f_{\Phi} &= \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2\pi} \sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \left(\bar{\partial}_{\bar{X}} \theta_{\alpha}(\varphi) + \xi_{\alpha}(\dot{\varphi}) d\bar{t} \right) \\ &= \sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \iota_{\xi_{\alpha}} \left(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \varphi + \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2\pi} \partial \dot{\varphi} \wedge d\bar{t} \right) \\ &= \sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \iota_{\xi_{\alpha}} (\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \Phi) = \iota_{V_{f,\varphi}} \mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \Phi. \end{split}$$

We have the following result proved by Berman-Witt-Nyström.

Proposition 2.2 ([13]). Let g = g(y) be a continuous positive function on the moment polytope P. For any $\varphi \in Psh_T(\tilde{X}, L)$, $MA_g(\varphi) := g(\mathbf{m}_{\varphi}) \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{n!}$ is a well-defined a Radon measure.

The proof in [13] used Kiselman's partial Legendre transform and approximation by series of step functions. We now present an alternative construction of the above measure by using a more direct fibration construction, which is more adapted to our following discussion, in particular to defining the non-Archimedean functions in Section 5.

Proof. By Stone-Weierstrauss theorem, the continuous function g on $P \subset \mathbb{R}^r$ can be approximated by polynomials g_i , and $|g(y) - g_i(y)| \to 0$ for any $y = (y_1, \dots, y_r) \in P$, as $i \to \infty$. For $u \in Psh_T(\tilde{X}, \omega_0)$, set $u_M = \max(u, -M)$. Let $\varphi_M = \varphi_0 + u_M$. For each φ_M , there exists a decreasing sequence $u_{M,j} \in \mathcal{H}_T(\tilde{X}, \omega_0)$, such that $u_{M,j} \searrow u_M$ in the weak topology as $j \to \infty$. We will first define $MA_{g_i}(\varphi_{M,j})$, and then show that $MA_{g_i}(\varphi_{M,j})$ converges as $j \to \infty, M \to \infty, i \to \infty$, and define $MA_q(\varphi)$ as the limit.

Assume that ξ generates an effective $T_{\mathbb{C}}$ -action where $T_{\mathbb{C}} \simeq (\mathbb{C}^*)^r$. Set $N_{\mathbb{Z}}^T = \text{Hom}(\mathbb{C}^*, T_{\mathbb{C}})$, $M_{\mathbb{Z}}^T = \text{Hom}(T_{\mathbb{C}}, \mathbb{C}^*)$, $N_{\mathbb{R}}^T = N_{\mathbb{Z}}^T \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$, $M_{\mathbb{R}}^T = M_{\mathbb{Z}}^T \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$. Fix a \mathbb{Z} -basis $\{e_1, \ldots, e_r\}$ of $N_{\mathbb{Z}}^T$ and write $\xi = \sum_{i=1}^r a_i e_i$ such that $\{a_i; i = 1, \ldots, r\}$ are \mathbb{Q} -linearly independent.

First we will assume g is a polynomial and show that MA_g is a well-defined Radon measure. Without the loss of generality, we can furthermore assume g is a monomial $\prod_{\alpha=1}^r y_{\alpha}^{k_{\alpha}}$, $k_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{N}, y \in P$. We will also assume φ is smooth at first, and then work on the general φ by using the approximation as stated above. When φ is smooth, the moment map $\mathbf{m}_{\varphi} : X \to P \subset M_{\mathbb{R}}$ is well-defined, and is determined up to a translation. Set $\theta_{\alpha} = \theta_{e_{\alpha}}(\varphi) = \langle \mathbf{m}_{\varphi}, e_{\alpha} \rangle$. By adding a translation to m_{φ_0} , we can assume $\theta_{\alpha}(\varphi_0)$ are all positive. Consequently, $\theta_{\alpha}(\varphi)$ are all positive, since the polytope P is invariant when φ_0 is changed by adding a potential function. Then $0 < a_{\alpha} < \theta_{\alpha} < b_{\alpha}$ for positive bound a_{α}, b_{α} . $g_{\varphi} = \prod_{\alpha=1}^r \theta_{\alpha}^{k_{\alpha}}(\varphi)$.

For any $\vec{k} = (k_1, \ldots, k_r) \in \mathbb{N}^r$, we set:

(2.15)
$$\mathbb{S}^{[\vec{k}]} = S^{2k_1+1} \times \dots \times S^{2k_r+1}.$$

 $\mathbb{S}^{[\vec{k}]}$ is a natural $(S^1)^r$ -principal bundle with the action given by:

(2.16)
$$(e^{ia_1}, \cdots, e^{ia_r}) \cdot (z^{(1)}, \cdots, z^{(r)}) = (e^{ia_1} z^{(1)}, \dots, e^{ia_r} z^{(r)}).$$

where $z^{(\alpha)} = (z_0^{(\alpha)}, \dots, z_{k_\alpha}^{(\alpha)})$ and we use the identification $S^{2k_\alpha+1} = \{z^{(\alpha)} \in \mathbb{C}^{k_1+1}; |z^{(\alpha)}| = 1\}$. Since $(S^1)^r$ -acts on (\tilde{X}, L) , we have the associated fibre bundle $(\tilde{X}^{[\vec{k}]}, L^{[\vec{k}]}) := (\tilde{X}, L) \times_{(S^1)^r} \mathbb{S}^{[\vec{k}]}$.

Then we have the diagram:

where each fiber of $\pi^{[\vec{k}]}$ is isomorphic to \tilde{X} .

For the Hermitian metric e^{φ} on L, there exists a corresponding Hermitian metric $e^{\varphi^{[\vec{k}]}}$ on $L^{[\vec{k}]}$. And $\varphi^{[\vec{k}]} - \varphi_0^{[\vec{k}]} = \gamma_*^{[\vec{k}]} (\beta^{[\vec{k}]})^* (\varphi - \varphi_0)$. The equivariant cohomology associated to the group U(1) is described in [1, Section 4]. For the group U(1), there exists a Weyl group $W = \mathbb{R}[\zeta, v]$, where ζ represents the angular 1-form of U(1) associated with a degree 1; v is a free variable associated with a degree 2. A derivative D is also defined on W, which satisfies $D\zeta = v, Dv = 0$. Then (W, D) forms the de Rham model of $EU(1) \simeq S^{\infty}$, and $H^*(W, D) \simeq \mathbb{R}$. The S^1 -invariant elements in W, i.e, $\mathbb{R}[v]$, coupled with the derivative D, forms the de Rham model of $BU(1) \simeq \mathbb{P}^{\infty}$, and $H^*(\mathbb{R}[v], D) \simeq \mathbb{R}[v]$. From the embedding $S^{2k+1} \to S^{\infty}$, we can see $(\mathbb{R}[\zeta, v]/(v^{k+1}), D)$ forms the de Rham model for S^{2k+1} , where $\zeta \wedge v^k$ is the generator of $H^{2k+1}(S^{2k+1}, \mathbb{R})$. Similarly, we have the embedding $\mathbb{P}^k \to \mathbb{P}^{\infty}$, and $(\mathbb{R}[v]/(v^k), D)$ forms the de Rham model of \mathbb{P}^k (in real coefficient).

Following the idea of the model of U(1), the ring

(2.18)
$$\Omega_T^*(\tilde{X}) = \{ a \in \Omega^*(\tilde{X}) : \mathfrak{L}_V a = 0 \text{ for } V \in \mathbb{R}^r \}$$

is defined, and there exists an isomorphism

(2.19)
$$H\{\Omega_T^*(\tilde{X})[v_1,\cdots,v_r], d_{\text{twist}}\} \simeq H_T^*(\tilde{X})$$

where v_1, \dots, v_r are free variables, and for any $a \in \Omega^*_T(\tilde{X})$, $d_{\text{twist}}a = da + \sum_{\alpha=1}^r (\iota_{\xi_\alpha}a)v_\alpha$. This implies an isomorphism

(2.20)
$$H\{\Omega_T^*(\tilde{X})[v_1/(v_1)^{k_1+1},\cdots,v_r/(v_r)^{k_r+1}]\} \simeq H^*(\tilde{X}^{[\vec{k}]}).$$

We will construct the metric $dd^c \varphi_j^{[\vec{k}]}$ in the following, which will fit with the equivariant cohomology picture above. Since we are going to work on complex field, it is more convenient to consider the following diagram:

$$(2.21) \qquad \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{C}^* \longrightarrow L \times (\mathbb{C}^{k_1} \setminus \{0\}) \times \cdots \times (\mathbb{C}^{k_r} \setminus \{0\}) \longrightarrow L^{[\vec{k}]} \\ \downarrow \\ \mathbb{C}^* \longrightarrow \tilde{X} \times (\mathbb{C}^{k_1} \setminus \{0\}) \times \cdots \times (\mathbb{C}^{k_r} \setminus \{0\}) \longrightarrow \tilde{X}^{[\vec{k}]}, \end{array}$$

We will use the coordinate $(x, s, (z_0^1, \dots, z_{k_1}^1), \dots, (z_0^r, \dots, z_{k_r}^r))$ for points in $L \times (\mathbb{C}^{k_1} \setminus \{0\}) \times \dots \times (\mathbb{C}^{k_r} \setminus \{0\})$. The action of $t = (t_1, \dots, t_r) \in N_{\mathbb{R}}^T$ on $L \times (\mathbb{C}^{k_1} \setminus \{0\}) \times \dots \times (\mathbb{C}^{k_r} \setminus \{0\})$ is applied by $t \to (\sigma_t^x x, \sigma_t^r s, (t_1 z_0^1, \dots, t_1 z_{k_1}^1), \dots, (t_r z_0^r, \dots, t_r z_{k_r}^r))$. Then $(x, s, [z_0^1, \dots, z_{k_1}^1], \dots, [z_0^r, \dots, z_{k_r}^r])$ and $(\sigma_t^* x, \sigma_t^* s, [z_0^1, \dots, z_{k_1}^1], \dots, [z_0^r, \dots, z_{k_r}^r])$ are the same point in $L^{[\vec{k}]}$.

We will consider a neighborhood of a fiber $\tilde{X} \to \tilde{X}^{[\vec{k}]} \to \mathbb{P}^{[\vec{k}]}$. $\varphi^{[\vec{k}]} = \sigma_t^* \varphi$ can be considered as a section of $L^{[\vec{k}]}$. Then we have

(2.22)
$$d(\varphi^{[\vec{k}]}) = d_x(\sigma_t^*\varphi) + d_t(\sigma_t^*\varphi) = d_x(\sigma_t^*\varphi) + \sum_{\alpha=1}^r \mathfrak{L}_{\xi_\alpha}(\varphi)A^\alpha,$$

where d_x means the differentiation along x direction, $\mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\varphi) = \theta_{\alpha}$, $A^{\alpha} \in T^* \tilde{X}^{[\vec{k}]}$ is a connection of the line bundle, and $d_t A^{\alpha} = \mathrm{dd}^c \varphi_{\alpha}^{\mathrm{FS}}$, where $\varphi_{\alpha}^{\mathrm{FS}}$ is the pullback of the Fubini-Study metric from $\mathbb{P}^{k_{\alpha}}$. Furthermore,

(2.23)
$$dd^{c}(\varphi^{[\vec{k}]}) = dd^{c}\varphi - \sum_{\alpha=1}^{r} d_{x}(\theta_{\alpha}) \wedge A^{\alpha} + d_{x}(\theta_{\alpha}) \wedge A^{\alpha} + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{r} \theta_{\alpha} dd^{c}\varphi_{\alpha}^{FS}$$
$$= dd^{c}\varphi + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{r} \theta_{\alpha} dd^{c}\varphi_{\alpha}^{FS}.$$

Note that by our normalization of \mathbf{m}_{φ} , each θ_{α} is positive, so $\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi^{[\vec{k}]}$ is indeed a metric on $\tilde{X}^{[\vec{k}]}$. As shown in the formula, $(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{[\vec{k}]}$ can be decomposed into two parts: $\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi$ is the projection along fiber \tilde{X} , and $\sum_{\alpha=1}^{r} \theta_{\alpha} \mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi^{\mathrm{FS}}_{\alpha}$ is the projection perpendicular to the fiber direction. And from the construction above, we can see

(2.24)
$$\varphi^{[\vec{k}]} - \varphi_0^{[\vec{k}]} = (\varphi - \varphi_0)^{[\vec{k}]}$$
$$dd^{c}(\varphi - \varphi_0)^{[\vec{k}]} = dd^{c}(\varphi - \varphi_0) + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{r} (\theta_{\alpha}(\varphi) - \theta_{\alpha}(\varphi_0)) dd^{c} \varphi_{\alpha}^{FS}.$$

For any continuous function w(x) on X,

(2.25)
$$\int_{\tilde{X}} w \mathrm{MA}_{g}(\varphi) = \int_{\tilde{X}} w g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{P}^{[\tilde{k}]}} (\int_{\tilde{X}} w^{[\tilde{k}]} \prod_{\alpha=1}^{r} \theta_{\alpha}^{k_{\alpha}} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}) \wedge \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{1}^{\mathrm{FS}})^{k_{1}}}{k_{1}!} \cdots \wedge \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{r}^{\mathrm{FS}})^{k_{r}}}{k_{r}!}$$
$$= \int_{\tilde{X}^{[\tilde{k}]}} w^{[\tilde{k}]} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi^{[\tilde{k}]})^{n+k}}{(n+k)!}.$$

Now consider the general $\varphi \in \operatorname{Psh}_T(\tilde{X}, \omega_0)$. The regularization of φ_M induces a decreasing sequence of smooth metrics $\varphi_{M,j}^{[\vec{k}]}$. Then the sequence converges to a limit $\varphi_M^{[\vec{k}]}$, which is a singular metric on $\tilde{X}^{[\vec{k}]}$. Since the Monge-Ampère measure converges along a decreasing sequence, we have $(\operatorname{dd^c}\varphi_M^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k} = \lim_{j\to\infty} (\operatorname{dd^c}\varphi_{M,j}^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k}$. Similarly, as $M \to \infty$, φ_M is also a decreasing sequence. Then the limit $\varphi^{[\vec{k}]}$ is a singular metric, and define $(\operatorname{dd^c}\varphi^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k} = \lim_{M\to\infty} (\operatorname{dd^c}\varphi^{[\vec{k}]}_M)^{n+k}$. For any *T*-invariant test function $w(x) \in C^\infty(\tilde{X})$,

(2.26)
$$\int_{\tilde{X}} w \mathrm{MA}_g(\varphi) = \lim_{M \to \infty} \lim_{j \to \infty} \int_{X^{[\vec{k}]}} w^{[\vec{k}]} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \varphi_{M,j}^{[k]})^{n+k}}{(n+k)!}$$

For any test function w, we set $w^T = \int_T w(\sigma \cdot x) d\sigma$ where $d\sigma$ is the unit volume Haar measure on T. Then we define:

(2.27)
$$\int_{\tilde{X}} w \mathrm{MA}_g(\varphi) = \int_{\tilde{X}} w^T \mathrm{MA}_g(\varphi).$$

Then MA_g is well-defined for any monomial and hence any polynomial g.

Now consider the general continuous function g. For any $\epsilon > 0$, there exists an $i_0 > 0$, such that for $i > i_0$, $|g - g_i| < \epsilon$. Let i, i' be any two indices larger than i_0 . For any test

function w(x), there exist M > 0, j > 0, such that $|\int_{\tilde{X}} w(x) (\mathrm{MA}_{g_i}(\varphi_{M,j}) - \mathrm{MA}_{g_i}(\varphi))| < \epsilon$, $|\int_{\tilde{X}} w(x) (\mathrm{MA}_{g_{i'}}(\varphi_{M,j}) - \mathrm{MA}_{g_{i'}}(\varphi))| < \epsilon$. Then

$$\begin{split} &|\int_{\tilde{X}} w(x)(\mathrm{MA}_{g_{i}}(\varphi) - \mathrm{MA}_{g_{i'}}(\varphi))| \leq |\int_{X} w(x)(\mathrm{MA}_{g_{i}}(\varphi) - \mathrm{MA}_{g_{i}}(\varphi_{M,j}))| + \\ &|\int_{\tilde{X}} w(x)(\mathrm{MA}_{g_{i'}}(\varphi) - \mathrm{MA}_{g_{i'}}(\varphi_{M,j}))| + |\int_{\tilde{X}} w(x)(\mathrm{MA}_{g_{i}}(\varphi_{M,j}) - \mathrm{MA}_{g_{i'}}(\varphi_{M,j}))| \\ &\leq 2\epsilon + |\int_{\tilde{X}} w(g_{i,\varphi_{M,j}} - g_{i',\varphi_{M,j}}) \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{M,j})^{n}}{n!}| \\ &\leq 2\epsilon + 2\epsilon \int_{\tilde{X}} |w| \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{M,j})^{n}}{n!}. \end{split}$$

By the estimate above, $MA_{g_i}(\varphi_{M,j})$ converges, as $j \to \infty, M \to \infty, i \to \infty$. Henceforth we can see

(2.28)
$$\operatorname{MA}_{g}(\varphi) = \lim_{i \to \infty} \lim_{M \to \infty} \lim_{j \to \infty} \operatorname{MA}_{g_{i}}(\varphi_{M,j})$$

is a well-defined Radon measure by Riesz representation theorem.

2.2. Finite energy space. By pushing down the measure defined in the previous subsection from \tilde{X} to X, we have the definition of MA_g as a Radon measure on X. The normalization (2.11) corresponds to assuming that MA_g , $d\mu_0$ are probablity measures on X (i.e. $\mathbb{V}_g = 1$ in (2.10)). We can define the following finite energy space (see (2.10))

(2.29)
$$\mathcal{E}_T := \mathcal{E}_T(X, L) = \left\{ \varphi \in \operatorname{Psh}_T(X, L) : \int_X g_\varphi \frac{(\operatorname{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{n!} = \mathbb{V}_g \right\}.$$

Remark 2.3. \mathcal{E}_T is the subspace of $\operatorname{Psh}_T(X, \omega_0)$ that $\operatorname{MA}_g(\varphi)$ does not charge pluripolar subset $\{u = -\infty\}$. Since there exists C > 0 that depends only on g such that $|g_{\varphi}| < C$ for all $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}_T(X, L)$, $\operatorname{MA}_g(\varphi)$ is absolutely continuous with respect to $\frac{(\operatorname{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{n!}$. By approximation, this holds for any $\varphi \in \operatorname{Psh}_T(X, L)$. As a result, $\mathcal{E}_T \cong \{\varphi \in \operatorname{Psh}_T(X, L) : \int_X \frac{(\operatorname{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{n!} = \mathbb{V}_1\}$.

We will also define

(2.30)
$$\mathcal{E}_T^1 := \mathcal{E}_T^1(X, L) = \left\{ \varphi \in \mathcal{E}_T : \int_X (\varphi - \varphi_0) \mathrm{MA}_g(\varphi) > -\infty \right\}.$$

For $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}_T^1(X, L)$, $\varphi = \varphi_0 + u$, set $\varphi_t = \varphi_0 + tu$ and define:

(2.31)
$$\mathbf{E}_g(\varphi) = \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_g} \int_0^1 \int_X (\varphi - \varphi_0) g_{\varphi_t} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathbf{c}} \varphi_t)^n}{n!} dt$$

(2.32)
$$\mathbf{I}_g(\varphi) = \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_g} \int_X (\varphi - \varphi_0) \left(g_{\varphi_0} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi_0)^n}{n!} - g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{n!} \right)$$

(2.33)
$$\mathbf{J}_{g}(\varphi) = \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_{g}} \int_{X} (\varphi - \varphi_{0}) g_{\varphi_{0}} \frac{\omega_{0}^{n}}{n!} - \mathbf{E}_{g}(\varphi) =: \mathbf{\Lambda}_{g}(\varphi) - \mathbf{E}_{g}(\varphi).$$

Similar as in [82],

(2.34)
$$\frac{1}{C}(\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{J}) \le \mathbf{I}_g - \mathbf{J}_g \le C(\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{J}).$$

For simplicity of notations, we assume $\mathbb{V}_g = 1$ (by rescaling g). For \mathbf{J}_g , let $u_t = tu$. (2.35)

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{I}_{g}(\varphi) - \mathbf{J}_{g}(\varphi) &= \int_{0}^{1} \frac{d}{dt} (\mathbf{I}_{g} - \mathbf{J}_{g})(\varphi_{t}) dt \\ &= -\int_{0}^{1} \int_{X} u_{t} (V_{f,\varphi}(u) + \Delta_{t} u) g_{\varphi_{t}} \frac{\omega_{u_{t}}^{n}}{n!} dt \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \int_{X} t g_{\varphi_{t}} \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2\pi} \partial u \wedge \bar{\partial} u \wedge \frac{\omega_{u_{t}}^{n-1}}{(n-1)!} dt \\ &= \int_{X} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (\int_{0}^{1} \frac{1}{k!(n-k-1)!} (1-t)^{k} t^{n-k} g_{\varphi_{t}} dt) \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2\pi} \partial u \wedge \bar{\partial} u \wedge \omega^{k} \wedge \mathrm{dd}^{c} \varphi^{n-k-1}, \end{split}$$

where the last equality is by using $\omega_{u_t} = (1 - t)\omega + t dd^c \varphi$. Similarly, we have (2.36)

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{J}_{g}(\varphi) &= \int_{0}^{1} \int_{X} u(g\frac{\omega^{n}}{n!} - g_{\varphi_{t}}\frac{\omega_{u_{t}}^{n}}{n!})dt \\ &= -\int_{0}^{1} \int_{X} u \int_{0}^{t} (V(u) + \Delta_{s}u)g_{\varphi_{s}}\frac{\omega_{u_{s}}^{n}}{n!}dsdt \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{X} g_{\varphi_{s}}\frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2\pi}\partial u \wedge \bar{\partial}u \wedge \frac{\omega_{u_{s}}^{n-1}}{(n-1)!}dsdt \\ &= \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_{g}} \int_{X} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{t} g_{\varphi_{s}}\frac{1}{k!(n-k-1)!}(1-s)^{k}s^{n-k-1}dsdt\frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2\pi}\partial u \wedge \bar{\partial}u \wedge \omega^{k} \wedge \omega_{u}^{n-k-1}. \end{split}$$

Then we have

(2.37)
$$\frac{1}{C}\mathbf{J} \le \mathbf{J}_g \le C\mathbf{J}$$

and

(2.38)
$$\frac{1}{C}\mathbf{J}_g \le \mathbf{I}_g - \mathbf{J}_g \le C\mathbf{J}_g$$

Moreover, for any $t \in [0, 1]$, if we let $\varphi_t = (1 - t)\varphi_0 + t\varphi$, then

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathbf{J}_g(\varphi_t) = \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_g} \int_X (\varphi - \varphi_0) \left(g_{\varphi_0} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi_0)^n}{n!} - g_{\varphi_t} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi_t)^n}{n!} \right) \ge \frac{1}{t} (1 + \frac{1}{C}) \mathbf{J}_g(\varphi_t).$$

This is equivalent to $\frac{d}{dt}\log(\mathbf{J}_g(\varphi_t)) \ge (1+\frac{1}{C})\frac{1}{t}$ and hence implies

(2.39)
$$t^{1+\frac{1}{C}} \mathbf{J}_g(\varphi) \ge \mathbf{J}_g(\varphi_t)$$

By (2.34) (2.37), we also have

(2.40)
$$\frac{1}{C}\mathbf{I} \le \mathbf{I}_g \le C\mathbf{I}$$

Remark 2.4. The calculation in the middle steps of (2.35) and (2.36) is done for $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}_T$. This is sufficient. Indeed, since \mathcal{E}_T^1 is the completion of \mathcal{H}_T under the strong topology for each $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}_T^1$, we can choose a sequence $\varphi_j \in \mathcal{H}_T$ that converges to φ in strong topology. Then we only need to show (2.35) and (2.36) hold for each φ_j . **Lemma 2.5.** There exists C > 0 such that for any $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}^1_T(X, L)$,

(2.41)
$$\sup(\varphi - \varphi_0) - C \le \Lambda_g(\varphi) \le \sup(\varphi - \varphi_0).$$

Proof. The second inequality is clear. The first inequality follows easily follows from the Hartogs' lemma. Indeed, if there is no such C > 0, then there exists a sequence $\{\varphi_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ such that $u_j = \varphi_j - \varphi_0$ satisfies

(2.42)
$$\frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_g} \int_X (u_j - \sup u_j) g_{\varphi_0} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi_0)^n}{n!} \le -j.$$

However, by Hartogs' lemma, $u_j - \sup u_j$ converges in L^1 to some $u_\infty \in L^1((\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi_0)^n)$. Letting $j \to +\infty$, we get a contradiction.

Proposition 2.6. \mathbf{E}_g is monotone increasing, concave and upper semi-continuous for $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}_T^1(X, L)$. Moreover, for any decreasing sequence φ_j that converges weakly to $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}_T^1(X, L)$, $\mathbf{E}_g(\varphi_j)$ converges to $\mathbf{E}_g(\varphi)$.

Proof. The monotonicity is a direct result of the definition of \mathbf{E}_g . For $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}_T^1$, it can be approximated by a decreasing sequence of $\varphi_j = \varphi_0 + u_j \in \mathcal{H}_T$. By a similar calculation as in (2.36), with normalization $\mathbb{V}_g = 1$,

$$\mathbf{E}_{g}(\varphi_{j}) = -\int_{X} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \left(\frac{1}{k!(n-k-1)!} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{t} (1-s)^{k} s^{n-k-1} g_{\varphi_{j,s}} ds dt\right) \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2\pi} \partial u_{j} \wedge \bar{\partial} u_{j} \wedge \omega^{k} \wedge (\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{j})^{n-k-1},$$

where $\varphi_{j,s} = (1-s)\varphi_0 + s\varphi_j$. Since $g_{\varphi_{j,s}}$ is uniformly bounded, the convergence result of Monge-Ampère measure along a decreasing sequence φ_j can be adapted to show that $\mathbf{E}_g(\varphi_j)$ converges to $\mathbf{E}_g(\varphi)$. As a consequence of the convergence of \mathbf{E}_g , to show \mathbf{E}_g is concave, it suffices to show \mathbf{E}_g is concave for $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}_T$. The concavity is shown by the second variation $\mathbf{E}''_g(tu)|_{t=0} = -\int_X g_{\varphi} \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2\pi} \partial u \wedge \overline{\partial} u \wedge \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^{n-1}}{(n-1)!} \leq 0$. The upper-semicontinuity is a consequence of the monotonicity and approximation property: for a sequence φ_i that converges to φ weakly in \mathcal{E}_T^1 , we can choose decreasing sequences $\varphi_i^j \searrow \varphi_i, \varphi^j \searrow \varphi$, and $\varphi_i^j \xrightarrow{i \to \infty} \varphi^j$ smoothly. Then $\lim_{i\to\infty} \mathbf{E}_g(\varphi_i^i) \leq \mathbf{E}_g(\varphi^j)$ for any j. Let $j \to \infty$, the limit is $\leq \mathbf{E}_g(\varphi)$ and the upper semicontinuity is proved.

We will use the notation $\mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi}$ to emphasize the reference metric is $\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi$. As in the case when g = 1, it can be shown that \mathbf{E}_{g} also satisfies the cocycle property:

(2.43)
$$\mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi_0}(\varphi_1) - \mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi_0}(\varphi_2) = \mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi_2}(\varphi_1),$$

where $\varphi_0, \varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in \mathcal{E}^1_T(X, L)$.

Lemma 2.7. I_g satisfies a quasi-trangle inequality:

(2.44) $c(n,g)\mathbf{I}_g(\varphi_1,\varphi_2) \leq \mathbf{I}_g(\varphi_1,\varphi_0) + \mathbf{I}_g(\varphi_0,\varphi_2),$

where $\varphi_0, \varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in \mathcal{E}^1_T(X, L)$, and the constant c(n, g) depends on the dimension n and the function g.

Proof. By the inequality (2.40),

$$\mathbf{I}_g(\varphi_1,\varphi_2) \leq C\mathbf{I}(\varphi_1,\varphi_2).$$

where C depneds on n, g. By [6, Theorem 1.8], there exists a constant c(n) such that

$$c(n)\mathbf{I}(\varphi_1,\varphi_2) \leq \mathbf{I}(\varphi_1,\varphi_0) + \mathbf{I}(\varphi_0,\varphi_2)$$

Use inequality (2.40) again, then we have

$$\mathbf{I}_g(\varphi_1,\varphi_2) \le \frac{C^2}{c(n)} (\mathbf{I}_g(\varphi_1,\varphi_0) + \mathbf{I}_g(\varphi_0,\varphi_2)).$$

Proposition 2.8 (see [6]). $\mathcal{E}^1_{T, sup}(X, L) = \{\varphi \in \mathcal{E}^1_T(X, L) : \int_X (\varphi - \varphi_0) g \frac{\omega_0^n}{n!} = 0\}$ is complete under the topology induced by \mathbf{I}_g .

Proof. Let $\varphi_j \in \mathcal{E}_{T,\sup}^1$ be a sequence such that $\mathbf{I}_g(\varphi_j)$ is a Cauchy sequence. By Hartogs' compactness lemma, there exists a $\varphi \in \operatorname{Psh}_T$, such that up to a subsequence, φ_j converges to φ in weak topology. By (2.38) and [6], $\mathbf{I}_g(\varphi_j, \varphi)$ converges to 0, which implies $\mathbf{J}_g(\varphi_j) - \mathbf{J}_g(\varphi) = \int_X (\varphi_j - \varphi) g \frac{\omega_0^n}{n!} + \mathbf{E}_g(\varphi_j) - \mathbf{E}_g(\varphi)$ converges to 0. Since weak convergence implies L^1 -convergence, $\int_X (\varphi_j - \varphi) g \frac{\omega_0^n}{n!}$ converges to 0. This implies, $\mathbf{E}_g(\varphi_j)$ converges to $\mathbf{E}_g(\varphi)$ which is $> -\infty$. Then $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}_{T,\sup}^1(X, L)$.

2.3. Generalized Ding functional v.s generalized Mabuchi functional.

Definition 2.9. The generalized Ding functional is defined as

(2.45)
$$\mathbf{D}(\varphi) := \mathbf{D}_{g,\Theta}(\varphi) = -\mathbf{E}_g(\varphi) + \mathbf{L}_{\Theta}(\varphi),$$

where
$$\mathbf{L}_{\Theta}(\varphi) = -\log(\int_X e^{-(\varphi-\varphi_0)}d\mu_0) = -\log(\int_X e^{-u+h_0}\frac{\omega_0^n}{n!}).$$

Definition 2.10. The generalized Mabuchi functional is defined as

(2.46)
$$\mathbf{M}(\varphi) := \mathbf{M}_{g,\Theta}(\varphi) = \int_X \log(\frac{g_{\varphi}(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{e^{h_0} \omega_0^n}) g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{n!} + \mathbf{J}_g(\varphi) - \mathbf{I}_g(\varphi).$$

Remark 2.11. We want to point out that, the generalized Mabuchi functional (2.46) can be considered as the "integral" of the Futaki invariant. (More details about generalized Mabuchi functional can be found in section 4.) This is a generalization of the Mabuchi functional defined in [83], but different from the one used in [13] and [46] (See Remark 9.3). By the Moment map picture built in Appendix 9, M can be considered as a Kempf-Ness functional, which is expected to be convex along a geodesic. (The convexity is proved in section 4.)

Denote the probability measures $d\nu = g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}, d\mu_{0} = e^{h_{0}} \frac{\omega_{0}^{n}}{n!}$. Then

(2.47)
$$\mathbf{M}(\varphi) := \mathbf{M}_{g,\Theta}(\varphi) := \int_X \log(\frac{d\nu}{d\mu_0}) d\nu + \mathbf{J}_g(\varphi) - \mathbf{I}_g(\varphi) \\ = \mathbf{H}_{g,\Theta}(\varphi) + \mathbf{J}_g(\varphi) - \mathbf{I}_g(\varphi).$$

Lemma 2.12. For any $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}_T^1(X, L)$, $\mathbf{M}(\varphi) \ge \mathbf{D}(\varphi)$.

Proof. Note that

$$\mathbf{I}_{g}(\varphi) - \mathbf{J}_{g}(\varphi) = -\int_{X} (\varphi - \varphi_{0}) g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} + \mathbf{E}_{g}(\varphi).$$

So

$$\mathbf{M}(\varphi) = -\int_X \log(\frac{e^{-(\varphi-\varphi_0)}d\mu_0}{d\nu})d\nu - \mathbf{E}_g(\varphi).$$

By Jensen's inequality, we have

$$\mathbf{M}(\varphi) \ge -\log\left(\int_X e^{-(\varphi-\varphi_0)} d\mu_0\right) - \mathbf{E}_g(\varphi) = \mathbf{L}_{\Theta}(\varphi) - \mathbf{E}_g(\varphi) = \mathbf{D}(\varphi).$$

2.4. Duality. Let $d\chi$ be a measure in \mathcal{M}^1_T . Using the Legendre transform, we define

(2.48)
$$\mathbf{E}_g^*(d\chi) = \sup_{v \in \mathcal{E}_T^1} \left\{ \mathbf{E}_g(v + \varphi_0) - \int_X v d\chi \right\},$$

(2.49)
$$\mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^{*}(d\chi) = \sup_{v \in \mathcal{E}_{T}^{1}} \left\{ -\log(\int_{X} e^{-v} d\mu_{0}) - \int_{X} v d\chi \right\}.$$

Definition 2.13. We define the space of energy bounded Radon measures $\mathcal{M}^1_T(X)$ as:

(2.50)
$$\mathcal{M}_T^1(X) = \{ d\chi \text{ is a Radon measure } : \int_X d\chi = 1, d\chi \text{ is } T \text{-invariant}, \mathbf{E}_g^*(d\chi) < \infty \}.$$

We have the following result:

Proposition 2.14 ([13]). Let $d\chi$ be a Radon measure on X, and $\int_X d\chi = 1$. There exists a unique (up to constant) $u \in \mathcal{E}^1_T(X, \omega)$ such that $MA_q(\varphi) = d\chi$ if and only if $d\chi \in \mathcal{M}^1_T(X)$.

The following duality lemma is essentially contained in [6]. For reader's convenience, we also state a brief proof.

Lemma 2.15. Let $d\nu = g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{n!}$. Then

(2.51)
$$\mathbf{E}_{g}^{*}(d\nu) = \mathbf{I}_{g}(\varphi) - \mathbf{J}_{g}(\varphi)$$

(2.52)
$$\mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^{*}(d\nu) = \mathbf{H}_{q,\Theta}(\varphi).$$

Proof. By letting $v = u = \varphi - \varphi_0$ in the definition (2.48), we have $\mathbf{E}_a^*(d\nu) \geq \mathbf{I}_g(\varphi) - \mathbf{J}_g(\varphi)$. Since the first variation of $\mathbf{E}_g(v+\varphi_0) - \int_X v d\nu = 0$ at v = u, and $\mathbf{E}_g(v+\varphi_0)$ is concave while $\int_X v d\nu$ is linear, we have $\mathbf{E}_g^*(d\nu) \leq \mathbf{I}_g(\varphi) - \mathbf{J}_g(\varphi)$.

By letting $v = -\log(\frac{d\nu}{du_0})$, we have $\mathbf{H}_{g,\Theta}(u) \leq \mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^*(d\nu)$. By Jensen's inequality,

$$-\log(\int_X e^{-\nu - \log(\frac{d\nu}{d\mu_0})} d\nu) - \int_X \nu d\nu \le \int_X \log(\frac{d\nu}{d\mu_0}) d\nu,$$

we have the inequality of the other direction.

This lemma implies

(2.53)
$$\mathbf{M} = -\mathbf{E}_q^*(d\nu) + \mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^*(d\nu).$$

By a similar proof as in [6], we have the following two lemmas.

Lemma 2.16. For any C > 0, $\{\varphi \in \mathcal{E}_T^1 : \mathbf{H}_{g,\Theta}(\varphi) < C\}$ is precompact. And $\mathbf{H}_{g,\Theta}$ is l.s.c in \mathcal{E}_T^1 under strong topology.

Lemma 2.17. $\inf_{\varphi \in \mathcal{E}_T^1} \mathbf{D}(\varphi) = \inf_{\varphi \in \mathcal{E}_T^1} \mathbf{M}(\varphi).$

3. EXISTENCE AND PROPERNESS

In this section, we will study the existence of the generalized Monge-Ampère equation

(3.1)
$$\operatorname{MA}_{g}(\varphi) = e^{-(\varphi - \varphi_{0})} d\mu_{0},$$

where $\operatorname{MA}_{g}(\phi) = g_{\varphi} \frac{(\operatorname{dd}^{c} \varphi)^{n}}{n!}, d\mu_{0} = e^{h_{0}} \frac{\omega_{0}^{n}}{n!}$ are probability measures on X. Recall the notations $\operatorname{Aut}_{T}(X, D, \Theta), \mathbb{G}$ defined in section 1. Denote $\mathbb{T} = C(\mathbb{G}) \simeq (\mathbb{C}^{*})^{\mathfrak{r}} = C(\mathbb{G})^{\mathfrak{r}}$

 $((S^1)^{\mathfrak{r}})^{\mathbb{C}}$ the center of \mathbb{G} , where $(S^1)^{\mathfrak{r}} \subset K$; and \mathfrak{t} as the Lie algebra of \mathbb{T} . And let $N_{\mathbb{R}}$ be a

 \mathfrak{r} -dimensional real vector space. For any $\xi \in N_{\mathbb{R}}, \ \xi - \sqrt{-1}J\xi \in \mathfrak{t}$, where J is the complex structure.

Lemma 3.1. Any minimizer of the generalized Ding functional \mathbf{D} is a solution to (3.1). Conversely, any solution to (3.1) is a minimizer of \mathbf{D} .

Proof. The proof is essentially the same as [13, Proposition 2.16]. The key of the proof is to use the projection operator: $P(f) = \sup^{*} \{\varphi \in Psh(X, L) : \varphi \leq f\}$. Assume φ is a minimizer of **D**. For any continuous function v, let $d(t) = -\mathbf{E}_{g}(P(\varphi + tv)) + \mathbf{L}_{\Theta}(\varphi + tv)$. Since $d(t) \leq \mathbf{D}(P(\varphi + tv)), d(0)$ is a minimizer. By [12], d(t) is differentiable at t = 0, $d'(0) = \int_{X} v(-MA_{g}(\varphi) + e^{-\varphi}d\mu) = 0$. Since v can be any continuous function, this implies $-MA_{g}(\varphi) + e^{-\varphi}d\mu = 0$. Then the minimizer φ is a solution to (3.1). The inverse direction is a straightforward result of the convexity of **D**.

The first part of the following lemma is similar to [6, Theorem 5.2], [21, Theorem 6] or [25, Proposition 7]. The second part is similar to [45, Theorem 3.3] and [60, Theorem 2.15].

Lemma 3.2. Assume that there exist T-invariant solutions to (3.1).

- i.) If φ_1, φ_2 are two T-invariant solutions to (3.1), there exists a 1-parameter subgroup $\lambda : (\mathbb{C}, +) \to \operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$ such that $\lambda(1)^* \varphi_2 = \varphi_1$. As a consequence, $\operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$ is a reductive complex Lie group, i.e, it is the complexification of a compact Lie group K_{Aut} and K_{Aut} is a subgroup of $\operatorname{Iso}(X, \operatorname{dd}^c \varphi)$.
- ii.) If $\mathbb{G} = K_{\mathbb{C}}$ is a reductive subgroup that contains a maximal torus of $\operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$, and $\varphi_0, \varphi_1 \in \mathcal{E}^1_{T \times K}(X, L)$ are both solutions to (3.1), then there exists an σ in the center of \mathbb{G} , such that $\operatorname{dd^c} \varphi_1 = \sigma^* \operatorname{dd^c} \varphi_0$.

Proof. In the following proof, we will denote $G = \operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$, and by C(G) its center. Let φ_0, φ_1 be two *T*-invariant solutions to (3.1). Let φ_t be geodesic segments connecting φ_0 and φ_1 .

By [14], \mathbf{L}_{Θ} (or **D** since \mathbf{E}_g is affine) is convex along a geodesic. Claim: if \mathbf{L}_{Θ} is affine, then the geodesic is induced by a holomorphic vector field ξ , where the imaginary part of ξ is a Killing vector field. We will show that our setting fits into the framework of [6, Appendix C]. By assumption, $D + \Theta$ is a klt current, and $\Theta = \mathrm{dd}^c \psi \geq 0$. Then (X, D) is a klt pair. We have the ramification formula

(3.2)
$$K_{\tilde{X}} + D' = \rho^* (K_X + D) - E^- + E^+,$$

where D' is the strict transform of D, E^- , E^+ are effective exceptional divisors. Denote $\Delta = D' + E^-$. Then coeffecients of prime divisors in Δ is in [0,1). Recall that, $d\mu_0 = \frac{s \wedge \bar{s}}{|s|_{e^{\varphi_0 + \psi}}^2}$, where s is a local holomorphic section of $K_X + D$. Without the loss of generality, here we let the multiplicity r = 1. Then $\rho^* d\mu_0 = \frac{\sigma \wedge \bar{\sigma}}{e^{\varphi_0 + \psi + \varphi_\Delta}}$, where σ is a local holomorphic section of $-Q = \rho^*(K_X + D) - \Delta$, $\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi_\Delta = [\Delta]$. Then

(3.3)

$$\mathbf{L}_{\Theta}(\varphi) = -\log(\int_{X} e^{-(\varphi-\varphi_{0})} d\mu_{0})$$

$$= -\log(\int_{X} e^{-(\varphi+\psi)} s \wedge \bar{s})$$

$$= -\log(\int_{\tilde{X}} e^{-(\varphi+\psi+\varphi_{\Delta})} \sigma \wedge \bar{\sigma}).$$

We have $h^0(\tilde{X}, K_{\tilde{X}} + Q) = h^0(\tilde{X}, E^+) = 1$. Since $-\rho^*(K_X + D)$ is semi-ample, by Kawamata-Viehweg vanishing theorem, $h^1(\tilde{X}, K_{\tilde{X}} + Q) = h^1(\tilde{X}, K_{\tilde{X}} - \rho^*(K_X + D) + \Delta) = 0$. Then

we can apply [6, Appendix C] to conclude the claim. Denote this holomorphic morphism induced by ξ as σ_{ξ} . Since $\iota_{\xi}([D] + \Theta) = 0$, σ_{ξ} fixes the divisor D and positive current Θ and $\sigma_{\xi} \in \operatorname{Aut}_0(X, D, \Theta)$. As the geodesic is induced by a holomorphic vector field, $\varphi(t)$ is smooth in $X^{\rm sm}$. Since $\xi^i = \varphi^{i\bar{j}} \dot{\varphi}_{\bar{j}}$ in $X^{\rm sm}$, and φ is T-invariant, $\mathfrak{L}_{\xi'}\xi = 0$ for any holomorphic vector field ξ' in the Lie algebra of T. Then σ_{ξ} commutes with T and $\sigma_{\xi} \in G$. The rest of argument is the same as [6, Proof of Theorem 5.1].

For ii), assume there are two $T \times K$ invariant solutions φ_0, φ_1 to (3.1). Then again the geodesic segment that connects φ_0, φ_1 is induced by a holomorphic vector field ξ , which generates a holomorphic action $\sigma_{\xi} \in G$ such that $\sigma_{\xi}^* dd^c \varphi_0 = dd^c \varphi_1$. Furthermore, $dd^c \varphi_0, dd^c \varphi_1$ are both $T \times K$ -invariant. In addition, K is a maximal subgroup of \mathbb{G} , then $\sigma_{\xi}^{-1} K \sigma_{\xi} = K$. Arguing as in [59, Proof of Theorem 2.15], there exist $t \in C(\mathbb{G}), k \in K$, such that $\sigma_{\xi} = tk$. We can define $\sigma = t$. This concludes (ii).

Definition 3.3. Let $\mathbb{G} = K_{\mathbb{C}} \subset \operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$ be a reductive Lie group and \mathbb{T} be its center. We say a functional F on $\mathcal{E}^1_{T \times K}$ is \mathbb{G} -coercive (over $\mathcal{E}^1_{T \times K}$) if there exist positive constants $\delta > 0, C > 0$, such that for any $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}^1_{T \times K}$,

(3.4)
$$F(\varphi) \ge \delta \inf_{\sigma \in \mathbb{T}} \{ \mathbf{J}_g(\sigma^* \varphi) \} - C.$$

We will consider F either as the generalized Ding functional or generalized Mabuchi functional. Since \mathbf{J}_q is comparable with \mathbf{J} , this definition of \mathbb{G} -coercivity is compatible with the one defined in [22] in case of Kähler-Ricci soliton.

Lemma 3.4. We have the following properties for the functional J_{a} .

- i) \mathbf{J}_g is convex and proper over $N_{\mathbb{R}}$. ii) For any $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}^1_{T \times K}$, $\inf_{\sigma \in \mathbb{T}} \{ \mathbf{J}_g(\sigma^* \varphi) \}$ can be obtained at some $\sigma \in \mathbb{T}$.

Proof. The proof of the convexity follows from the lines of [45, Proposition 1.6]. We will work on the resolution $\pi: \tilde{X} \to X$. We will abbreviate $\pi^* \varphi$ as φ . For $\xi \in N_{\mathbb{R}}$, let $\sigma_{t\xi} \in \mathbb{T}$ be the group action indued by $t\xi$. The action $\sigma_{t\xi}$ induces a family $\tilde{X} \times \Delta$ and a metric Φ on the total space, where $\Phi|_{(x,t)} = \sigma_{t\xi}^* \varphi$. By Lemma 4.6, we have $\mathrm{dd}^c \mathbf{E}_g = \int_{\tilde{X}} g_{\sigma_{t\xi}^*} \varphi \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \Phi)^{n+1}}{n!}$. However, by the construction of Φ , $(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\Phi)^{n+1} = \sigma_{t\ell}^{*}(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n+1} = 0$. This implies \mathbf{E}_{g} is affine along $N_{\mathbb{R}}$. Then $\mathrm{dd^c}\mathbf{J}_g = \int_{\tilde{X}} \mathrm{dd^c}(\Phi) \wedge g \frac{\omega_n^n}{n!} \geq 0$. By Lemma 5.14, we have the slope at the infinity (along the trajectory of $\sigma_{t\xi}$) $\mathbf{J}_{q}^{\mathrm{NA}} \neq 0$ if $\xi \neq 0$. This and the convexity implies the properness of \mathbf{J}_{g} . And (ii) is a direct concequence of (i).

The following generates the the analytic criterions in different situations as considered in [77, 22, 71, 28, 27, 32, 45, 62, 59].

Theorem 3.5. Let $\mathbb{G} \subset \operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$ (see Definition (1.4)) be a connected reductive subgroup. Consider the following statements:

- *i)* the generalized Mabuchi functional **M** is **G**-coercive.
- ii) the generalized Ding functional \mathbf{D} is \mathbb{G} -coercive.
- iii) there exists a solution $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}^1_{T \times K}(X, \omega)$ to equation (3.1).

Then i \Leftrightarrow ii \Rightarrow iii).

Moreover, if $\mathbb{G} \subseteq \operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$ and contains a maximal torus of $\operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$, then iii) \Rightarrow i).

Proof. i) \Rightarrow ii): Without the loss of generality, we may normalize $\int_X (\varphi - \varphi_0) e^{f_{\varphi_0}} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi_0)^n}{n!} = 0.$ Then $\mathbf{J}_g(\varphi) = -\mathbf{E}_g(\varphi)$. The constants C in the following estimates may change from line by line. By the G-coercivity of **M**, we have $\mathbf{L}^*_{\Theta}(d\chi) \ge (1+\delta)\mathbf{E}^*_g(d\chi) - C$, for some $\delta > 0$. Let $\epsilon = \frac{1}{1+\delta}$. Then we have $\mathbf{E}^*_g(d\chi) \le \epsilon \mathbf{L}^*_{\Theta}(d\chi) + C$, for $d\chi \in \mathcal{M}^1_T(X)$. Then

$$\mathbf{E}_{g}((1-\epsilon)\varphi_{0}+\epsilon\varphi) = \inf_{d\chi\in\mathcal{M}_{T}^{1}} \left\{ \int_{X} \epsilon(\varphi-\varphi_{0})d\chi + \mathbf{E}_{g}^{*}(d\chi) \right\} \\
\leq \epsilon \inf_{d\chi\in\mathcal{M}_{T}^{1}} \left\{ \int_{X} (\varphi-\varphi_{0})d\chi + \mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^{*}(d\chi) \right\} + C \\
\leq \epsilon \cdot \mathbf{L}_{\Theta}(\varphi) + C.$$

Then by (2.39),

(3.5)
$$\mathbf{L}_{\Theta}(\varphi) \ge \epsilon^{-1} \mathbf{E}_g((1-\epsilon)\varphi_0 + \epsilon\varphi) - C \ge \epsilon^{\frac{1}{C}} \mathbf{E}_g(\varphi) - C,$$

which implies

(3.6)
$$\mathbf{D}(\varphi) = \mathbf{L}_{\Theta}(\varphi) - \mathbf{E}_g(\varphi) \ge (1 - \epsilon^{\frac{1}{C}}) \mathbf{J}_g(\varphi) - C.$$

ii) \Rightarrow i): This follows from Lemma 2.12.

ii) \Rightarrow iii): If **D** is \mathbb{G} -coercive, then it is bounded from below. Then any minimizing sequence which converges to a minimizer of **D** by the lower semicontinuity of **D** with respect to the weak topology. Then the implication follows by Lemma 3.1.

Now assume \mathbb{G} contains a maximal torus of $\operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$.

iii) \Rightarrow i): Assume **M** is not \mathbb{G} -coercive. Let φ be a solution to (3.1). By Lemma 2.17, $\mathbf{M}(\varphi) = \mathbf{D}(\varphi)$. By the assumption and Lemma 3.4(ii), there exists a sequence of $\varphi_j \in \mathcal{E}_{T \times K}^1$, where $\mathbf{J}_g(\varphi_j) = \inf_{\sigma \in \mathbb{T}} \mathbf{J}_g(\sigma^*\varphi_j)$, such that $\mathbf{M}(\varphi_j) \leq \delta_j \mathbf{J}_g(\varphi_j) - C_j$, where $\delta_j \to 0$, and $C_j \to \infty$. Since the entropy $\mathbf{H}_{g,\Theta}(\varphi_j)$ is positive, we have $\mathbf{J}_g(\varphi_j) \to \infty$ or else $\mathbf{H}_{g,\Theta}(\varphi_j) \leq \delta_j \mathbf{J}_g(\varphi_j) + (\mathbf{I}_g - \mathbf{J}_g)(\varphi_j) - C_j \to -\infty$. Let $\Phi_j(t)$ be the geodesic ray, that emanates from φ and passes through φ_j . Denote the distance between φ and φ_j by T_j . Then $\Phi_j(T_j) = \phi_j$. Since $\mathbf{D} \leq \mathbf{M}$, by the convexity of \mathbf{D} , for $t \in [0, T_j]$, we have $\mathbf{D}(\Phi_j(t)) \leq \mathbf{D}(\varphi) + \frac{t}{T_j}(\mathbf{D}(\varphi_j) - \mathbf{D}(\varphi)) \leq (1 - \frac{t}{T_j})\mathbf{D}(\varphi) + (\delta_j - \frac{C_j}{T_j})t$. As $j \to \infty$, up to choosing a subsequence, Φ_j converges weakly to a geodesic ray Φ . From our construction, we can see that Φ is not an orbit of \mathbb{T} (see Lemma 6.2). By the lower semicontinuity of \mathbf{D} , $\mathbf{D}(\Phi(t)) \leq \lim_{j\to\infty} \mathbf{D}(\Phi_j(t)) \leq \mathbf{D}(\varphi)$. Then for any t, $\Phi(t)$ is a minimizer of \mathbb{T} . By Lemma 3.1, $\Phi(t)$ is a solution of (3.1). By Lemma 3.2.(ii), Φ is in an orbit of \mathbb{T} , which is a contradiction.

The proof of the corollary below essentially follows from [6].

Corollary 3.6. Let

$$(3.7) \qquad \qquad \pi: X \to X$$

be a resolution of X. If $dd^c \varphi$ is a weak solution to Kähler-Ricci soliton, then $\pi^* \varphi \in L^{\infty}(\tilde{X})$.

Proof. Let $\mathbb{G} = \operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$. By iii) \Rightarrow i) in Theorem 3.5, there exists a $\sigma \in \mathbb{T}$, such that

$$\mathbf{M}(\varphi) \ge \frac{\delta}{2} \mathbf{J}(\sigma^* \varphi) - C.$$

Since **M** is G-invariant, and the regularity of $\varphi, \sigma^* \varphi$ are the same, we will rename $\sigma^* \varphi$ as ϕ , and have

$$\mathbf{M}(\varphi) \ge \frac{\delta}{2} \mathbf{J}(\varphi) - C.$$

Denote $d\nu = g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c} \varphi)^{n}}{n!}$. By duality, this implies

$$\mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^*(d\nu) - \mathbf{E}_g^*(d\nu) \ge \epsilon \mathbf{E}_g^*(d\nu) - C.$$

Let $p = 1 + \epsilon > 1$.

We have the Legendre transforms

(3.8)
$$\mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^{*}(d\nu) = \sup_{v \in \mathcal{E}_{T}^{1}} \left\{ \int v d\nu - \log(\int_{X} e^{v} d\mu) \right\},$$

(3.9)
$$\mathbf{E}_g(u) = \inf_{d\nu \in \mathcal{M}_T^1} \left\{ \int_X u d\nu + \mathbf{E}_g^*(d\nu) \right\}.$$

Together with the properness inequality, we have

(3.10)
$$\log(\int_X e^{-pu} d\mu) = \sup_{d\nu \in \mathcal{M}_T^1} \left\{ \int_X -pu d\nu - \mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^*(d\nu) \right\}$$

(3.11)
$$\leq \sup_{d\nu \in \mathcal{M}_T^1} \left\{ -p \int_X u d\nu - p \mathbf{E}_g^*(d\nu) \right\} - Cp$$

(3.12)
$$\leq -p \inf_{d\nu \in \mathcal{M}_T^1} \left\{ \int_X u d\nu + \mathbf{E}_g^*(d\nu) \right\} - Cp \leq -p \mathbf{E}_g(u) - Cp,$$

(3.13)
$$\int_X e^{-pu} d\mu \le C \cdot e^{-p\mathbf{E}_g(u)}$$

This implies $e^{-u} \in L^p(d\mu)$. As $|f_{\varphi}| < C$, $MA_g(\varphi)$ is comparable with $MA(\varphi)$. Then the machinary of [36] can be applied to obtain the L^{∞} -estimate.

Proposition 3.7. Assume that g > 0 is smooth on P and let φ be the solution to (3.1). Let $S = E \cup D' \cup \{x \in \tilde{X} : \pi^* \psi \text{ is singular at } x\}$. Then $\pi^* \varphi$ is smooth on $X \setminus S$.

Proof. We will state the proof briefly which basically follows from [6]. For simplicity, we will denote φ as the solution to (3.1) on \tilde{X} . Let $\tilde{\omega} = \mathrm{dd}^c \tilde{\varphi}$ be a $K \times T$ -invariant Kähler metric on \tilde{X} . The right-hand side of (3.1) can be rewritten into the form $e^{-\varphi-\varphi_0}d\mu_0 = e^{\psi^+-\psi^-}\Omega$, where ψ^+, ψ^- are quasi-psh functions, i.e., $\mathrm{dd}^c\psi^+, \mathrm{dd}^c\psi^- \geq -C\tilde{\omega}$ for some constant C > 0, Ω is a smooth non-degenerate volume form. By the L^{∞} -bound of φ and the klt condition, $e^{-\psi^-} \in L^p(\omega_0^n)$ for some p > 1. Furthermore, for any open subset $U \subset \tilde{X} \setminus S$, there exists a quasi-psh function $\bar{\psi}$ such that $U \subset \tilde{X} \setminus \{\bar{\psi} = -\infty\}$. Without the loss of generality, we can set $U = \tilde{X} \setminus \{\bar{\psi} = -\infty\}$.

Let $\omega_{\epsilon} = \omega + \epsilon \tilde{\omega}$. By Demailly's approximation result, there exist smooth approximations ψ_{ϵ}^{\pm} of ψ^{\pm} which decreases to ψ^{\pm} , such that $\mathrm{dd}^{c}\psi_{\epsilon}^{\pm} \geq -C\tilde{\omega}$, and converges to $\mathrm{dd}^{c}\psi^{\pm}$ weakly in current sense. And $\|e^{-\psi_{\epsilon}^{-}}\|_{L^{p}(\omega_{0}^{n})}$ is uniformly bounded. It's not hard to see that ψ^{\pm} can be chosen to be *T*-invariant. Then $(C+1)\tilde{\varphi} + \psi_{\epsilon}^{\pm}$ is a *T*-invariant Kähler metric on \tilde{X} , and $\xi_{\alpha}((C+1)\tilde{\varphi} + \psi_{\epsilon}^{\pm})$ is a coordinate function of the moment polytope corresponding to the Kähler class $[\mathrm{dd}^{c}((C+1)\tilde{\varphi} + \psi_{\epsilon}^{\pm})]$. This implies $\xi_{\alpha}(\psi_{\epsilon}^{\pm})$ is uniformly bounded. For the same reason, since $\bar{\psi}$ can be approximated by $\bar{\psi}_{\epsilon}$, $\mathrm{dd}^{c}\bar{\psi}_{\epsilon} \geq -C\tilde{\omega}$, and $\bar{\psi}_{\epsilon}$ converges to $\bar{\psi}$ smoothly on U, we have $\xi_{\alpha}(\bar{\psi})$ is uniformly bounded on U.

We will consider the following continuity method

(3.14)
$$e^{tf_{\varphi_{\epsilon,t}}} (\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi_{\epsilon,t})^n = d_{\epsilon,t} e^{\psi_{\epsilon}^+ - \psi_{\epsilon}^-} \Omega$$

where $dd^c \varphi_{\epsilon,t} = \omega_{\epsilon} + dd^c u_{\epsilon,t}$, $0 \leq t \leq 1$, $0 \leq \epsilon \ll 1$, and $d_{\epsilon,t}$ is a constant to balance the cohomologous equality. At t = 0, by [6, Lemma 3.6], there exists a solution $u_{\epsilon,0}$ which is smooth on $\tilde{X} \setminus S$. The openness over t and ϵ is clear. The uniform C^0 -estimate follows from the similar proof of corollary 3.6. Next we need to show the uniform C^2 -estimate.

Let $\theta_{\alpha,\omega_{\epsilon}}$ (abbreviated as θ_{α} below) be the Hamiltonian function that corresponds to the holomorphic vector field ξ_{α} with respect to ω_{ϵ} . We have $\theta_{\alpha,\varphi_{\epsilon,t}} = \theta_{\alpha} + \xi_{\alpha}(u_{\epsilon,t}), \ \partial_{\bar{j}}f_{\varphi_{\epsilon,t}} = f_{\alpha}\partial_{\bar{j}}\theta_{\alpha,\varphi_{\epsilon,t}} = f_{\alpha}(\partial_{\bar{j}}\theta_{\alpha} + \xi_{\alpha}(\partial_{\bar{j}}u_{\epsilon,t}))$. Then

(3.15)
$$\Delta f_{\varphi_{\epsilon,t}} \ge f_{\alpha} \xi_{\alpha} (n + \Delta u_{\epsilon,t}) - C(n + \Delta u_{\epsilon,t}) - C,$$

where Δ is with respect to ω_{ϵ} . By Chern-Lu's inequality,

(3.16)
$$\Delta_{\varphi_{\epsilon,t}} \log(n + \Delta u_{\epsilon,t}) \geq \frac{\Delta f - \Delta \psi_{\epsilon}^{-}}{n + \Delta u_{\epsilon,t}} - C - \sum_{i} \frac{C}{1 + \partial_{i\bar{i}} u_{\epsilon,t}}$$
$$\geq \frac{f_{\alpha} \xi_{\alpha} (n + \Delta u_{\epsilon,t})}{n + \Delta u_{\epsilon,t}} - \frac{\Delta \psi_{\epsilon}^{-}}{n + \Delta u_{\epsilon,t}} - C - \sum_{i} \frac{C}{1 + \partial_{i\bar{i}} u_{\epsilon,t}},$$

where the constant C > 0 above may change from line by line, but is uniformly bounded. We will apply the maximum principle to $\log(n + \Delta u_{\epsilon,t}) - A(u_{\epsilon,t} + \bar{\psi}) + \psi_{\epsilon}^-$ for some A sufficiently large. Since $-\bar{\psi}$ approaches to $+\infty$ near the boundary of U, $\log(n + \Delta u_{\epsilon,t}) - A(u_{\epsilon,t} + \bar{\psi}) - \psi_{\epsilon}^$ will achieve its maximal value at a point $x_0 \in U$.

At x_0 , $\xi_{\alpha}(\log(n + \Delta u_{\epsilon,t}) - A(u_{\epsilon,t} + \bar{\psi}) + \psi_{\epsilon}^-) = 0$; $\xi_{\alpha}u_{\epsilon,t} = \theta_{\alpha,\varphi_{\epsilon,t}} - \theta_{\alpha}$ is uniformly bounded, and $\xi_{\alpha}\psi_{\epsilon}^{\pm}, \xi_{\alpha}\bar{\psi}$ are uniformly bounded. Then at x_0 ,

$$\frac{f_{\alpha}\xi_{\alpha}(n+\Delta u_{\epsilon,t})}{n+\Delta u_{\epsilon,t}} = f_{\alpha}\xi_{\alpha}(\log(n+\Delta u_{\epsilon,t}) - A(u_{\epsilon,t}+\bar{\psi}) + \psi_{\epsilon}^{-}) + Af_{\alpha}\xi_{\alpha}(u_{\epsilon,t}+\bar{\psi}) - f_{\alpha}\xi_{\alpha}(\psi_{\epsilon}^{-}) = Af_{\alpha}(\theta_{\alpha}(\varphi) - \theta_{\alpha} + \bar{\psi}) - f_{\alpha}\xi_{\alpha}(\psi_{\epsilon}^{-}),$$

which is bounded. Then

(3.17)
$$\Delta_{\varphi}(\log(n + \Delta u_{\epsilon,t}) - A(u_{\epsilon,t} + \bar{\psi}) + \psi_{\epsilon}^{-}) \ge -C + \sum_{i} \frac{C}{1 + \partial_{i\bar{i}} u_{\epsilon,t}}.$$

Then

$$(3.18) \qquad \qquad [\frac{n+\Delta u_{\epsilon,t}}{\prod_{i=1}^{n}(1+\partial_{i\bar{i}}u_{\epsilon,t})}]^{\frac{1}{n-1}} \le \sum_{i} \frac{1}{1+\partial_{i\bar{i}}u_{\epsilon,t}} \le C.$$

Since $f_{\varphi_{\epsilon,t}}$ is uniformly bounded, e^{ψ^+} is uniformly bounded above, we have $n + \Delta u_{\epsilon,t} \leq (\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi_{\epsilon,t})^n \leq C e^{-\psi^-}$. This gives the uniform C^2 -estimate on U.

The uniform C^2 -estimate implies equation (3.1) is a uniform elliptic equation. Then we can apply the standard Krylov-Evans estimate (which is a local estimate) to obtain a uniform $C^{2,\alpha}$ bound. The standard maximum principle would then imply the higher order estimates.

4. Generalized Mabuchi functional and its convexity

In this section, we will discuss generalized Mabuchi functional and generalized Futaki invariant. In particular, we will show that \mathbf{M} is convex along a weak geodesic.

4.1. Generalized Mabuchi functional M. Generalized Mabuchi functional M can be reformulated into:

(4.1)
$$\mathbf{M}(\varphi) = \int_X \log\left(\frac{g_{\varphi}(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{e^{f_0} \omega_0^n}\right) g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{n!} - (\mathbf{I}_g(u) - \mathbf{J}_g(u)) - \int_X (h_0 - f_0) g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{n!},$$
where $e^{f_0} = a$

where $e^{f_0} = g_{\varphi_0}$,

$$\mathbf{I}_{g}(\varphi) - \mathbf{J}_{g}(\varphi) = -\int_{X} (\varphi - \varphi_{0}) g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \varphi)^{n}}{n!} + \mathbf{E}_{g}(\varphi).$$

Then

(4.2)
$$\mathbf{M}(\varphi) = \int_{X} \log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{e^{-u+h_{0}}\omega_{0}^{n}})g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} + \int_{X} f_{\varphi}g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} - \mathbf{E}_{g}(\varphi)$$
$$= \int_{X} \log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}/n!}{e^{-u}d\mu_{0}})g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} + \int_{X} f_{\varphi}g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} - \mathbf{E}_{g}(\varphi).$$

Following [82] which generalizes [40], we define a generalized Futaki invariant as

Definition 4.1. For $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}(X, L)$, set $e^{h_{\varphi}} = \frac{n! \cdot e^{-\varphi - \psi}}{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n}$ and $f_{\varphi} = \log g_{\varphi}$. For any $\xi \in \mathfrak{aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$ (see (1.10)), we define:

(4.3)
$$\mathbf{Fut}_g(\xi) := \mathbf{Fut}_g([\omega], \xi) := \mathbf{Fut}_g(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi, \xi) = \int_X \xi(h_\varphi - f_\varphi) e^{f_\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^n}{n!}$$

To see that the Futaki invariant is well-defined, we need to verify that the integral does not depend on the choice of Kähler metrics. Before explaining this fact in Proposition 4.2, which is in some sense well-known, we first introduce some notation.

For any $\xi \in \mathfrak{aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$ (see (1.10)), by definition we have the vanishing:

(4.4)
$$\iota_{\xi}\Theta = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2\pi}\bar{\partial}(\xi(\psi)) = 0$$

This together with $\iota_{\xi}\{D\} = 0$ implies that ξ lifts to induce an infinitesimal action $\tilde{\xi}$ on (Cartier multiples of the Q-)line bundles $L = -K_X - D - B$ and hence on B. Moreover the vanishing (4.4) implies that the function

(4.5)
$$\chi_{\psi}(\tilde{\xi}) := \frac{\mathcal{L}_{\tilde{\xi}}e^{-\psi}}{e^{-\psi}} = -\tilde{\xi}(\psi)$$

is globally a constant. It is well-known that different liftings of ξ differ by a rescaling vector field along the fibre of the line bundle. In particular, by choosing $\tilde{\xi}_* = \tilde{\xi} + \tilde{\xi}(\psi)w\frac{\partial}{\partial w}$ where w is a linear variable along the \mathbb{C} -fibre, we get

(4.6)
$$\chi_{\psi}(\tilde{\xi}_*) = 0.$$

We call the lifting $\tilde{\xi}_*$ that satisfies (4.6) the canonical lifting of ξ .

Proposition 4.2. With the canonical lifting of ξ satisfying (4.6), we have the following formula for the generalized Futaki invariant:

(4.7)
$$\mathbf{Fut}_{g}(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi,\xi) = -\int_{X} \theta_{\xi,\varphi} e^{f_{\varphi}} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}}{n!},$$

where $\theta_{\xi,\varphi}$ is the moment function associated to the canonical lifting of ξ with respect to $dd^c\varphi$. As a consequence, the Futaki invariant is well-defined and independent of the choice of $dd^c\varphi$. *Proof.* We can calculate:

=

$$\int_{X} \xi(h_{\varphi} - f_{\varphi}) e^{f_{\varphi}} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} = \int_{X} \xi\left(\log \frac{e^{-\varphi - \psi}}{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}/n!} - f_{\varphi}\right) e^{f_{\varphi}} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}$$
$$= \int_{X} \frac{\mathfrak{L}_{\tilde{\xi}_{*}} e^{-\varphi - \psi}}{e^{-\varphi - \psi}} e^{f_{\varphi}} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} = -\chi_{\psi}(\tilde{\xi}_{*}) - \int_{X} \theta_{\xi,\varphi} e^{f_{\varphi}} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}.$$

The above integration by parts on X can be verified by lifting the integral to a resolution of X. In case that ξ generates a \mathbb{C}^* -group $\langle \xi \rangle$ that commutes with $T_{\mathbb{C}}$, the last integral can be calculated using the Duistermaat-Heckmann (DH) measure associated to the action of $\langle \xi \rangle \times T_{\mathbb{C}}$ which does not depend on the choice of $\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi$. The general case can be verified using the equivariantly closed differential forms as in [41].

4.2. Alternative definition of generalized Mabuchi functional. In this subsection, we will discuss some equivalent formulas of **M**. For simplicity, we require X to be smooth. We consider φ as the metric of an ample \mathbb{R} -line bundle of the form $L = -(K_X + D + \Theta) + H$, where H is a \mathbb{R} -line bundle. An alternative definition of the generalized Mabuchi functional is by considering it as a Kempf-Ness functional: (see [65] and Appendix 9.)

(4.8)
$$\mathbf{M}(\varphi) = \int_{0}^{1} \int_{X} \dot{\varphi} \Big(-R_{\varphi} + C_{R} + \Delta f_{\varphi} + \operatorname{tr}_{\varphi} (\operatorname{dd}^{c} \psi + [D]) + V_{f,\varphi}(f_{\varphi}) \\ + \frac{C_{R}}{n} \sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\varphi) + \sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\log(\operatorname{dd}^{c} \varphi)^{n}) \Big) g_{\varphi} \frac{(\operatorname{dd}^{c} \varphi)^{n}}{n!} dt$$

where C_R is a constant such that $\int_X R_{\varphi} - \operatorname{tr}_{\varphi}(\operatorname{dd^c} \psi + [D]) \frac{(\operatorname{dd^c} \varphi)^n}{n!} = \int_X C_R \frac{(\operatorname{dd^c} \varphi)^n}{n!}$, which does not depend on the specific choice of φ . Note that we can write the integrand in terms of $\theta_{\alpha} := \theta_{\alpha}(\varphi) = \mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\varphi)$ by the following identities:

$$\Delta f_{\varphi} = f_{\alpha\beta}(\theta_{\alpha})_{i}(\theta_{\beta})^{i} + f_{\alpha}\Delta\theta_{\alpha}, \quad V_{f,\varphi}(f_{\varphi}) = f_{\alpha}f_{\beta}(\theta_{\alpha})_{i}(\theta_{\beta})^{i}$$
$$\mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\log(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}) = \frac{\mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}} = \Delta\theta_{\alpha}.$$

Lemma 4.3. When $L = -(K_X + D + \Theta)$, definition (4.8) is equivalent to (4.1) and (4.2).

Proof. When $L = -(K_X + D + \Theta)$, $C_R = n$ and

$$\sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \theta_{\alpha} + f_{\alpha} \Delta \theta_{\alpha} = \sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \left(\mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\varphi) + \mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}} \log((\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}) \right)$$
$$= \sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \xi_{\alpha} \left(\log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}/n!}{e^{-\varphi-\psi}}) \right) = -V_{f,\varphi}(h_{\varphi})$$

Here we have used the canonical lifting $\mathcal{L}_{\tilde{V}_{\alpha}}(\psi) = 0$. Then (4.8) can be reduced to

(4.9)
$$\mathbf{M}(\varphi) = \int_0^1 \int_X \dot{\varphi}(-R_\varphi + n + \Delta f_\varphi + \operatorname{tr}_\varphi(\operatorname{dd^c} \psi + [D]) - V_{f,\varphi}(h_\varphi - f_\varphi))g_\varphi \frac{(\operatorname{dd^c} \varphi)^n}{n!}dt$$
$$= -\int_0^1 \int_X \dot{\varphi}(\Delta(h_\varphi - f_\varphi) + V_{f,\varphi}(h_\varphi - f_\varphi))g_\varphi \frac{(\operatorname{dd^c} \varphi)^n}{n!}dt - C_0.$$

The constant $C_0 = \int_X (h_0 - f_0) e^{f_0} \frac{\omega_0^n}{n!}$ in the second equality. By using integration by parts, we can see the definition above is an integral of the generalized Futaki invariant (up to minus

a constant). Indeed, this alternative definition agrees with (4.1) and (4.2). Since the proof is short, we will include it below.

$$\begin{split} &-\int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}\left(\Delta(h_{\varphi}-f_{\varphi})+V_{f,\varphi}(h_{\varphi}-f_{\varphi})\right)g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}dt\\ &=\int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}g_{\varphi}\frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2\pi}\partial(h_{\varphi}-f_{\varphi})\wedge\bar{\partial}\dot{\varphi}\wedge\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n-1}}{(n-1)!}dt\\ &=\int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}(h_{\varphi}-f_{\varphi})(g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!})'dt\\ &=-\int_{X}(h_{\varphi}-f_{\varphi})g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}+\int_{X}(h_{0}-f_{0})g_{\varphi_{0}}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{0})^{n}}{n!}+\int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}(h_{\varphi}-f_{\varphi})'g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}dt\\ &=\int_{X}\left(-h_{\varphi}+f_{\varphi}\right)g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}-\int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}(-\Delta\dot{\varphi}-\dot{\varphi}-\dot{f}_{\varphi})g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}dt+C_{0}\\ &=\int_{X}\log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}/n!}{e^{-u}d\mu_{0}})g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}+\int_{X}f_{\varphi}g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}-\mathbf{E}_{g}(\varphi)+C_{0},\end{split}$$

where we used $\dot{f}_{\varphi} = V_{f,\varphi}(\dot{\varphi}), \ (\Delta \dot{\varphi} + \dot{f}_{\varphi})g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} = (g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!})'.$

The following generalized Chen-Tian's formula will be used in section 4.4 on a *smooth* ambient space to approximate Mabuchi functional on singular spaces. Such type of formula has appeared in the study of Kähler-Ricci solitons (see [52]) and the twisted K-energy formula in [10]. After we finish the first version of our paper, we notice that such type of Chen-Tian formula has also been established in a very general setting (at least for the un-twist case) in [53, Theorem 5] for the so-called (v, w)-Mabuchi energy. However because the notations in [53] differ from ours significantly and that we are also dealing with the twisted case, we will keep our proof for the reader's convenience.

Lemma 4.4. For M defined as in (4.8), we have generalized Chen-Tian's formula:

(4.10)
$$\mathbf{M}(\varphi) = \int_{X} \log(\frac{g_{\varphi}(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{\omega_{0}^{n}}) g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} dt - \mathbf{E}_{g}^{Ric_{0}^{eq}}(\varphi) + C_{R}\mathbf{E}_{g}(\varphi) + \frac{C_{R}}{n} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{X} \dot{\varphi} \sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \theta_{\alpha} g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} dt + \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{dd}^{c}\psi}(\varphi) + \mathbf{E}_{g}^{D}(\varphi)$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{E}_{g}^{Ric_{0}^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi) &= \int_{0}^{1} \int_{X} \dot{\varphi} g_{\varphi}(nRic_{0} - \sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha}(\mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\log \omega_{0}^{n}))(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)) \wedge \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n-1}}{n!} dt \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \int_{X} \dot{\varphi} \left(ngRic_{0} - \sum_{\alpha} g_{\alpha}(\mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\log \omega_{0}^{n}))(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi) \right) \wedge \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n-1}}{n!} dt \\ \mathbf{E}_{g}^{D}(\varphi) &= \int_{0}^{1} \int_{D} \dot{\varphi} g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n-1}}{(n-1)!} dt, \ \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\psi}(\varphi) = \int_{0}^{1} \int_{X} \dot{\varphi} g_{\varphi} \mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\psi \wedge \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n-1}}{(n-1)!} dt. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. The proof is by applying integration by parts calculation to (4.8).

$$\begin{split} &-\int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}R_{\varphi}g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}dt \\ &=\int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}\Delta\log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{\omega_{0}^{n}})g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}dt - \int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}g_{\varphi}Ric_{0}\wedge\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n-1}}{(n-1)!}dt \\ &=-\int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}g_{\varphi}\varphi^{i\bar{j}}\partial_{i}\log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{\omega_{0}^{n}})\partial_{\bar{j}}\dot{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}dt - \int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}g_{\varphi}\varphi^{i\bar{j}}\partial_{i}\log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{\omega_{0}^{n}})\partial_{\bar{j}}f_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}dt \\ &-\int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\varphi g_{\varphi}Ric_{0}\wedge\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n-1}}{(n-1)!}dt \\ &=\int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{\omega_{0}^{n}})(\varphi^{i\bar{j}}\partial_{i}f_{\varphi}\partial_{\bar{j}}\dot{\varphi}+\Delta\dot{\varphi})g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}dt - \int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}g_{\varphi}V_{f,\varphi}(\log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{\omega_{0}^{n}}))\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}dt \\ &-\int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\varphi g_{\varphi}Ric_{0}\wedge\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n-1}}{(n-1)!}dt \\ &=\int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{(\omega_{0}^{n})})(g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!})'dt - \int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}g_{\varphi}V_{f,\varphi}(\log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{\omega_{0}^{n}}))\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}dt \\ &-\int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}g_{\varphi}Ric_{0}\wedge\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n-1}}{(n-1)!}dt \\ &=\int_{1}^{1}\int_{X}\psi g_{\varphi}Ric_{0}\wedge\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n-1}}{(n-1)!}dt \\ &=\int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}V_{f,\varphi}(\log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} - \int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\Delta\dot{\varphi}g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}dt - \int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}g_{\varphi}Ric_{0}\wedge\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n-1}}{(n-1)!}dt \\ &=\int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}V_{f,\varphi}(\log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} - \int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\Delta\dot{\varphi}g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}dt - \int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}g_{\varphi}Ric_{0}\wedge\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n-1}}{(n-1)!}dt \\ &=\int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}V_{f,\varphi}(\log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} - \int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\Delta\dot{\varphi}g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}dt - \int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}g_{\varphi}Ric_{0}\wedge\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n-1}}{(n-1)!}dt \\ &=\int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}V_{f,\varphi}(\log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{\omega^{n}}))g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}dt - \int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}g_{\varphi}Ric_{0}\wedge\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n-1}}{(n-1)!}dt \\ &=\int_{0}^{1}(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}\partial_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{\omega^{n}}dt - \int_{0}^{1}(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}\partial_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{(n-1)!}dt \\ &=\int_{0}^{1}(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}\partial_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{\omega^{n}}dt - \int_{0}^{1}(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}\partial_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}dt$$

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{M}(\varphi) &= \int_{X} \log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{\omega_{0}^{n}})g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} - \int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}g_{\varphi}Ric_{0}\wedge\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n-1}}{(n-1)!}dt \\ &- \int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}V_{f,\varphi}(\log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{\omega_{0}^{n}}))g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} + \int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}\sum_{\alpha}f_{\alpha}\mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\log((\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}))g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}dt \\ &+ \frac{C_{R}}{n}(n\mathbf{E}_{g}(\varphi) + \int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}f_{\varphi}g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}dt) + \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{dd}^{c}\psi}(\varphi) + \mathbf{E}_{g}^{D}(\varphi) \\ &+ \int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\left(-\Delta\dot{\varphi}g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} + \dot{\varphi}\Delta f_{\varphi}g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} + \dot{\varphi}V_{f,\varphi}(f_{\varphi})g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}\right)dt \\ &= \int_{X}\log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{\omega_{0}^{n}})g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} - \int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}g_{\varphi}(nRic_{0} - \sum_{\alpha}f_{\alpha}\mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\log(\omega_{0}^{n}))\wedge\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n-1}}{n!}dt \\ &+ \frac{C_{R}}{n}(n\mathbf{E}_{g}(\varphi) + \int_{0}^{1}\int_{X}\dot{\varphi}\sum_{\alpha}f_{\alpha}\theta_{\alpha}(\varphi)g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}dt) + \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{dd}^{c}\psi}(\varphi) + \mathbf{E}_{g}^{D}(\varphi), \end{split}$$

where the integral in the fourth line vanishes by using integration by parts.

Remark 4.5. One can verify that the above functionals in Lemma 4.10 do not depend on the choice of path connecting φ_0 to φ . We briefly explain this fact for $\mathbf{E}_g^{Ric_0^{eq}}(\varphi)$ which is an equivariant analogue of the \mathbf{E}^{Ric_0} -functional in the original Chen-Tian's formula. Consider the

following one form defined on the space of Kähler metrics:

$$\Gamma(u) = \int_X u g_{\varphi}(nRic_0 - \sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\log(\omega_0^n))) \wedge \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n-1}}{n!}$$
$$= \int_X u \left(g_{\varphi} \varphi^{i\bar{j}}(Ric_0)_{i\bar{j}} - \sum_{\alpha} g_{\alpha,\varphi} \Delta_0 \theta_{\alpha}^0 \right) \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^n}{n!}.$$

By using the identity $\bar{\partial}\Delta_0\theta^0_\alpha = \iota_{\xi\alpha}Ric_0$, a straightforward calculation via several integration by parts shows that:

$$u_1(\Gamma(u_2)) = \operatorname{Re}\left(\int_X ((u_1)_{\bar{i}}(u_2)_j(Ric_0)_{i\bar{j}}g - (u_1)_{\bar{i}}(u_2)_i(Ric_0)_{k\bar{k}})g\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c\varphi)^n}{n!}\right) = u_2(\Gamma(u_1))$$

which means that Γ is a closed 1-form and so the integral does not depend on the choice of paths.

4.3. Convexity of M when X is smooth. In this subsection, we will use Berman-Berndsson's work [5] to show that M is convex along a weak geodesic in case X is smooth. This is a prelude to the general case, which will be discussed in Section 4.4. Define the metric on Kähler potential space by

(4.11)
$$\langle v_1, v_2 \rangle = \int_X v_1 v_2 g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{n!}$$

A simple calculation shows that the connection is given by

(4.12)
$$\nabla v = \dot{v} + \frac{1}{2} \langle \nabla \dot{u}, \nabla v \rangle$$

and the geodesic induced by the metric above is

(4.13)
$$\ddot{u} - \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \dot{u}|^2 = 0.$$

By the Kempf-Ness picture (see Appendix 9), \mathbf{M} should have a certain convex property. A rigorous proof of the convexity along a $C^{1,1}$ -geodesic is stated in the following.

Consider the total space $X \times A$, where $A = [0,1] \times S^1$ is an annulus, with complex local coordinate z_{n+1} , and $t = Re(z_{n+1})$. Let $dd^c \Phi = \pi_1^* dd^c \varphi$ be the metric on $X \times A$.

Lemma 4.6. For any differentiable form v on $X \times A$,

(4.14)
$$d(\int_X v(x)g_{\varphi}(\mathrm{dd}^c\Phi)^n) = \int_X g_{\varphi}dv \wedge (dd^c\Phi)^n$$

where \int_X is the operator of integration along the fibre for the trivial fibration $X \times A \to X$. Proof. Since the exterior derivative commutes with the integral along the fibers, we get

$$\bar{\partial} \int_X v g_{\varphi} (\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \Phi)^n = \int_X (\bar{\partial} v) \wedge g_{\varphi} (\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \Phi)^n + \int_X v \bar{\partial} g_{\Phi} \wedge (\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \Phi)^n.$$

By Lemma 2.1,

$$\bar{\partial}(g_{\Phi}) \wedge (\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\Phi)^{n} = \frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{-1}} \iota_{V_{g,\varphi}}(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\Phi) \wedge (\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\Phi)^{n}$$
$$= \frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{-1}} \frac{1}{n+1} \iota_{V_{g,\varphi}}(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\Phi)^{n+1}.$$

Since $V_{g,\varphi}$ is along the vertical direction of the projection $X \times A \to A$, it is easy to see that the second integral vanishes. Similar consideration applies to the differential operator ∂ .

In the following, we will use the expression (4.2) to show that **M** is convex along a weak geodesic. We will divide **M** into two parts, $(I) = \int_X \log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{e^{-u+h_0}\omega_0^n})g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{n!}, (II) = \int_X f_{\varphi}g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{n!} - \mathbf{E}_g(\varphi).$

We will follow Berman-Berndtsson's calculation for (I). By Lemma (4.6),

$$(4.15)$$

$$dd^{c} \int_{X} \log(\frac{(dd^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{e^{-u+h_{0}}\omega_{0}^{n}})g_{\varphi}(dd^{c}\Phi)^{n} = \int_{X} g_{\varphi}dd^{c}\log(\frac{(dd^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{e^{-u+h_{0}}\omega_{0}^{n}}) \wedge (dd^{c}\Phi)^{n}$$

$$= \int_{X} g_{\varphi}dd^{c}\log((dd^{c}\varphi)^{n}) \wedge (dd^{c}\Phi)^{n} - \int_{X} g_{\varphi}dd^{c}\log(e^{-u+h_{0}}\omega_{0}^{n}) \wedge (dd^{c}\Phi)^{n}$$

$$= \int_{X} g_{\varphi}dd^{c}\log((dd^{c}\varphi)^{n}) \wedge (dd^{c}\Phi)^{n} + \int_{X} g_{\varphi}(dd^{c}\Phi)^{n+1} + \int_{X} g_{\varphi}dd^{c}\psi \wedge (dd^{c}\Phi)^{n} + \int_{D} g_{\varphi}(dd^{c}\Phi)^{n}$$

$$\geq \int_{X} g_{\varphi}dd^{c}\log((dd^{c}\varphi)^{n}) \wedge (dd^{c}\Phi)^{n}.$$

In the third equality, the last three terms are induced by $-\mathrm{dd}^{c}\log(e^{-u}d\mu_{0}) = \mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi + [D] + \Theta$. Each of the three terms is nonnegative along a geodesic. The term in the last line is positive by using Bergman kernel approximation approach by Berman-Berndtsson. Then (I) is convex. For (II), by a direct calculation, we can see that $\int_{X} f_{\varphi}g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}$ is constant. This can also be seen by considering it as an integral on polytope P associated with a Duistermaat-Heckman measure. Then $\mathrm{dd}^{c}(\mathrm{II}) = \mathrm{dd}^{c}\mathbf{E}_{g}(u) = \int_{X} g_{\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\Phi)^{n+1}}{(n+1)!} = 0$. Then we conclude with

(4.16)
$$\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\mathbf{M}(\varphi) \ge \int_{X} g_{\varphi} \mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \log((\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}) \wedge \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\Phi)^{n}}{n!}$$

and **M** is convex along a weak geodesic.

Remark 4.7. In a recent paper [54], over a smooth manifold X, the Mabuchi functional is shown to be convex along weak geodesics under a very general setting. This generalized Mabuchi functional is called (v, w)-Mabuchi energy. Interesting readers are referred to [54] for more details.

4.4. Convexity of generalized Mabuchi functional in singular case. In this subsection, we will prove that the generalized Mabuchi functional **M** is convex along a geodesic when X is a variety. The idea of the proof is similar to [58, 4.1.2]. Let $P = \pi^*L - E_b$ be an ample \mathbb{Q} -line bundle on the resolution \tilde{X} . (We will abbreivate π^*L as L when there is no ambiguity.) Our strategy is to approximate φ by $\varphi_{\epsilon} \in c_1(L + \epsilon P)$, then prove that the generalized Mabuchi functional $\mathbf{M}_{\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi_{\epsilon})$ is convex along a geodesic. (where the subscript is to emphasis $\varphi_{0,\epsilon}$ is the chosen reference metric.) At last we will show that $\mathbf{M}_{\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi_{\epsilon})$ converges to $\mathbf{M}(\varphi)$ at the end points which would imply the convexity of the latter.

By generalized Stone-Weierstrass theorem, g can be approximated by polynomials in C^2 -norm. Let

(4.17)

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}}_T(X,\mathcal{L}) = \{ \varphi = \varphi_0 + u \in \operatorname{Psh}_T(X,\mathcal{L}) : u \in L^{\infty}(\tilde{X}) \cap C^{\infty}(\tilde{X} \setminus E), (\operatorname{dd}^c \pi^* \varphi)^n \text{ is smooth over } \tilde{X},$$
and there exist $\alpha, C > 0$ such that $|\operatorname{dd}^c u| \leq C|s_E|^{-\alpha} \}$

We consider a pair of metrics $\varphi(0), \varphi(1) \in \hat{\mathcal{H}}_T(X, \mathcal{L})$, which is connected by a weak geodesic $\varphi(t)$. We assume $\sup_X \varphi(i) = 0$. Let $\omega_P = \mathrm{dd}^c \varphi_P$ be a $K \times T$ -invariant Kähler metric on \tilde{X} , $\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi_{0,\epsilon} = \omega_\epsilon = \omega + \epsilon \omega_P$, where $0 \leq \epsilon \leq 1$; $\varphi_\epsilon(i) \in \mathcal{H}(\tilde{X}, L_\epsilon)$, which will be determined later; $\varphi_\epsilon = \varphi_{0,\epsilon} + u_\epsilon$; $\varphi_\epsilon(t)$ be the geodesic that connects $\varphi_\epsilon(0), \varphi_\epsilon(1)$. Since the $T_{\mathbb{C}}$ -action can be lifted up to the resolution \tilde{X} , we can lift the action of $T_{\mathbb{C}}$ to E, as well as to $L + \epsilon P$. Then the moment map $\mathbf{m}_{\varphi_\epsilon}$ is well-defined. By the generalized Chen-Tian's formula (4.10) for the polarized pair $(\tilde{X}, D' = \pi_*^{-1}D, L + \epsilon P)$, we have

(4.18)

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathbf{M}_{\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) &= \int_{\tilde{X}} \log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{\epsilon})^{n}}{\omega_{\epsilon}^{n}}) e^{f_{\varphi_{\epsilon}}} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{\epsilon})^{n}}{n!} \\
&+ \left(\frac{C_{R,\epsilon}}{n} \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) - \mathbf{E}_{g}^{Ric_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) + \mathbf{E}_{g}^{D'}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) + \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{dd}^{c}\psi}(\varphi_{\epsilon})\right) + C_{1,\epsilon} \\
&= \mathbf{H}_{g,\omega_{\epsilon}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) + \mathbf{F}_{g,\epsilon}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) + C_{1,\epsilon},
\end{aligned}$$

where the constant $C_{R,\epsilon}$ satisfies $\int_{\tilde{X}} (R_{\varphi,\epsilon} - \operatorname{tr}_{\varphi_{\epsilon}} (\operatorname{dd}^{c} \psi + [D'])) \frac{(\operatorname{dd}^{c} \varphi_{\epsilon})^{n}}{n!} = \int_{\tilde{X}} C_{R,\epsilon} \frac{(\operatorname{dd}^{c} \varphi_{\epsilon})^{n}}{n!}$, $C_{1,\epsilon} = \int_{\tilde{X}} f_{\varphi_{0,\epsilon}} g_{\varphi_{0,\epsilon}} \frac{\omega_{\epsilon}^{n}}{n!}$ (without the loss of generality, we can drop the constant $C_{1,\epsilon}$ in the following analysis), and

(4.19)
$$\mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{dd^{c}}\varphi_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) = \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tilde{X}} \dot{\varphi}_{s,\epsilon} g_{\varphi_{s,\epsilon}} \Big(\frac{(\mathrm{dd^{c}}\varphi_{s,\epsilon})^{n}}{(n-1)!} + \sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\varphi_{s,\epsilon}) \frac{(\mathrm{dd^{c}}\varphi_{s,\epsilon})^{n}}{n!} \Big) ds$$
$$= \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tilde{X}} u_{\epsilon} g_{\varphi_{s,\epsilon}} \Big(\frac{(\mathrm{dd^{c}}\varphi_{s,\epsilon})^{n}}{(n-1)!} + \sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\varphi_{s,\epsilon}) \frac{(\mathrm{dd^{c}}\varphi_{s,\epsilon})^{n}}{n!} \Big) ds,$$

where $\varphi_{s,\epsilon} = \varphi_{0,\epsilon} + su_{\epsilon}$, $V_{s,\epsilon} = \sum_{1 \le \alpha \le r} f_{\alpha}(\mathbf{m}_{\varphi_{s,\epsilon}})V_{\alpha}$, and V_{α} still denotes the lifting of ξ_{α} over \tilde{X} .

$$\mathbf{E}_{g}^{Ric_{\epsilon}^{eq}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) = \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tilde{X}} \dot{\varphi}_{s,\epsilon} g_{\varphi_{s,\epsilon}} \Big(Ric_{\epsilon} \wedge \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{s,\epsilon})^{n-1}}{(n-1)!} - \sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\log(\omega_{\epsilon}^{n})) \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{s,\epsilon})^{n}}{n!} \Big) ds$$

$$(4.20)$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tilde{X}} u_{\epsilon} \Big(gRic_{\epsilon} \wedge \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{s,\epsilon})^{n-1}}{(n-1)!} - \sum_{\alpha} g_{\alpha} \mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\log(\omega_{\epsilon}^{n})) \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{s,\epsilon})^{n}}{n!} \Big) ds,$$

where $Ric_{\epsilon} = -\mathrm{dd^c}\log(\omega_{\epsilon}^n)$.

(4.21)
$$\mathbf{E}_{g}^{D'}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) = \int_{0}^{1} \int_{D'} \dot{\varphi}_{s,\epsilon} g_{\varphi_{s,\epsilon}} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c} \varphi_{s,\epsilon})^{n-1}}{(n-1)!} ds$$
$$= \int_{0}^{1} \int_{D'} u_{\epsilon} g_{\varphi_{s,\epsilon}} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c} \varphi_{s,\epsilon})^{n-1}}{(n-1)!} ds,$$

(4.22)
$$\mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{dd^{c}}\psi}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) = \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tilde{X}} \dot{\varphi}_{s,\epsilon} g_{\varphi_{s,\epsilon}} \mathrm{dd^{c}}\psi \wedge \frac{(\mathrm{dd^{c}}\varphi_{s,\epsilon})^{n-1}}{(n-1)!} ds$$
$$= \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tilde{X}} u_{\epsilon} g_{\varphi_{s,\epsilon}} \mathrm{dd^{c}}\psi \wedge \frac{(\mathrm{dd^{c}}\varphi_{s,\epsilon})^{n-1}}{(n-1)!} ds.$$

Lemma 4.8. $\mathbf{M}_{\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}$ is convex along $\varphi_{\epsilon}(t)$.

Proof. We will first prove the case when $g = \sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}} \prod_{\alpha} y_{\alpha}^{k_{\alpha}}$ is a polynomial, where $y \in \mathbb{R}^r$, \vec{k} belongs to a finite set. Then $\sum_{\alpha} g_{\alpha} \xi_{\alpha} = \sum_{\alpha} D_{\alpha} g(\mathbf{m}_{\varphi_{s,\epsilon}}) V_{\alpha} = \sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}} \sum_{\alpha} k_{\alpha} \prod_{\beta} \theta_{\beta,\epsilon}^{k_{\beta}-\delta_{\alpha,\beta}} V_{\alpha}$. Denote $\vartheta_{\alpha,\epsilon} = \mathfrak{L}_{V_{\alpha}}(\log(\omega_{\epsilon}^n))$.

$$\begin{split} \int_{\tilde{X}} \dot{\varphi}_{\epsilon} \sum_{\alpha} g_{\alpha}(\mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\log \omega_{\epsilon}^{n})) \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{\epsilon})^{n}}{n!} &= \sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}} \int_{X} \dot{\varphi}_{\epsilon} \sum_{\alpha} k_{\alpha} \prod_{\beta} \theta_{\beta,\epsilon}^{k_{\beta}-\delta_{\alpha,\beta}} \vartheta_{\alpha,\epsilon} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{\epsilon})^{n}}{n!} = \\ \sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}} \int_{\tilde{X}^{[\vec{k}]}} \dot{\varphi}_{\epsilon} \sum_{\alpha} \vartheta_{\alpha,\epsilon} (\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{\alpha,\epsilon}^{\mathrm{FS}}) \wedge \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{\epsilon})^{n}}{n!} \wedge \frac{(\theta_{1,\epsilon}\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{1,\epsilon}^{\mathrm{FS}})^{k_{1}}}{k_{1}!} \\ & \cdots \wedge \frac{(\theta_{\alpha,\epsilon}\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{\alpha,\epsilon}^{\mathrm{FS}})^{k_{\alpha}-1}}{(k_{\alpha}-1)!} \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{(\theta_{r,\epsilon}\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{r,\epsilon}^{\mathrm{FS}})^{k_{r}}}{k_{r}!}. \end{split}$$

Then

(4.23)

$$-\mathbf{E}_{g}^{Ric_{\epsilon}^{eq}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) = \sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tilde{X}^{[\vec{k}]}} u_{\epsilon} \mathrm{dd}^{c} \log(\omega_{\epsilon}^{n})^{[\vec{k}]} \wedge \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{s,\epsilon}^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k-1}}{(n+k-1)!} ds$$
$$= \sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}} \frac{1}{(n+k)!} \sum_{j=0}^{n+k-1} \int_{\tilde{X}^{[\vec{k}]}} u_{\epsilon} \mathrm{dd}^{c} \log(\omega_{\epsilon}^{n})^{[\vec{k}]} \wedge (\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{\epsilon}^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k-1-j} \wedge (\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{0,\epsilon}^{[\vec{k}]})^{j}.$$

Then

(4.24)
$$- \mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \mathbf{E}_{g}^{Ric_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}} = \sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}} \int_{\tilde{X}^{[\vec{k}]}} \mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \log(\omega_{\epsilon}^{n})^{[\vec{k}]} \wedge \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \Phi_{\epsilon}^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k}}{(n+k)!}$$

By a similar calculation,

(4.25)
$$\mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{dd^{c}}\varphi_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) = \sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}} \frac{(n+k)}{(n+k+1)!} \sum_{j=0}^{n+k} \int_{\tilde{X}^{[\vec{k}]}} u_{\epsilon} (\mathrm{dd^{c}}\varphi_{\epsilon}^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k-j} \wedge (\mathrm{dd^{c}}\varphi_{0,\epsilon}^{[\vec{k}]})^{j}$$
$$= \sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}}(n+k) \mathbf{E}_{\varphi_{0,\epsilon}^{[\vec{k}]}}^{[\vec{k}]}(\varphi_{\epsilon}^{[\vec{k}]}).$$

(4.26)
$$\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}} = \sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}}(n+k) \int_{\tilde{X}^{[\vec{k}]}} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\Phi_{\epsilon}^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k+1}}{(n+k+1)!}$$

and (compare with the calculation in Remark 4.5)

$$\begin{aligned} (4.27) \\ \mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} (\int_{\tilde{X}} \log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi_{\epsilon})^{n}}{\omega_{\epsilon}^{n}}) g_{\varphi_{\epsilon}} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi_{\epsilon})^{n}}{n!} - \mathbf{E}_{g}^{Ric_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}}) \\ &= \mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \Big(\sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}} \int_{X^{[\vec{k}]}} \log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi_{\epsilon})^{n}}{\omega_{\epsilon}^{n}}) \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi_{\epsilon}^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k}}{(n+k)!} \Big) - \mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \mathbf{E}_{g}^{Ric_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}} \\ &= \sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}} \int_{X^{[\vec{k}]}} \mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \log((\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi_{\epsilon})^{n})^{[\vec{k}]} \wedge \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\Phi_{\epsilon}^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k}}{(n+k)!} - \int_{\tilde{X}^{[\vec{k}]}} \mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \log(\omega_{\epsilon}^{n})^{[\vec{k}]} \wedge \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\Phi_{\epsilon}^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k}}{(n+k)!} - \mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \mathbf{E}_{g}^{Ric_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}} \\ &= \sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}} \int_{\tilde{X}^{[\vec{k}]}} \mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \log((\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi_{\epsilon})^{n})^{[\vec{k}]} \wedge \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\Phi_{\epsilon}^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k}}{(n+k)!} \\ &= \int_{\tilde{X}} g_{\varphi_{\epsilon}} \mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \log((\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi_{\epsilon})^{n}) \wedge \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\Phi_{\epsilon})^{n}}{(n)!}. \end{aligned}$$

The equality of the last two lines can be checked locally. Let U be an open affine chart in X,

(4.28)
$$dd^{c} \int_{U} \log((dd^{c}\varphi_{\epsilon})^{n}) g_{\varphi_{\epsilon}} \frac{(dd^{c}\varphi_{\epsilon})^{n}}{n!} = dd^{c} \Big(\sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}} \int_{U^{[\vec{k}]}} \log((dd^{c}\varphi_{\epsilon})^{n})^{[\vec{k}]} \frac{(dd^{c}\varphi_{\epsilon}^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k}}{(n+k)!} \Big)$$
$$= \sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}} \int_{U^{[\vec{k}]}} dd^{c} \log((dd^{c}\varphi_{\epsilon})^{n})^{[\vec{k}]} \wedge \frac{(dd^{c}\Phi_{\epsilon}^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k}}{(n+k)!}.$$

By Berman-Berndtsson's Bergman kernel approximation method, (4.27) is non-negative. When Φ_{ϵ} is a geodesic, $\Phi_{\epsilon}^{[\vec{k}]}$ is also a geodesic. (compare with (4.11)-(4.13).) From (4.26), along a geodesic, we have dd^c $\mathbf{E}_{g,\omega_{\varphi_{\epsilon}}^{eq}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) = 0$. Similar as in the proof of the smooth case, it can be shown that $\mathbf{E}_{g}^{D}(\varphi_{\epsilon}), \mathbf{E}_{g}^{dd^{c}\psi}(\varphi_{\epsilon})$ are convex along $\varphi_{\epsilon}(t)$. Then when $g_{\varphi_{\epsilon}}$ is a polynomial, $\mathbf{M}_{\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi_{\epsilon})$ is convex along the geodesic $\varphi_{\epsilon}(t)$.

In the general case, we can approximate g by polynomials g_j . For simplicity, denote the corresponding generalized Mabuchi functional by $\mathbf{M}_j(t)$, and denote the limit by $\mathbf{M}(t)$. For any $\epsilon > 0$, when j is sufficiently large, $|\mathbf{M}_j(t) - \mathbf{M}(t)| < \epsilon$. Then $\mathbf{M}(t) \leq \mathbf{M}_j(t) + \epsilon \leq (1-t)t\mathbf{M}_j(0) + t\mathbf{M}_j(1) + \epsilon \leq (1-t)\mathbf{M}(0) + t\mathbf{M}(1) + 3\epsilon$. Take the limit, we can see $\mathbf{M}_{\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}$ is convex.

Remark 4.9. Our expansion of generalized Mabuchi functional is partially motivated by the expansion in [78]. See also [69].

Let $\varphi_{\epsilon}(i)$ (i = 0, 1) be the solution to the Monge-Ampère equation

(4.29)
$$g_{\varphi_{\epsilon}(i)}(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi_{\epsilon}(i))^{n} = d_{\epsilon}g_{\varphi(i)}(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi(i))^{n}, \ \sup_{\tilde{X}} u_{\epsilon} = 0,$$

where the right-hand side of the equation is a degenerate smooth volume form and $d_{\epsilon} = \int_{\tilde{X}} g_{\varphi_{0,\epsilon}} \omega_{\epsilon}^{n} / \int_{\tilde{X}} g_{\varphi_{0}} \omega^{n}$.

Lemma 4.10. The solution $u_{\epsilon}(i) \in C^2(\tilde{X} \setminus E)$, and $|\nabla^2 u_{\epsilon}(i)| \leq C|s_E|_{\varphi_{0,1}}^{-\alpha}$, for some $C, \alpha > 0$.

Proof. We will brief the proof. Denote $\Omega = g_{\varphi}(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}$, which is a smooth volume form. Consider the continuty method $(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{\epsilon,t})^{n} = d_{\epsilon,t}e^{-tf_{\varphi_{\epsilon,t}}}\Omega$. At t = 0, this is solved by Yau's resolution [89].

The C^0 -estimate follows [36]. The C^2 -estimate follows from a similar argument as in the proof of Proposition 3.7.

Lemma 4.11. For i = 0, 1, up to a subsequence, $u_{\epsilon}(i)$ converges to u(i) in $L^{1}(\omega_{1}^{n})$. Furthermore, $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}(i)) = \mathbf{E}_{g}(\varphi(i))$, $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{dd^{c}}\varphi(i)_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}(i)) = \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{dd^{c}}\varphi(i)_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi(i))$.

Proof. Abbreviate u(i) as u. By Hartogs' compactness theorem, up to a subsequence, $dd^c \varphi_{\epsilon}$ converges to $dd^c \varphi$ as current, which furthermore implies u_{ϵ} converges to u in $L^1(\omega_1^n)$.

 $\mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) - \mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi) = \left(\mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) - \mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi - \varphi_{0} + \varphi_{0,\epsilon})\right) + \left(\mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi - \varphi_{0} + \varphi_{0,\epsilon}) - \mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi_{0}}(\varphi)\right).$ Note that $\varphi - \varphi_{0} + \varphi_{0,\epsilon} = \varphi_{0,\epsilon} + u = \varphi + \epsilon \varphi_{P}.$

$$\mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) - \mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi + \epsilon\varphi_{P}) = \mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi + \epsilon\varphi_{P}}(\varphi_{\epsilon})$$

$$= \mathbf{I}_{g,\varphi + \epsilon \varphi_P}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) - \mathbf{J}_{g,\varphi + \epsilon \varphi_P}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) + \int_{\tilde{X}} (u_{\epsilon} - u) g_{\varphi_{\epsilon}} (\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \varphi_{\epsilon})^n$$

 $\mathbf{I}_{g,\varphi+\epsilon\varphi_P}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) = \int_{\tilde{X}} (u_{\epsilon} - u) (g_{\varphi+\epsilon\varphi_P} (\mathrm{dd}^{\mathsf{c}}(\varphi + \epsilon\varphi_P))^n - g_{\varphi_{\epsilon}} (\mathrm{dd}^{\mathsf{c}}\varphi_{\epsilon})^n).$ There exists some C > 0, such that $g_{\varphi+\epsilon\varphi_P} (\mathrm{dd}^{\mathsf{c}}(\varphi + \epsilon\varphi_P))^n \leq C\omega_1^n$. Then

(4.30)
$$|\int_{\tilde{X}} (u_{\epsilon} - u) g_{\varphi + \epsilon \varphi_{P}} (\mathrm{dd}^{\mathsf{c}} (\varphi + \epsilon \varphi_{P}))^{n}| \leq C \int_{\tilde{X}} |u_{\epsilon} - u| \omega_{1}^{n} \xrightarrow{\epsilon \to 0} 0$$

By (4.29), $\mathbf{H}_{g,\omega_{\epsilon}}(\varphi_{\epsilon})$ is uniformly bounded. Then by Hölder-Young's inequality,

(4.31)
$$\begin{aligned} |\int_{\tilde{X}} (u_{\epsilon} - u) g_{\varphi_{\epsilon}} (\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \varphi_{\epsilon})^{n}| &= |\int_{\tilde{X}} (u_{\epsilon} - u) \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \varphi_{\epsilon})^{n}}{\omega_{\epsilon}^{n}} g_{\varphi_{\epsilon}} \omega_{\epsilon}^{n}| \\ &\leq C |u_{\epsilon} - u|_{L^{\chi^{*}}} |\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \varphi_{\epsilon})^{n}}{\omega_{\epsilon}^{n}}|_{L^{\chi}} \leq C |\mathbf{H}_{g,\omega_{\epsilon}}(\varphi_{\epsilon})| |u_{\epsilon} - u|_{L^{\chi^{*}}}, \end{aligned}$$

where $\chi(s) = (s+1)\log(s+1) - s$, $\chi^*(s) = e^s - s - 1$. Since $\chi^*(s) \leq se^s$, the inequality above implies $|u_{\epsilon} - u|_{L^{\chi^*}} \leq \int_{\tilde{X}} |u_{\epsilon} - u|e^{|u_{\epsilon} - u|}\omega_1^n \leq C|u_{\epsilon} - u|_{L^1(\omega_1^n)} \xrightarrow{\epsilon \to 0} 0$, since $|u_{\epsilon} - u|$ is uniformly bounded. In addition, $\mathbf{J}_g \leq C\mathbf{I}_g$. Then we have as $\epsilon \to 0$, $0 \leq \mathbf{J}_{g,\varphi+\epsilon\varphi_P}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) \leq C\mathbf{I}_{g,\varphi+\epsilon\varphi_P}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) \to 0$. Similarly,

(4.32)
$$|\int_{\tilde{X}} (u_{\epsilon} - u) g_{\varphi_{\epsilon}} (\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \varphi_{\epsilon})^{n}| = |d_{\epsilon}| |\int_{\tilde{X}} (u_{\epsilon} - u) g_{\varphi_{\epsilon}} (\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \varphi)^{n}| \le C \int_{\tilde{X}} |u_{\epsilon} - u| \omega_{1}^{n} \xrightarrow{\epsilon} 0$$

Then we have $|\mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) - \mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi - \varphi_0 + \varphi_{0,\epsilon})| \xrightarrow{\epsilon \to 0} 0$. Denote $\varphi_s = \varphi_0 + su$. (4.33)

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi-\varphi_{0}+\varphi_{0,\epsilon})-\mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi_{0}}(\varphi)| &= |\int_{0}^{1}\int_{\tilde{X}}u\big(g_{\varphi_{s}+\epsilon\varphi_{P}}(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi_{s}+\epsilon\varphi_{P})^{n}-g_{\varphi_{s}}(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi_{s})^{n}\big)ds| \\ &= |\int_{0}^{1}\int_{\tilde{X}}u\big((g_{\varphi_{s}+\epsilon\varphi_{P}}-g_{\varphi_{s}})(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}(\varphi_{s}+\epsilon\varphi_{P}))^{n}+g_{\varphi_{s}}((\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}(\varphi_{s}+\epsilon\varphi_{P}))^{n}-(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi_{s})^{n})\big)ds| \\ &\leq C\int_{0}^{1}\int_{\tilde{X}}|g_{\varphi_{s}+\epsilon\varphi_{P}}-g_{\varphi_{s}}|\omega_{1}^{n}ds+|\int_{0}^{1}\int_{\tilde{X}}ug_{\varphi_{s}}((\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}(\varphi_{s}+\epsilon\varphi_{P}))^{n}-(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi_{s})^{n})ds| \\ &\stackrel{\epsilon\to 0}{\longrightarrow} 0, \end{aligned}$$

where in the third line, we use the fact $u \in L^{\infty}(\tilde{X}, \omega_1)$, in the last line, we use the dominated convergence theorem. Then $\lim_{\epsilon} \mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) = \mathbf{E}_g(\varphi)$.

Let g_j be the polynomial approximation of g. By (4.25) and a similar argument as above, for any $\epsilon' > 0$, there exists a $\epsilon_0 > 0$, such that when $\epsilon < \epsilon_0$, $|\mathbf{E}_{g_j}^{\mathrm{dd}c\varphi_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) - \mathbf{E}_{g_j}^{\mathrm{dd}c\varphi_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi)| < \epsilon'$. Meanwhile, since the moment polytope is bounded, $\mathfrak{L}_{V_{\alpha}}(\varphi_{s,\epsilon}) = \theta_{\alpha,\varphi_{s,\epsilon}}$ is uniformly bounded. By the C^2 -convergence of g_j , we have $j_0 > 0$, for $j > j_0$, $|\sum_{\alpha} (f_{j,\alpha} \mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\varphi_{s,\epsilon}) - f_{\alpha} \mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\varphi_{s,\epsilon}))| \leq \sum_{\alpha} |D_{\alpha}f_j - D_{\alpha}f| |\mathfrak{L}_{V_{\alpha}}(\varphi_{s,\epsilon})| < \epsilon'$. In addition, u_{ϵ} is uniformly bounded. Then there exists a C > 0, such that $|\mathbf{E}_{g_j}^{\mathrm{dd}^c} \varphi_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) - \mathbf{E}_g^{\mathrm{dd}^c} \varphi_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}(\varphi_{\epsilon})| < C\epsilon'$. Then

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{dd^{c}}\varphi_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) - \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{dd^{c}}\varphi^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi)| &\leq \\ |\mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{dd^{c}}\varphi_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) - \mathbf{E}_{g_{j}}^{\mathrm{dd^{c}}\varphi_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi_{\epsilon})| + |\mathbf{E}_{g_{j}}^{\mathrm{dd^{c}}\varphi_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi)| + |\mathbf{E}_{g_{j}}^{\mathrm{dd^{c}}\varphi^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi)| + |\mathbf{E}_{g_{j}}^{\mathrm{dd^{c}}\varphi^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi)| - \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{dd^{c}}\varphi^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi)| \\ \xrightarrow{j \to \infty, \epsilon \to 0} 0 \end{aligned}$$

Lemma 4.12. For any t, $u_{\epsilon}(t)$ is uniformly bounded (with respect to t and ϵ); $u_{\epsilon}(t)$ converges to u(t) in $L^{1}(\tilde{X}, \omega_{1}^{n})$ uniformly (with respect to t). Furthermore, $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}(t)) = \mathbf{E}_{g}(\varphi(t))$, $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi(t)_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}(t)) = \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi(t)^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi(t))$.

Proof. By [32, Proposition 1.4],

(4.34)
$$|u_{\epsilon}(t) - u_{\epsilon}(s)| \le |u_{\epsilon}(1) - u_{\epsilon}(0)|(t-s)$$

for $0 \leq s \leq t \leq 1$, we have $u_{\epsilon}(t)$ is uniformly bounded with respect to ϵ, s , and $u_{\epsilon}(t)$ is equicontinuous with respect to t. Then up to choose a subsequence, as $\epsilon \to 0$, $u_{\epsilon}(t)$ converges to a limit $\hat{u}(t)$ in $L^{1}(\tilde{X}, \omega_{1}^{n})$, uniformly with respect to t. Since $\mathbf{M}_{\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}(t))$ is convex along $u_{\epsilon}(t)$, $\mathbf{M}_{\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}(i))$ are uniformly bounded for i = 0, 1, we have $\mathbf{M}_{\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}(t))$ is uniformly bounded with respect to ϵ and t. From (4.19),(4.20),(4.21),(4.22), using the fact that $u_{\epsilon}(t)$ is uniformly bounded and $f \in C^{2}(P)$, it's not hard to check $\mathbf{F}_{g,\epsilon}(u_{\epsilon}(t))$ is uniformly bounded with respect to ϵ, t . Then the entropy term $\mathbf{H}_{g,\omega_{\epsilon}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}(t))$ is also uniformly bounded. As $\mathbf{H}_{g,\omega_{\epsilon}}$ and $u_{\epsilon}(t)$ are both uniformly bounded, we can adapt the same argument as in the proof of Lemma 4.11 to show that $\mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}(t))$ converges to $\mathbf{E}_{g}(\hat{\varphi}(t))$ both as a convex function and concave function over t. Then $\mathbf{E}_{q}(\hat{\varphi}(t))$ is affine over t. This implies that $\hat{u}(t) = u(t)$.

By a similar argument as in the proof of Lemma 4.11, we also have $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \mathbf{E}_g^{\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi(t)_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}(t)) = \mathbf{E}_g^{\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi(t)^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi(t)).$

Lemma 4.13. In the formula (4.18), for $0 \le t \le 1$, $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \mathbf{F}_{g,\epsilon}(\varphi_{\epsilon}(t)) = \mathbf{F}_{g}(\varphi(t))$.

Proof. We will abbreviate $\varphi(t)$ by φ . The convergence of $\mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi_{\epsilon})$ is already shown in Lemma 4.12. Let g_{j} be the polynomial approximation of g. Using the expression (4.23), by a similar argument as in the proof of Lemma 4.11 and Lemma 4.12, $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \mathbf{E}_{g_{j}}^{Ric_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) = \mathbf{E}_{g_{j}}^{Ric_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi)$. For any $\epsilon' > 0$, by the C^{2} -convergence of g_{j} , there exists a $j_{0} > 0$, such that for any $j > j_{0}$, $|g_{j,\varphi_{s,\epsilon}} - g_{\varphi_{s,\epsilon}}| < \epsilon'$, $|V_{s,\epsilon,j}(\log(\omega_{\epsilon}^{n})) - V_{s,\epsilon}(\log(\omega_{\epsilon}^{n}))| < \epsilon'$, where the second inequality is by the same argument as in the proof of Lemma 4.11. In addition, u_{ϵ} is uniformly bounded. Then

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{E}_{g_{j}}^{Ric_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) - \mathbf{E}_{g}^{Ric_{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{eq}}}(\varphi_{\epsilon})| &\leq C\epsilon' \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tilde{X}} |Ric_{\epsilon} \wedge \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi_{s,\epsilon})^{n-1}}{(n-1)!}| + \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi_{s,\epsilon})^{n}}{n!} ds \\ &\leq C\epsilon' \end{aligned}$$

Then by the 3 ϵ -argument as in the proof of Lemma 4.11, we have $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \mathbf{E}_g^{Ric^{eq}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}) = \mathbf{E}_g^{Ric^{eq}}(\varphi)$. Similarly, we can show the convergence of $\mathbf{E}_q^D(\varphi_{\epsilon}), \mathbf{E}_q^{\mathrm{dd}^c\psi}(\varphi_{\epsilon})$. By the convergence of $\mathbf{F}_{g,\epsilon}(\varphi_{\epsilon}(t))$ and the lower semi-continuity of $\mathbf{H}_{g,\omega_{\epsilon}}(\varphi_{\epsilon})$, $\mathbf{M}(\varphi(t)) \leq \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \mathbf{M}_{\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(\varphi_{\epsilon}(t))$. Then

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{M}(\varphi(t)) &\leq \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \mathbf{M}_{\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(u_{\epsilon}(t)) \\ &\leq \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left((1-t) \mathbf{M}_{\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(u_{\epsilon}(0)) + t \mathbf{M}_{\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}(u_{\epsilon}(1)) \right) \\ &\leq (1-t) \mathbf{M}(\varphi(0)) + t \mathbf{M}(\varphi(1)). \end{split}$$

Following the proof of [10, Lemma 3.1], we have

Lemma 4.14. For any $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}_T^1$, there exists a sequence of $\varphi_j \in \hat{\mathcal{H}}_T(X, L)$, such that φ_j converges to φ under the strong topology of \mathcal{E}_T^1 , and $\mathbf{H}_{g,\Theta}(\varphi_j)$ converges to $\mathbf{H}_{g,\Theta}(\varphi)$.

Combine the approximation Lemma 4.14 and the analysis above, we can conclude that $\mathbf{M}(u(t))$ is convex along the geodesic u(t).

5. Non-Archimedean functionals and G-uniform stability

5.1. Psh rays and Non-Archimedean metrics. In the previous sections, we have studied the equation (3.1) from the Archimedean point of view. In the following sections, we will reconsider this question from the Non-Archimedean side. We will be brief in our discussion and only emphasize the key modifications in our generalized case.

For a projective variety X, let X^{NA} be the Berkovich analytification of X with respect to the trivial norm on \mathbb{C} . Then X^{NA} is a compact, Hausdorff space. The set of divisorial valuations $X_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\text{div}}$ is a dense subset of X^{NA} .

Let $\mathbb{B} = \{\tau \in \mathbb{C} : |\tau| \leq 1\}$ be the unit disk in \mathbb{C} . We call a continuous map $\Phi = \{\varphi(t)\}$: $(\cdot, t) \in \mathbb{R}_{>0} \to \mathcal{E}_T^1(X, L)$ a psh ray, if $\Phi(x, -\log |\tau|)$ is a psh metric on $X \times \mathbb{B}^*$. A psh ray Φ is said to have linear growth if

(5.1)
$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{\sup_X(\varphi(t) - \varphi_0)}{t} =: \lambda_{\max}(\Phi) < +\infty.$$

 Φ is called sup-normalized if $\lambda_{\max}(\Phi) = 0$. Any sup-normalized a psh ray Φ extends to a psh metric on $X \times \mathbb{B}$. The upper bound of the growth rate guarantees the existence of a constant a > 0, such that $\Phi + a \log |\tau| < +\infty$. Φ induces metric Φ^{NA} on L^{NA} . Let ϕ_{triv} be the trivial metric on L^{NA} . Then the relative potential $\Phi^{\text{NA}} - \phi_{\text{triv}}$ is represented by a function on $X_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\text{div}}$; for any $v \in X_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\text{div}}$,

$$(\Phi^{\mathrm{NA}} - \phi_{\mathrm{triv}})(v) = -\sigma(v)(\Phi + a\log|\tau|) + a$$

where $\sigma : X_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\text{div}} \to (X \times \mathbb{C})_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\text{div}}$ is the Gauss extension, and when $v = v_E$, where E is a Weil divisor, $\sigma(v)(\Phi + a \log |\tau|)$ is the generic Lelong number of $\Phi + a \log |\tau|$ at E.

For a projective variety X coupled with a line bundle L, a test configuration $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$ is a projective variety \mathcal{X} coupled with a line bundle \mathcal{L} , with

- (1). $\pi: \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{B}$ is a flat projective morphism, which is \mathbb{C}^* -equivariant.
- (2). \mathcal{L} is a \mathbb{C}^* -equivariant \mathbb{Q} -line bundle.
- (2). $(\mathcal{X}_t, \mathcal{L}_t)$ is isomorphic to (X, L) when $t \neq 0$.

For a test configuration $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$, by resolution of singularity, we can assume $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$ is dominating, i.e. there exists a \mathbb{C}^* -equivariant birational morphism $\rho : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X} \times \mathbb{B}$. Then $\mathcal{L} = \rho^* L + D$ for some \mathbb{Q} -Cartier divisor D. The test configuration $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$ induces a canonical Non-Archimedean metric $\phi_{(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})}$ on L^{NA} , which satisfies

(5.2)
$$(\phi_{(\mathcal{X},\mathcal{L})} - \phi_{\text{triv}})(v) = \sigma(v)(D)$$

for any $v \in X_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\text{div}}$. We set:

(5.3)
$$\mathcal{H}^{\mathrm{NA}}(L) := \{ \phi_{(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})} : (\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L}) \text{ is a test configuration of } (X, L) \}.$$

We call Φ a smooth psh ray associated to $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$ if $e^{-\Phi}$ extends to a smooth metric on \mathcal{L} . Specifically, the pull-back of the Fubini-Study metric Φ_{FS} on \mathcal{X} is a smooth psh ray.

Lemma 5.1. For any $T_{\mathbb{C}} \times \mathbb{G}$ -equivariant test configuration $\phi = \phi_{\mathcal{X},\mathcal{L}} \in \mathcal{H}^{NA}$, there exists a smooth psh ray Φ associate to it, such that Φ is $T \times K$ -invariant.

Proof. Since \mathcal{L} is semi-ample over \mathcal{X} , there exists a smooth psh ray Φ on \mathcal{X} . Averaging Φ by $T \times K$ -action. Then Φ becomes $T \times K$ -invariant.

5.2. **NA-functionals.** In this subsection, we will define the Non-Archimedean version of $\mathbf{E}_g, \mathbf{J}_g, \mathbf{D}_g$ functionals.

Recall the definition of \mathbf{E}^{NA} , \mathbf{J}^{NA} , \mathbf{L}_{Θ}^{NA} for any $\phi = \phi_{(\mathcal{X},\mathcal{L})} \in \mathcal{H}^{NA}$ (see [9]):

(5.4)
$$\mathbf{E}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi) = \mathbf{E}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}) = \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_1} \frac{\bar{\mathcal{L}}^{\cdot n+1}}{(n+1)!} = \frac{1}{L^{\cdot n}} \frac{\bar{\mathcal{L}}^{\cdot n+1}}{n+1}$$

(5.5)
$$\mathbf{\Lambda}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi) = \mathbf{\Lambda}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}) = \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_1} \bar{\mathcal{L}} \cdot \frac{L^{\cdot n}}{n!} = \frac{1}{L^{\cdot n}} \bar{\mathcal{L}} \cdot L^{\cdot n}_{\mathbb{P}}$$

(5.6)
$$\mathbf{J}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi) = \mathbf{J}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}) = \mathbf{\Lambda}^{\mathrm{NA}} - \mathbf{E}^{\mathrm{NA}}$$

(5.7)
$$\mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi) = \mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}) = \inf_{v \in X_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\mathrm{div}}} (A_{(X,D+\Theta)}(v) + (\phi - \phi_{\mathrm{triv}})(v)),$$

where $A_{(X,D+\Theta)}$ is the log discrepancy function: for any $v \in X_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\text{div}}$:

(5.8)
$$A_{(X,D+\Theta)}(v) = A_{(X,D)}(v) - v(\Theta).$$

We will follow the conventions used in the proof of Proposition 2.2. Our strategy to define non-Archimedean functionals is motivated by the method in the Archimedean case. We will first deal with the case when g is a polynomial by using a fibration construction (see the proof of Proposition 2.2). Then the functionals associated to a general g can be defined as a limit of the functionals associated to polynomial g.

5.3. **Polynomial** g. First assume $g = \prod_{\alpha=1}^{r} y_{\alpha}^{k_{\alpha}}$ to be a monomial. We will use the notations in our proof of Proposition 2.2 and denote $\mathbf{E}_{g} = \mathbf{E}^{[\vec{k}]}$. When $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}_{T}(X, L)$ we have the identity:

$$\mathbf{E}_{g}(\varphi) = \mathbf{E}^{[\vec{k}]}(\varphi) := \int_{0}^{1} dt \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_{g}} \int_{X} \dot{\varphi} \prod_{i=1}^{r} \theta_{\alpha}(\varphi)^{k_{i}} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} = \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_{g}} \int_{0}^{1} dt \int_{X^{[\vec{k}]}} \dot{\varphi}^{[\vec{k}]} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k}}{(n+k)!}$$

$$(5.9) = \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_{g}} \frac{1}{(n+k+1)!} \sum_{p=0}^{n+k} \int_{X^{[\vec{k}]}} (\varphi^{[\vec{k}]} - \varphi^{[\vec{k}]}_{0}) (\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi^{[\vec{k}]}_{0})^{p} \wedge ((\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k-p},$$

where $k = |\vec{k}| = k_1 + \cdots + k_r$. The formula in the second equality is also well-defined for $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}_T^1(X, L)$. We will use this formula as the definition of $\mathbf{E}^{[\vec{k}]}$.

Using the fibration construction in section 2.1, we set:

(5.10)
$$(\mathcal{X}^{[\vec{k}]}, \mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]}, \mathcal{X}_0^{[\vec{k}]}) = (\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L}, \mathcal{X}_0) \times \mathbb{S}^{2k+1}) / (S^1)^r$$

where $(S^1)^r$ acts \mathcal{X} vertically along the fibres of $\mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{C}$. Then similar to the non-Archimedean **E** functional in (5.4), we set:

(5.11)
$$(\mathbf{E}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\mathrm{NA}} = \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_g} \frac{(\bar{\mathcal{L}}^{[k]})^{\cdot n+k+1}}{(n+k+1)!}.$$

As a consequence, $\mathbf{E}_{q}^{\mathrm{NA}}$ is also defined if g is a polynomial.

Lemma 5.2. For any normal test configuration $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$. Fix a smooth Hermitian metric $e^{-\varphi}$ on \mathcal{L} . Assume that η is the holomorphic vector field generating the \mathbb{C}^* -action and let $\theta_{\eta}(\varphi)$ be the Hamiltonian function of η . Then for any polynomial g, we have the identity:

(5.12)
$$\mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}) = \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_{g}} \int_{\mathcal{X}_{0}} \theta_{\eta}(\varphi) g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}.$$

Proof. We only need to show the equality for $(\mathbf{E}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\text{NA}}$ when $g = \prod_{\alpha} \theta_{\alpha}^{k_{\alpha}}$ is a monomial. Consider the spaces defined in (5.10). Because $T \cong (S^1)^r$ acts vertically and commutes with the \mathbb{C}^* action, we then have a \mathbb{C}^* -equivariant morphism $\mathcal{X}^{[\vec{k}]} \to \mathbb{C}$ such that the central fibre is given by $\mathcal{X}_0^{[\vec{k}]}$. We can assume that $\mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]}$ is relatively ample over \mathbb{C} (by adding a positive constant to θ as in section 2.1). So we are reduced to the usual case of the **E**-functional. By the well-known result for the usual **E**-functional (see [16, Proposition 3.12]), we get the identity:

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathbf{E}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}) &= \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_g} \frac{(\bar{\mathcal{L}}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\cdot n+k+1}}{n+k+1} \\ &= \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_g} \int_{\mathcal{X}_0^{[\vec{k}]}} \theta_\eta(\varphi)^{[\vec{k}]} \frac{((\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k}}{(n+k)!} \\ &= \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_g} \int_{\mathcal{X}_0} \theta_\eta(\varphi) \prod_{\alpha} \theta_\alpha(\varphi)^{k_\alpha} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^n}{n!}. \end{aligned}$$

5.4. Continuous g.

Definition 5.3. For any $\phi = \phi_{(\mathcal{X},\mathcal{L})} \in \mathcal{H}^{NA}$, we choose a smooth psh metric $e^{-\varphi}$ on $\mathcal{L}|_{\mathcal{X}_0}$ and let η denote the holomorphic vector field generating the \mathbb{C}^* -action. We define:

(5.13)
$$\mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi) := \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}) := \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_{g}} \int_{\mathcal{X}_{0}} \theta_{\eta}(\varphi) g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}.$$

Lemma 5.4. The quantity on the right-hand-side of (5.13) does not depend on the choice of φ .

Proof. Let $\mathbf{DH}_{T_{\mathbb{C}}\times\mathbb{C}^*}$ be the Duistermaat-Heckman measure associated to the $T_{\mathbb{C}}\times\mathbb{C}^*$ -action on $(\mathcal{X}_0, \mathcal{L}|_{\mathcal{X}_0})$. Then the right-hand-side is given by:

(5.14)
$$\frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_g} \int_{P \times \mathbb{R}} \lambda \cdot g(y) \mathbf{DH}_{T_{\mathbb{C}} \times \mathbb{C}^*}(\mathcal{X}_0, \mathcal{L}_0),$$

where λ and y are the variable on \mathbb{R} and P respectively. It is well-known that the DH measure and hence the above integral do not depend on the choice $\tilde{\varphi}$ (see [16]).

33

Lemma 5.5. Let $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$ be an ample normal test configuration. For a continuous function g, let g_i be a sequence of polynomials that converges to it over the moment polytope P. Then

(5.15)
$$\lim_{i\to\infty} \mathbf{E}_{g_i}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}) = \mathbf{E}_g^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}).$$

Proof. By the definition of $MA_g(\varphi)$, $MA_{g_i}(\varphi)$ converges to $MA_g(\varphi)$ as a measure. By rescaling, without loss of generality we can assume that $\mathbb{V}_{g_i} = \mathbb{V}_g = 1$. Then

(5.16)
$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \mathbf{E}_{g_i}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}) = \lim_{i \to \infty} \int_{\mathcal{X}_0} \theta_{\eta}(\varphi) e^{g_{i,\varphi}} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^n}{n!}$$
$$= \lim_{i \to \infty} \sum_j e_j \int_{E_j} \theta_{\eta}(\varphi) \mathrm{MA}_{g_i}(\varphi)$$
$$= \sum_j e_j \int_{E_j} \theta_{\eta}(\varphi) \mathrm{MA}_g(\varphi) = \int_{\mathcal{X}_0} \theta_{\eta}(\varphi) g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^n}{n!}.$$

The first equality is by Lemma 5.2, the third equality is by dominated convergence theorem. \Box Definition 5.6. For any $\phi \in \mathcal{H}^{NA}$, we define

(5.17)
$$\mathbf{\Lambda}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi) = \mathbf{\Lambda}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi) = \frac{1}{L^{\cdot n}} \bar{\mathcal{L}} \cdot L_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}^{\cdot n}.$$

We define the Non-Archimedean \mathbf{J}_q functional as

(5.18)
$$\mathbf{J}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}} = \mathbf{\Lambda}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}} - \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}$$

and define the Non-Archimedean generalized Ding-functional as

$$\mathbf{D}^{\mathrm{NA}} = -\mathbf{E}_g^{\mathrm{NA}} + \mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^{\mathrm{NA}}$$

5.5. Slope formulas.

Definition 5.7. Let **F** be a functional on $\mathcal{E}^1_T(X, \omega)$. Let Φ be a psh ray of linear growth. The slope at infinity of **F** along Φ is defined as

(5.20)
$$\mathbf{F}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi) = \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{\mathbf{F}(\Phi(t))}{t}$$

if the limit exists.

Proposition 5.8. Let $\phi = \phi_{(\mathcal{X},\mathcal{L})} \in \mathcal{H}^{NA}(L)$ be a normal ample test configuration. Let $\Phi(t)$ be a smooth psh ray associated to $(\mathcal{X},\mathcal{L})$. Then

(5.21)
$$\mathbf{F}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi) = \mathbf{F}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi).$$

where $t = -\log |\tau|, \tau \in \mathbb{B}$, and \mathbf{F} can be $\mathbf{E}_g, \mathbf{J}_g, \mathbf{D}_g$.

Proof. We will first show the proof for \mathbf{E}_g . We first assume that $g = \prod_{\alpha=1}^r y_{\alpha}^{k_{\alpha}}$ is a monomial. Then

(5.22)
$$\mathbf{E}_g(\varphi) = \mathbf{E}^{[\vec{k}]}(\varphi^{[\vec{k}]}).$$

We can apply the same argument in [17, Proof of Theorem 4.2] to $(\mathcal{X}^{[\vec{k}]}, \mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]})$ to get

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{\mathbf{E}_g(\varphi(t))}{t} = \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{\mathbf{E}^{[k]}(\varphi(t))}{t} = \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_g} \frac{(\bar{\mathcal{L}}^{[k]})^{n+k+1}}{(n+k+1)!} = (\mathbf{E}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi).$$

For general continuous g, by Stone-Weierstrass theorem, we can find a sequence of polynomials g_i which converges to g uniformly over the moment polytope P. For simplicity of notations, we assume $\mathbb{V}_{g_i} = \mathbb{V}_g = 1$. It's easy to see for each fixed φ ,

(5.23)
$$\lim_{i \to +\infty} \mathbf{E}_{g_i}(\varphi) = \mathbf{E}_g(\varphi).$$

For any $\epsilon > 0$, there exists an $i_0 > 0$, such that for any indices $i, i' > i_0, |g_i - g_{i'}| < \epsilon$. Then

(5.24)
$$\begin{aligned} |\frac{(\mathbf{E}_{g_i} - \mathbf{E}_{g_{i'}})(\varphi(t))}{t}| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{t} |\int_0^t \int_X (\dot{\varphi} - C + C)(g_i - g_{i'}) \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{n!} ds| + \frac{1}{t} |(\mathbf{E}_{g_i} - \mathbf{E}_{g_{i'}})(\varphi(0))| \\ &\leq \frac{\epsilon}{t} (|\int_0^t \int_X (\dot{\varphi} - C) \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{n!} ds| + Ct) + \frac{C'\epsilon}{t} \\ &\leq \epsilon ((|\mathbf{E}^{\mathrm{NA}} - C| + C) + \frac{C'}{t}), \end{aligned}$$

where we have used $\dot{\varphi} - C \leq 0$ for some constant C in the third line.

Then we have:

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{\mathbf{E}_g(\varphi(t))}{t} = \lim_{t \to +\infty} \lim_{i \to +\infty} \frac{\mathbf{E}_{g_i}(\varphi(t))}{t}$$
$$= \lim_{i \to +\infty} \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{\mathbf{E}_{g_i}(\varphi(t))}{t} = \lim_{i \to +\infty} \mathbf{E}_{g_i}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi)$$
$$= \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_g} \lim_{i \to +\infty} \int_{\mathcal{X}_0} \theta e^{f_i(\tilde{\varphi})} (\mathrm{dd}^c \tilde{\varphi})^n$$
$$= \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_g} \int_{\mathcal{X}_0} \theta_{\xi}(\tilde{\varphi}) e^{f_{\tilde{\varphi}}} (\mathrm{dd}^c \tilde{\varphi})^n = \mathbf{E}_g^{\mathrm{NA}}.$$

We can exchange the limits in the second line because of the estimate (5.24).

To show the slope formula for \mathbf{J}_{g} , we only need to show that

(5.25)
$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_X (\varphi(t) - \varphi_0) e^{f_{\varphi_0}} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \varphi_0)^n}{n!} = \mathbf{\Lambda}_g^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi) = \mathbf{\Lambda}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi).$$

Since $\Phi(t)$ has linear growth, we have $\lim_{t\to\infty}(\sup_X \frac{\varphi(t)-\varphi_0}{t}) = \lambda_{\max}(\Phi) < +\infty$. By Hartogs' compactness lemma, up to a subsequence, $\varphi(t) - \varphi_0 - \sup_X(\varphi(t) - \varphi_0)$ converges weakly to a function in $\mathcal{E}^1_T(X, \omega)$. Then

$$\begin{split} \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_X (\varphi(t) - \varphi_0) e^{f_{\varphi_0}} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi_0)^n}{n!} \\ &= \lambda_{\max} + \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_X (\varphi(t) - \varphi_0 - \sup_X (\varphi(t) - \varphi_0)) e^{f_{\varphi_0}} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi_0)^n}{n!} \\ &= \lambda_{\max}. \end{split}$$

On the other hand, it is known that $\lambda_{\max}(\Phi) = \mathbf{\Lambda}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi)$.

Since $\mathbf{D}_g = -\mathbf{E}_g + \mathbf{L}_{\Theta}$, the slope formula for \mathbf{D}_g follows from the proof for \mathbf{E}_g above and the proof for \mathbf{L}_{Θ} as in [8].

We have the following non-Archimedean version of Ding's inequality ([18, Lemma 6.17]).

Corollary 5.9. For any $t \in [0, 1]$ and $\phi \in \mathcal{H}^{NA}$, we have the inequality:

(5.26)
$$\mathbf{J}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}((1-t)\phi_{\mathrm{triv}}+t\phi) \leq t^{1+\frac{1}{C}}\mathbf{J}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi).$$

Proof. This follows from the Archimedean inequality (2.39) and the slope formula in the above proposition.

Based on the previous discussion, it is convenient to introduce the following:

Definition 5.10. Let $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$ be a test configuration of (X, L), we define: If $g = \prod_{\alpha=1}^{r} y_{\alpha}^{k_{\alpha}}$, then

(5.27)
$$\frac{1}{p!} \left(\bar{\mathcal{L}}^{\cdot p} \cdot L_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\cdot n+1-p} \right)_g := \frac{1}{(k+p)!} (\bar{\mathcal{L}}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\cdot p} \cdot (L_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\cdot n+1-p}.$$

Moreover, if Δ is a $T_{\mathbb{C}} \times \mathbb{C}^*$ -invariant divisor on \mathcal{X} and if $\Delta^{[k]} = (\Delta \times \mathbb{S}^{[\vec{k}]})/(S^1)^r$ is the associated invariant divisor on $\mathcal{X}^{[\vec{k}]}$, then we set:

(5.28)
$$\frac{1}{p!} (\Delta \cdot \bar{\mathcal{L}}^p \cdot L_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\cdot n-p})_g := \frac{1}{(k+p)!} \Delta^{[\vec{k}]} \cdot (\bar{\mathcal{L}}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\cdot p} \cdot (L_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\cdot n+1-p}.$$

For a general continuous q defined on P, we choose a sequence of polynomials q_i that converges uniformly to q and define:

(5.29)
$$\left(\bar{\mathcal{L}}^{\cdot p} \cdot L_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\cdot n+1-p}\right)_g = \lim_{i \to +\infty} \left(\bar{\mathcal{L}}^{\cdot p} \cdot L_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\cdot n+1-p}\right)_{g_i}$$

(5.30)
$$(\Delta \cdot \bar{\mathcal{L}}^p \cdot L^{\cdot n-p}_{\mathbb{P}^1})_g = \lim_{i \to +\infty} (\Delta \cdot \bar{\mathcal{L}}^p \cdot L^{\cdot n-p}_{\mathbb{P}^1})_{g_i}.$$

Remark 5.11. During our completion of this paper, we noticed a preprint of Inoue [50] in which a more general framework of equivariant intersections is used to define an equivariant version of K-stability adapted to the usual Kähler-Ricci solitons.

Recall $D = \mathcal{L} - \rho^* L_{\mathbb{C}}$. We can use the same argument for $\mathbf{E}^{\prime \infty} = \mathbf{E}^{NA}$ to get:

(5.31)
$$\frac{1}{n!} (D \cdot \mathcal{L}^{\cdot n})_g := D^{[\vec{k}]} \cdot \frac{(\mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\cdot n+k}}{(n+k)!} = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{X^{[\vec{k}]}} (\varphi^{[\vec{k}]} - \varphi_0^{[\vec{k}]}) \frac{((\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k}}{(n+k)!}$$

Proposition 5.12. For any $\phi = \phi_{(\mathcal{X},\mathcal{L})}$ we have

(5.32)
$$\mathbf{I}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi) = \mathbf{\Lambda}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}} - (D \cdot \mathcal{L}^{\cdot n})_{g}$$

Furthermore, we have the slope formula for $\mathbf{I}_a^{\mathrm{NA}}$

(5.33)
$$\mathbf{I}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}) = \mathbf{I}_{g}^{\prime \infty}(\Phi).$$

Proof. As shown in formula (5.26), $\mathbf{\Lambda} = \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_X (\varphi - \varphi_0) e^{f_{\varphi_0}} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi_0)^n}{n!}$. Again, by the fact Φ is a smooth psh ray, there exists a C > 0, such that $\varphi(t) - \varphi_0 < C(t+1)$.

Then we have For $\epsilon > 0$, there exists $i_0 \in \mathbb{N}$, such that for any $i, i' > i_0, |g_i - g_{i'}| < \epsilon$.

(5.34)
$$\frac{1}{t} \left| \int_{X} (\varphi(t) - \varphi_{0}) (g_{i,\varphi_{0}} - g_{i',\varphi_{0}}) \right| \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi_{0})^{n}}{n!} \leq \frac{\epsilon}{t} \left(\left| \int_{X} (\varphi(t) - \varphi_{0} - C(t+1)) \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} \right| + \left| \int_{X} C(t+1) \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!} \right| \right) \leq \epsilon \left(\left| (D \cdot \mathcal{L}^{\cdot n})_{g} - C' \right| + C' \right).$$

Take $t \to \infty$, we can see $|(D \cdot \mathcal{L}^{\cdot n})_{g_i} - (D \cdot \mathcal{L}^{\cdot n})_{g_{i'}}| < C'' \epsilon$, which implies $\mathbf{I}_g^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi) = \lim_{i \to \infty} \mathbf{I}_{g_i}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi)$ and is well-defined. Furthermore,

(5.35)
$$\mathbf{I}_{g}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi) = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \mathbf{I}_{g}(\varphi(t))$$
$$= \lim_{t \to \infty} \lim_{i \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \mathbf{I}_{g_{i}}(\varphi(t))$$
$$= \lim_{i \to \infty} \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \mathbf{I}_{g_{i}}(\varphi(t)) = \lim_{i \to \infty} \mathbf{I}_{g_{i}}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi) = \mathbf{I}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi)$$

where the third equality is because of (5.34) and dominated convergence theorem.

Set

(5.36)
$$\mathcal{H}_{T\times K}^{\mathrm{NA}} = \{ \phi = \phi_{(\mathcal{X},\mathcal{L})}; (\mathcal{X},\mathcal{L}) \text{ is a } T_{\mathbb{C}} \times \mathbb{G} \text{ equivariant test configuration of } (X,L) \}.$$

In the following, we will abbreviate $\phi_{(\mathcal{X},\mathcal{L})}$ as ϕ when there is no ambiguity. From now on, let \mathbb{G} be a reductive complex Lie group of $\operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$ (see Definition 1.4). Assume $\mathbb{G} = K_{\mathbb{C}}$ and let \mathbb{T} be the center of \mathbb{G} . Then $\mathbb{T} \cong (\mathbb{C}^*)^{\mathfrak{r}}$. We will denote $N_{\mathbb{Z}} = \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{C}^*, \mathbb{T}), N_{\mathbb{R}} = N_{\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R} \cong \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{r}}$.

Definition 5.13 (see [45]). For any $\xi \in N_{\mathbb{R}}$ and a $(T_{\mathbb{C}} \times \mathbb{G})$ -equivariant test configuration $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$, the ξ -twisted test configuration $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})_{\xi}$ is defined as the following. Let ζ be the holomorphic vector field that generates the \mathbb{C}^* -action of $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$. Then $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})_{\xi}$ is the \mathbb{T} -equivariant test configuration with the holomorphic vector field $\zeta + \xi$. If $\phi = \phi_{(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})}$, we also denote $\phi_{\xi} = \phi_{(\mathcal{X}_{\xi}, \mathcal{L}_{\xi})}$.

For any $\phi \in \mathcal{H}_{T \times K}^{\mathrm{NA}}$, set

(5.37)
$$\mathbf{J}_{g,\mathbb{T}}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi) = \inf_{\xi \in N_{\mathbb{R}}} \mathbf{J}_{g,\mathbb{T}}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi_{\xi}).$$

Proposition 5.14. For any $\xi \in N_{\mathbb{R}}$, it induces a test configuration ϕ_{ξ} with \mathbb{C}^* -action genearted by ξ . Then $\mathbf{J}_q^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi_{\xi}) = 0$ if and only if $\xi = 0$.

Proof. The "if" direction is straightforward. We need to show the "only if" direction. By (2.37), we have

(5.38)
$$\frac{1}{C} \le \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{\mathbf{J}(\sigma_{\xi}(t)^* \varphi)}{t} \le \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{\mathbf{J}_g(\sigma_{\xi}(t)^* \varphi)}{t} \le C \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{\mathbf{J}(\sigma_{\xi}(t)^* \varphi)}{t}.$$

Then $\mathbf{J}_g^{\infty}(\Phi_{\xi}) = 0$ implies $\mathbf{J}^{\infty}(\Phi_{\xi}) = \mathbf{J}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi_{\xi}) = 0$. By [16], this implies $\phi_{\xi} = 0$ and $\xi = 0$. \Box

We also have the following equivariant version of slope formula.

Proposition 5.15. Let $\phi = \phi_{(\mathcal{X},\mathcal{L})}$ be an $T_{\mathbb{C}} \times \mathbb{G}$ -equivariant ample normal test configuration. Let Φ be a $T \times K$ -invariant smooth psh ray associated to $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$. Then

(5.39)
$$\mathbf{J}_{g,\mathbb{T}}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi) = \mathbf{J}_{g,\mathbb{T}}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi).$$

Proof. LHS \geq RHS can be seen from the definition. We need to show LHS \leq RHS. We have $\inf_{\xi \in N_{\mathbb{R}}} \mathbf{J}_g(\sigma_{t\xi}^* \Phi(t)) = \mathbf{J}_g(\sigma_{t\xi}^* \Phi(t))$. First, we will show that $|\xi_t| \leq C$ for some C > 0. This is deduced from the quasi-triangle inequality

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{J}_g(\sigma_{t\xi_t}^*\varphi_0) &\leq C(\mathbf{J}_g(\sigma_{t\xi_t}^*\Phi(t)) + \sigma_{t\xi_t}^*\mathbf{J}_{g,\Phi(t)}(\varphi_0)) \\ &\leq C(\mathbf{J}_g^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi) \cdot t + o(t)). \end{aligned}$$

37

Since $|\xi_t| < C$, we can choose a sequence such that ξ_{t_j} converges to ξ_{∞} . We need to show that $\frac{1}{t_i} |\mathbf{J}_g(\sigma_{\xi_{t_i}}(t_j)^* \Phi(t_j)) - \mathbf{J}_g(\sigma_{\xi_{\infty}}(t_j)^* \Phi(t_j))| \to 0$. It suffices to show

(5.40)
$$\frac{1}{t_j} |\sigma_{t_j \xi_{t_j}}^* \Phi(t_j) - \sigma_{t_j \xi_\infty}^* \Phi(t_j)| \to 0,$$

since

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{J}_g(\sigma^*_{t_j\xi_{t_j}}\Phi(t_j)) - \mathbf{J}_g(\sigma^*_{t_j\xi_{\infty}}\Phi(t_j))| &\leq C\mathbf{I}(\sigma^*_{t_j\xi_{t_j}}\Phi(t_j), \sigma^*_{t_j\xi_{\infty}}\Phi(t_j)) \\ &\leq C'|\sigma^*_{t_j\xi_{t_j}}\Phi(t_j) - \sigma^*_{t_j\xi_{\infty}}\Phi(t_j)|. \end{aligned}$$

Choose $q \in \mathbb{N}$ such that sections of $q\mathcal{L}$ embed \mathcal{X} into a projection space. It turns out that it is equivalent and more convenient to work with the Fubini-Study metric φ_{FS} instead of φ . Let s_0, \dots, s_{N_q} be a basis of $H^0(X, qL)$. Denote ζ as the vector field that induces the \mathbb{C}^* -action of the test configuration. Denote the weight of ζ on s_i as λ_i ; denote the weight of ξ on s_i as $\langle \xi, a_i \rangle$. Then

$$\frac{1}{t_j} |\sigma_{\xi_{t_j}}(t_j)^* \varphi_{\rm FS}(t_j) - \sigma_{\xi_{\infty}}(t_j)^* \varphi_{\rm FS}(t_j)| = \frac{1}{t_j} |\log(\frac{\sum_i \tau_j^{-2(\lambda_i + \langle \xi_{\infty}, a_i \rangle)} |s_i|_{\varphi}^2}{\sum_i \tau_j^{-2(\lambda_i + \langle \xi_{\infty}, a_i \rangle)} |s_i|_{\varphi}^2})| \\
\leq |\langle \xi_{t_{i_0}} - \xi_{t_{\infty}}, a_{i_0} \rangle| + o(1) \\
\leq C |\xi_{t_j} - \xi_{\infty}| + o(1),$$

where $t_j = -\log |\tau_j|^2$, i_0 is the index such that $\lambda_{i_0} + \langle \xi_{\infty}, a_{i_0} \rangle = \sup_i \lambda_i + \langle \xi_{\infty}, a_i \rangle$. Then the proof is concluded.

Proposition 5.16. Let $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$ be a $T_{\mathbb{C}} \times \mathbb{G}$ -equivariant ample normal test configuration. Then $\mathbf{J}_{q,\mathbb{T}}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}) = 0$ if and only if $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$ is induced by σ_{ξ} , where $\xi \in N_{\mathbb{R}}$.

Proof. The "if" direction is straightforward. We need to show the "only if" direction. Let Φ be a smooth psh ray associated to $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$. As shown in the proof of Proposition 5.15, there exists a $\xi \in N_{\mathbb{R}}$, such that $\mathbf{J}_{g,\mathbb{T}}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}) = \mathbf{J}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}) = \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{\mathbf{J}_{g}(\sigma_{t\xi}^{*}\Phi(t))}{t}$. We may choose Φ be the pull-back of the Fubini-Study metric by the embedding $q\mathcal{L}$ for some $q \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $\{\lambda_{0}, \dots, \lambda_{N_{q}}\}$, $\{\mu_{0}, \dots, \mu_{N_{q}}\}$ be eigenvalues of the \mathbb{C}^{*} -action and ξ -action on $H^{0}(X, qL)$ accordingly. Then $\mathbf{J}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}) = \max_{0 \leq i \leq N_{q}}(\lambda_{i} + \mu_{i}) - \frac{1}{N_{q+1}}\sum_{i=0}^{N_{q}}(\lambda_{i} + \mu_{i}) = 0$. Consequently, $\lambda_{i} + \mu_{i} = \lambda_{j} + \mu_{j}$, and $(\mathcal{X}_{\xi}, \mathcal{L}_{\xi})$ is a trivial test configuration. Thus $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$ is test configuration induced by $\sigma_{-\xi}$.

5.6. **G-uniform stability and valuative criterion.** We introduce:

Definition 5.17. Let \mathbb{G} be a connected reductive subgroup of $\operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$ and \mathbb{T} be its center. $\mathbb{X} = (X, D + \Theta, T)$ is \mathbb{G} -uniformly g-Ding-stable if there exists $\gamma > 0$ such that for any $T_{\mathbb{C}} \times \mathbb{G}$ -equivariant test configuration $\phi \in \mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{NA}}(L)$, we have:

$$\mathbf{D}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi) \geq \gamma \cdot \mathbf{J}_{q,\mathbb{T}}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi).$$

In this section, we will explain a valuative criterion for the \mathbb{G} -uniform g-Ding-stability for \mathbb{X} which generalizes the results in [38, 59]. Since the proof is similar to the usual case as considered in [59] which generalizes the argument in [9]. We will only emphasize the key points and leave the details to the reader.

For simplicity of notations, we assume that L is Cartier. See [59, 2.4.2] for modifications of notations when L is only Q-Cartier. Let $W_{\bullet} = \{W_m\}$ be a T-invariant graded linear series ([55,

2.4.A]). We first define a g-weighted volume denoted by $\operatorname{vol}_q(W_{\bullet})$. For this, we decompose

(5.41)
$$W_m = \bigoplus_{\alpha \in M_{\mathbb{Z}}} W_{m,\alpha} \subset H^0(X, mL) =: R_m,$$

where $W_{m,\alpha} = \{s \in W_m; t \circ s = t^{\alpha} \cdot s\}$. Then we define:

(5.42)
$$\operatorname{vol}_g(W_{\bullet}) = \lim_{m \to +\infty} \frac{n!}{m^n} \sum_{\alpha} g(\frac{\alpha}{m}) \dim W_{m,\alpha}.$$

The existence of this limit can be proved using the theory of Newton-Okounkov bodies.

Let $\mathcal{F} = \{\mathcal{F}^{\lambda}R_m\}$ be a *T*-invariant filtration as considered in [15] (see [59, 2.4.2]). For each $\alpha \in M_{\mathbb{Z}}$, let $\lambda_1^{(m,\alpha)} \ge \lambda_2^{(m,\alpha)} \ge \cdots \ge \lambda_{N_{m,\alpha}}^{(m,\alpha)}$ be the successive minima of the filtration $\mathcal{F}^{\lambda}R_{m,\alpha}$. Set

(5.43)
$$f_m(\lambda) = \frac{n!}{m^n} \sum_{\substack{\lambda_k^{(m,\alpha)} \ge \lambda}} g(\frac{\alpha}{m}) \dim(\mathcal{F}^{m\lambda} R_{m,\alpha}),$$

(5.44)
$$\nu_m := -df_m(\lambda) = \frac{n!}{m^n} \sum_{\alpha,k} g(\frac{\alpha}{m}) \delta_{\frac{\lambda(m,\alpha)}{m}}.$$

On the other hand, we set $\mathcal{F}^{(\lambda)} = \{\mathcal{F}^{m\lambda}R_m\}$. Then as $m \to +\infty$, $f_m(\lambda) \to \operatorname{vol}_g(\mathcal{F}^{(\lambda)})$. So arguing as in [15], we know that ν_m converges to the measure:

(5.45)
$$\mathbf{DH}_g(\mathcal{F}) := \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_g} \left(-d\mathrm{vol}_g(\mathcal{F}^{(t)}) \right).$$

Let $\phi = \phi_{\mathcal{F}}$ be the (continuous) non-Archimedean metric associated to \mathcal{F} . Then we define:

(5.46)
$$\mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi_{\mathcal{F}}) = \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_{g}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \lambda(-d\mathrm{vol}_{g}(\mathcal{F}R_{\bullet}^{(\lambda)})).$$

For any $v \in (X^{\text{div}}_{\mathbb{O}})^T$, it defines a filtration \mathcal{F}_v by setting:

(5.47)
$$\mathcal{F}_{v}^{\lambda}R_{m} = \{s \in R_{m}; v(s) \ge \lambda\}.$$

In this case, by integration by parts, we known that:

(5.48)
$$\mathbf{E}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi_{\mathcal{F}_v}) = \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_g} \int_0^{+\infty} \mathrm{vol}_g(\mathcal{F}R^{(\lambda)}_{\bullet}) d\lambda = S_g(v)$$

where we introduced:

(5.49)
$$S_g(v) := S_{L,g}(v) := \frac{1}{\mathbb{V}_g} \int_0^{+\infty} \operatorname{vol}_g(\mathcal{F}R^{(\lambda)}_{\bullet}) d\lambda$$

We have the following valuative criterion:

Theorem 5.18. $(X, D + \Theta)$ is \mathbb{G} -uniformly g-Ding-stable if and only if there exists $\gamma > 1$ such that for any $v \in (X_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\text{div}})^T$, there exists $\xi \in N_{\mathbb{R}}$ satisfying:

(5.50)
$$A_{D+\Theta}(v_{\xi}) - \gamma \cdot S_g(v_{\xi}) \ge 0.$$

It is clear that we can adopt the proof in [59, Corollary 3.2] and [59, 4.2] to prove the valuative criterion for G-uniform g-Ding-stability without using the MMP program. In each step of the argument, we just need to replace $A_{(X,D)}$ by $A_{(X,D+\Theta)}$ and replace S(v) by $S_g(v)$. So we omit the details of the argument, except for recording the following useful lemma in its proof, which generalizes a corresponding inequality in [9, 59]. Note that the proof in [59, 4.2] does not need the solution of non-Archimedean Monge-Ampèand Legendre duality as used in [9].

Lemma 5.19. Given any $\phi = \phi_{(\mathcal{X},\mathcal{L})}$ for a $T_{\mathbb{C}} \times \mathbb{G}$ -equivariant semi-ample test configuration

(5.51)
$$\inf_{v \in (X_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\mathrm{div}})^{\mathbb{G}}} (S_g(v) + (\phi - \phi_{\mathrm{triv}})(v)) \ge \inf_{v \in X_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\mathrm{div}}} (S_g(v) + (\phi - \phi_{\mathrm{triv}})(v)) \ge \mathbf{E}_g^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi).$$

6. YAU-TIAN-DONALDSON CONJECTURE FOR TWISTED KÄHLER-RICCI q-SOLITONS

Lemma 6.1. Let $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$ be a $T_{\mathbb{C}} \times \mathbb{G}$ -equivariant normal ample test configuration. Let ξ be a holomorphic vector field in $N_{\mathbb{R}}$, $(X_{\mathbb{C}}, L_{\mathbb{C},\xi})$ be a product test configuration induced by ξ using the canonical lifting of ξ (see (4.6)). Then

(6.1)
$$\mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}) = \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}) + \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(L_{\mathbb{C},\xi})$$

(6.2)
$$\mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}) = \mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L})$$

and

(6.3)
$$\mathbf{Fut}_g(\xi) = -\mathbf{E}_g^{\mathrm{NA}}(L_{\mathbb{C},\xi}).$$

Proof. We will use the pull-back of Fubini-Study metric as a $T \times K$ -invariant smooth psh ray Φ associated to $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$. (details can be found in the proof of Proposition 5.15.) The advantage of using this metric is, we can express $\varphi(t) = \sigma_{t\lambda}^* \varphi$, where $\sigma_{t\lambda}$ is the C^{*}-action of the test configuration. Let Φ_{ξ} be the ξ -twisted psh ray. Then $\phi_{\xi}(t) = \sigma_{t\xi}^* \sigma_{t\lambda}^* \varphi = \sigma_{t\xi+t\lambda}^* \varphi$. Then

(6.4)

$$\mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}_{\xi}) = \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi_{\xi}) \\
= \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{\mathbf{E}_{g}(\varphi_{\xi}(t))}{t} \\
= \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{\mathbf{E}_{g}(\varphi_{\xi}(t) - \mathbf{E}_{g}(\varphi(t)))}{t} + \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{\mathbf{E}_{g}(\varphi(t))}{t} \\
= \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{\mathbf{E}_{g,\sigma_{t\lambda}^{*}\varphi}(\sigma_{t\lambda}^{*}\sigma_{t\xi}^{*}\varphi)}{t} + \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}) \\
= \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{\mathbf{E}_{g}(\sigma_{t\xi}^{*}\varphi)}{t} + \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}) \\
= \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(L_{\mathbb{C},\xi}) + \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L})$$

The identity for $\mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L})$ can be proved using the same argument as [59, Proposition 3.3]. Moreover, the identity (6.3) follows from the identity $\mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(L_{\mathbb{C},\xi}) = \int_{X} \theta_{\xi,\varphi} \mathrm{MA}_{g}(\varphi)$ and the formula (4.7) for the generalized Futaki-invariant.

Lemma 6.2. Let \mathbb{G} be the reductive Lie group defined before. Assume M is not \mathbb{G} -coercive. Then for any $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}^1_{T \times K}(X, L)$, there exists a $T \times K$ -invariant geodesic ray Φ emanating from φ satisfying:

(1) We have the normalization:

(6.5)
$$\sup(\varphi(t) - \varphi_0) = 0, \quad \mathbf{E}(\varphi(t)) = -t$$

(2)

$$\mathbf{M}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi) \le 0.$$

(3)

(6.7)
$$\inf_{\xi \in N_{\mathbb{R}}} \mathbf{J}^{\prime \infty}(\Phi_{\xi}) = 1.$$

Proof. Assume **M** is not G-coercive. Let φ be an arbitrary metric in $\mathcal{E}_{T\times K}^1(X, L)$. Then by the assumption and Lemma 3.4(ii), There exists a sequence of $\varphi_j \in \mathcal{E}_{T\times K}^1$, where $\mathbf{J}_g(\varphi_j) = \inf_{\sigma \in \mathbb{T}} \mathbf{J}_g(\sigma^*\varphi_j)$, such that $\mathbf{M}(\varphi_j) \leq \delta_j \mathbf{J}_g(\varphi_j) - C_j$, where $\delta_j \to 0$, and $C_j \to \infty$. Since the entropy $\mathbf{H}_{g,\Theta}(\varphi_j)$ has a lower bound, we have $\mathbf{J}_g(\varphi_j) \to \infty$. Let $\Phi_j(t)$ be the geodesic ray, that emanates from φ and passes through φ_j . Denote the distance between φ and φ_j by T_j . Then $\Phi_j(T_j) = \varphi_j$. By the convexity of **M** (Section 4.4), for $t \in [0, T_j]$, we have $\mathbf{M}(\Phi_j(t)) \leq (1 - \frac{t}{T_j})\mathbf{M}(\varphi) + (\delta_j \frac{\mathbf{J}_g(\varphi_j)}{T_j} - \frac{C_j}{T_j})t$.

We can assume $\sup(\varphi_j - \varphi_0) = 0$. As $j \to \infty$, up to choosing a subsequence, Φ_j converges weakly to a geodesic ray Φ . From our construction, we can see that Φ is not an orbit of \mathbb{T} . Let T > 0 be any positive constant. When $t \in [0, T]$, $\mathbf{H}_{g,\Theta}(\Phi_j(t))$ is uniformly bounded above. By Lemma 2.16, $\mathbf{I}_g(\Phi_j(t)), \mathbf{J}_g(\Phi_j(t))$ converges uniformly. In addition, $\mathbf{H}_{g,\Theta}$ is lower semi-continuous in strong topology. Then $\mathbf{M}(\Phi(t)) \leq \lim_{j\to\infty}(\mathbf{M}(\Phi_j(t))) \leq \mathbf{M}(\varphi)$. Since \mathbf{M} is also convex , \mathbf{M} is decreasing along Φ .

With the Hartogs' lemma 2.5 and arguing in the same way as [60, Proof of Proposition 6.2], we get the conclusion.

Now we can prove the Yau-Tian-Donaldson conjecture by using the method developed in [8, 9, 58, 46, 59].

Theorem 6.3. The generalized Ding functional **D** is \mathbb{G} -coercive if and only if \mathbb{G} is reductive and X is \mathbb{G} -uniform Ding-stabile.

proof of the "only if" direction. Let $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$ be an ample normal test configuration. Let Φ be a smooth psh ray associated to $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$. Since **D** is G-coercive, there exist $\delta > 0, C > 0$ such that $\mathbf{D}(\Phi(t)) \geq \delta \mathbf{J}_{g,\mathbb{T}}(\Phi(t)) - C$. Then by slope formulas,

(6.8)
$$\mathbf{D}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}) = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{\mathbf{D}(\Phi(t))}{t} \ge \lim_{t \to \infty} \delta \frac{\mathbf{J}_{g,\mathbb{T}}(\Phi(t))}{t} = \delta \mathbf{J}_{g,\mathbb{T}}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L})$$

Thus X is \mathbb{G} -uniform Ding-stable.

proof of the "if" direction. We will decompose the proof of the "only if" part into four steps.

Step 1: Construct a destabling geodesic ray.

Assume **D** is not \mathbb{G} -coercive. By Theorem 3.5, this implies **M** is not \mathbb{G} -coercive. By Lemma 6.2, there exists a destablizing geodesic ray Φ emanating from 0, which satisfies the conditions (6.5)-(6.7).

Step 2: Approximate the destablizing geodesic ray by test configurations. We use the construction in [9, 58].

We need two approximations: approximating L by ample line bundles over the resolution of X and approximating psh rays by test configurations.

Let $\rho : \tilde{X} \to X$ be a log resolution of singularities obtained by a composition of blowing-up along smooth centers. Assume $\{E_i\}$ are the exceptional divisors. Then there exist $b_i \in \mathbb{Q}_{>0}$ such that $\rho^*L - \sum_i b_i E_i$ is ample on \tilde{X} , where $L = -K_X - D - B$ as before. Moreover, we have the identity

$$-K_{\tilde{X}} - D' - \rho^* B = \frac{1}{1+\epsilon} \left(\rho^* (-K_X - D - B) + \epsilon (\rho^* (-K_X - D - B) - \sum_i b_i E_i) \right) + \sum_i (-a_i + \frac{\epsilon}{1+\epsilon} b_i) E_i.$$

Set:

$$\tilde{\Theta} = \rho^* \Theta, \quad D_{\epsilon} = D' + \sum_i (-a_i + \frac{\epsilon}{1+\epsilon} b_i) E_i, \quad P = \rho^* L - \sum_i b_i E_i, \quad L_{\epsilon} = \frac{1}{1+\epsilon} (\rho^* L + \epsilon P).$$

Then we have:

(6.10)
$$-K_{\tilde{X}} - D_{\epsilon} - \rho^* B = L_{\epsilon}.$$

Fix a smooth positively $e^{-\varphi_P}$ curved metric on P and set $\Phi_{\epsilon} = \frac{1}{1+\epsilon} (\rho^* \Phi + \epsilon \varphi_P)$. Then Φ_{ϵ} is a subgeodesic ray for the line bundle L_{ϵ} over \tilde{X} .

Let $\mathfrak{a}_m = \mathcal{J}(m\Phi_{\epsilon})$ be the multiplier ideal sheaf with respect to $m\Phi_{\epsilon}$. We would like to use the normal blow-up along \mathfrak{a}_m , $\operatorname{Bl}_{\mathfrak{a}_m}(\tilde{X}_{\mathbb{C}})$ as test configurations that approximate Φ_{ϵ} . Let $\hat{L}_{\epsilon} = (1 + \epsilon)L_{\epsilon}$, $\hat{\Phi}_{\epsilon} = (1 + \epsilon)\Phi_{\epsilon}$. We need to first show that, there exists an integer $m_0 > 0$, such that for any m > 0, $\mathcal{O}_{\tilde{X} \times \mathbb{C}}((m_0 + m)\hat{L}_{\epsilon} \otimes \mathfrak{a}_m)$ is globally generated. If so, $\operatorname{Bl}_{\mathfrak{a}_m}(\tilde{X}_{\mathbb{C}})$ can be embedded into a projective space, which provides a $T_{\mathbb{C}} \times \mathbb{G}$ -equivariant test configuration. By Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity theorem, in order to show finite generation, it suffices to show $H^i(\tilde{X}_{\mathbb{C}}, ((m_0 + m)\hat{L}_{\epsilon} - iP) \otimes \mathfrak{a}_m) = 0$, for any i > 0, which can be reduced to show that $R^i(\mathcal{O}_{\tilde{X}_{\mathbb{C}}}((m_0 + m)\hat{L}_{\epsilon} - (n + 1)P) \otimes \mathfrak{a}_m) = 0$. There exists an $m_0 > 0$, such that $-K_{\tilde{X}} + (m_0 + m)\hat{L}_{\epsilon} - (n + 1)P$ is p_2 -ample for any $m \in \mathbb{N}$, where $p_2 : \tilde{X}_{\mathbb{C}} \to \mathbb{C}$. By applying Nadel vanishing to $(-K_{\tilde{X}} + (m_0 + m)\hat{L} - (n + 1)P) \otimes \mathfrak{a}_m$, the vanishing of higher order direct image sheaves is proved.

By Demailly's Bergman kernel approximation, we have $\hat{\Phi}_{\epsilon,m} = \frac{1}{2(m_0+m)} \log(\sum_j |s_j^{(m)}|^2)$, where $\{s_j^{(m)}\}$ is an orthonormal basis of $H^0(\tilde{X}_{\mathbb{C}}, \mathcal{O}_{\tilde{X}_{\mathbb{C}}}(m_0+m)\hat{L}_{\epsilon} \otimes \mathfrak{a}_m)$, with respect to the L^2 -norm $\int_{\tilde{X}_{\mathbb{C}}} |s|^2 e^{m\Phi_{\epsilon}}$. Corresponding, we have $\hat{\phi}_{\epsilon,m} - \hat{\phi}_{\text{triv}}$ as a function on $\tilde{X}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\text{div}}$. By [8, Lemma 5.7], $\hat{\phi}_{\epsilon} \leq \hat{\phi}_{\epsilon,m} \leq \frac{m}{m_0+m}\hat{\phi}_{\epsilon} + \frac{1}{m}(A_{\tilde{X}}+1)$, and $\lim_{m\to\infty} \mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^{\text{NA}}(\hat{\phi}_{\epsilon,m}) = \mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^{\text{NA}}(\hat{\phi}_{\epsilon})$. By monotonicity of $\mathbf{E}_g, \mathbf{\Lambda}_g$ functionals, we have

(6.11)
$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \mathbf{E}_g^{\mathrm{NA}}(\hat{\phi}_{\epsilon,m}) \ge \mathbf{E}_g'^{\infty}(\hat{\Phi}_{\epsilon})$$

(6.12)
$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \mathbf{\Lambda}_g^{\mathrm{NA}}(\hat{\Phi}_{\epsilon,m}) \ge \mathbf{\Lambda}_g'^{\infty}(\hat{\Phi}_{\epsilon}).$$

Furthermore,

Lemma 6.4. For any $\xi \in N_{\mathbb{R}}$, (6.13) $\lim_{\xi \to 0} \mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}^{\prime\infty}(\hat{\Phi}_{\epsilon,\xi}) = \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi_{\xi}),$

(6.14)
$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \Lambda_{\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}^{\prime \infty}(\hat{\Phi}_{\epsilon,\xi}) = \Lambda^{\prime \infty}(\Phi_{\xi}),$$

(6.15)
$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\hat{\phi}_{\epsilon,\xi}) = \mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi)$$

Proof. Equalities (6.14), (6.15) have been shown in [59]. By [59], we also have

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} (\mathbf{E}_{\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\prime \infty} (\hat{\Phi}_{\epsilon,\xi}^{[\vec{k}]}) = (\mathbf{E}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\prime \infty} (\Phi_{\xi}^{[\vec{k}]}).$$

Since for any $\delta > 0$, there exists a polynomial $p_i = \sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}} \prod_{\alpha=1}^r y_i^{k_\alpha}$, such that $|p_i - g| < \delta$. As shown in the proof of Proposition 5.8, there exists a C > 0, uniform over ϵ , such that

$$|\mathbf{E}_{g,\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}^{\prime\infty}(\hat{\Phi}_{\epsilon,\xi}) - \sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}}(\mathbf{E}_{\varphi_{0,\epsilon}}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\prime\infty}(\hat{\Phi}_{\epsilon,\xi}^{[\vec{k}]})| < C\delta.$$

Then the uniform convergence implies (6.13).

Step 3: Completion of the proof By Lemma 6.2, **M** is decreasing along Φ . Then $\mathbf{D}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi) \leq \mathbf{M}^{\prime\infty} \leq 0$. By the construction of Φ , $\mathbf{\Lambda}^{\prime\infty}_{g}(\Phi) = 0$, $-\mathbf{E}^{\prime\infty}_{g}(\Phi) = \mathbf{J}^{\prime\infty}_{g,\mathbb{T}}(\Phi) = 1$. Then $\mathbf{L}^{\prime\infty}_{\Theta}(\Phi) \leq -1$. Choose a subsequence of \mathbb{G} -invariant divisorial valuations $v_k \in X^{\text{div}}$ such that

(6.16)
$$\mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi) \le A_{(X,D+\Theta)}(v_k) - G(v_k)(\Phi) < \mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi) + \frac{1}{k}$$

By valuation criterion, there exists $\delta = \delta_{\mathbb{G}}(X, D + \Theta) > 1$, and $\xi_k \in N_{\mathbb{R}}$, such that

(6.17)
$$A_{(X,D+\Theta)}(v_{k,\xi_k}) \ge \delta S_g(v_{k,\xi_k})$$

From the argument of the valuation criterion in Theorem 5.18 and the same calculation as in [58, 4.4], we have

(6.18)
$$A_{(\tilde{X}, D_{\epsilon} + \tilde{\Theta})}(v_{k, \xi_k}) \ge \delta' S_{L_{\epsilon}, g}(v_{k, \xi_k})$$

where $\delta' > 1$. Indeed, this follows from the estimate: there exists C > 0 such that for any $v \in X_{\mathbb{O}}^{\text{div}}$,

$$\frac{A_{(\tilde{X}, D_{\epsilon} + \tilde{\Theta})}(v)}{S_{L_{\epsilon}, g}(v)} \ge (1 - C\epsilon) \frac{A_{(X, D + \Theta)}(v)}{S_{g}(v)}$$

for some C > 0, which follows from two inequalities:

(1) Note that the identity $D_{\epsilon} = D_0 + \frac{\epsilon}{1+\epsilon} \sum_i b_i E_i$.

$$\frac{A_{(\tilde{X},D_{\epsilon}+\tilde{\Theta})}(v)}{A_{(X,D+\Theta)}(v)} = \frac{A_{\tilde{X}}(v) - v(D_{\epsilon}) - v(\Theta)}{A_{\tilde{X}}(v) - v(D_{0}) - v(\Theta)} = 1 - \frac{\epsilon}{1+\epsilon} \frac{\sum_{i} b_{i}v(E_{i})}{A_{\tilde{X}}(v) - v(D_{0}) - v(\Theta)} \\
\geq 1 - \frac{\epsilon}{1+\epsilon} \operatorname{lct}(\tilde{X},D_{0}+\Theta + \sum_{i} b_{i}E_{i})^{-1}.$$

(2) Recall that $L_{\epsilon} = \rho^* L - \frac{\epsilon}{1+\epsilon} \sum_i b_i E_i$. It is easy to see that the integrands in S_g and $S_{L_{\epsilon},g}$ has a comparison:

(6.19)
$$\operatorname{vol}_g(L - xv) \ge \operatorname{vol}_g(L_\epsilon - xv).$$

Moreover by the same argument as in [59, 3.1] (see also [60, 2.1.3]), we have the identity for any $\xi \in N_{\mathbb{R}}$:

$$(\phi_{\epsilon,m,\xi} - \phi_{\mathrm{triv}})(v) = (\phi_{\epsilon,m} - \phi_{\mathrm{triv}})(v_{\xi}) + A_{(\tilde{D},D_{\epsilon}+\tilde{\Theta})}(v_{\xi}) - A_{(\tilde{D},D_{\epsilon}+\tilde{\Theta})}(v).$$

Again note that we are using the canonical lifting of ξ (see (4.6)) to twist the non-Archimedean metric.

Now we can estimate in the same way as [59]:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{L}_{(\tilde{X}, D_{\epsilon} + \tilde{\Theta})}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi_{\epsilon,m}) + O(\epsilon, m^{-1}, k^{-1}) \\ &= A_{(\tilde{X}, D_{\epsilon} + \tilde{\Theta})}(v_{k}) + (\phi_{\epsilon,m} - \phi_{\mathrm{triv}})(v_{k}) \\ &= A_{(\tilde{X}, D_{\epsilon} + \tilde{\Theta})}(v_{k, \xi_{k}}) + (\phi_{\epsilon,m, -\xi_{k}} - \phi_{\mathrm{triv}})(v_{k, \xi_{k}}) \\ &\geq \delta' S_{L_{\epsilon}}(v_{k, \xi_{k}}) + (\phi_{\epsilon,m, -\xi_{k}} - \phi_{\mathrm{triv}})(v_{k, \xi_{k}}) \\ &\geq \delta' \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}((\delta')^{-1}(\phi_{\epsilon,m, -\xi_{k}} - \phi_{\mathrm{triv}})) \\ &= (-\delta' \mathbf{J}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\delta'^{-1}(\phi_{\epsilon,m, -\xi_{k}} - \phi_{\mathrm{triv}})) + \mathbf{J}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}((\phi_{\epsilon,m, -\xi_{k}} - \phi_{\mathrm{triv}}))) + \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}((\phi_{\epsilon,m, -\xi_{k}} - \phi_{\mathrm{triv}}))) \\ &\leq (1 - (\delta')^{\frac{-1}{C}}) \mathbf{J}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}((\phi_{\epsilon,m, -\xi_{k}} - \phi_{\mathrm{triv}})) + \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}((\phi_{\epsilon,m, -\xi_{k}} - \phi_{\mathrm{triv}}))) \\ &= (1 - (\delta')^{\frac{-1}{C}}) \mathbf{J}_{g}^{\infty}(\Phi_{\epsilon,m, -\xi_{k}}) + (\delta')^{\frac{-1}{C}} \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi_{\epsilon,m, -\xi_{k}}) \\ &\geq (1 - (\delta')^{\frac{-1}{C}}) \mathbf{J}_{g}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi_{-\xi_{k}}) + \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi_{-\xi_{k}}) \\ &= (1 - (\delta')^{\frac{-1}{C}}) \mathbf{J}_{g}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi_{-\xi_{k}}) + \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi_{-\xi_{k}}) \\ &= (1 - (\delta')^{\frac{-1}{C}}) \mathbf{J}_{g}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi_{-\xi_{k}}) + \mathbf{E}_{g}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi_{-\xi_{k}}) \\ &\geq (1 - (\delta')^{\frac{-1}{C}}) - 1 = -(\delta')^{\frac{-1}{C}}. \end{split}$$

The second inequality used Lemma 5.19. The last inequality uses (6.7). Moreover we have used the identity (6.3) and the fact the $\mathbf{Fut}_g(\xi_k) \equiv 0$. Letting $\epsilon \to 0, m \to +\infty, k \to +\infty$, we get a contradiction to $\mathbf{L}^{NA}(\phi) \leq -1$.

Remark 6.5. By the same argument as in [59, 5.4], we actually know that $|\xi_k|$ in the above proof is uniformly bounded. Moreover, if X is smooth, then the above argument can be simplified (see [9, 46, 60])

7. STABILITY VIA SPECIAL TEST CONFIGURATIONS

Definition 7.1. A test configuration $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$ of (X, L) is a special test configuration if \mathcal{X}_0 is a normal projective variety and \mathcal{L} is relatively ample.

Remark 7.2. If (X, D) is log Fano and $\Theta = 0$, then the usual definition of special test configuration also requires that $\mathcal{L} \sim_{\pi,\mathbb{Q}} -(K_{\mathcal{X}} + D)$. Since we are considering the general twisting, the special test configuration is in a more general sense compared with the log Fano case. See also Remark 7.9.

Theorem 7.3. Let $\mathbb{G} \subseteq \operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$ be a reductive subgroup. Then $(X, D + \Theta)$ is \mathbb{G} -uniformly g-Ding-stable if and only if if it is \mathbb{G} -uniformly g-Ding-stable for all $T_{\mathbb{C}} \times \mathbb{G}$ -equivariant special test configurations.

We will use the notations for g-intersection of equivariant line bundles as defined in Definition 5.10. The following observation is the key to our later calculations.

Theorem 7.4. Let $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$ be a test configuration of (X, L). Assume $\mathcal{X}_0 = \sum_i b_i E_i$. Assume that $\mathcal{L}_{\lambda} = \mathcal{L} + \sum_i c_i(\lambda)E_i$ for $\lambda \in [0, \epsilon)$ and $c_i(\lambda)$ are differentiable functions of $\lambda \in [0, \epsilon)$. We have the following formula:

(7.1)
$$\frac{d}{d\lambda} \frac{1}{(n+1)!} (\bar{\mathcal{L}}_{\lambda}^{n+1})_g = \frac{1}{n!} (\bar{\mathcal{L}}_{\lambda}^{n} \cdot \frac{d\bar{\mathcal{L}}_{\lambda}}{d\lambda})_g = \sum_i \frac{dc_i}{d\lambda} \int_{E_i} g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{n!},$$

where φ is a smooth Hermitian metric on $\mathcal{L}_0 \to \mathcal{X}_0$. In particular, if $\frac{dc_i(\lambda)}{d\lambda} \geq 0$ and $g \geq 0$ over P, then we have the non-negativity:

(7.2)
$$\frac{d}{d\lambda} (\bar{\mathcal{L}}_{\lambda}^{\cdot n+1})_g \ge 0$$

Proof. If $g = y^{\vec{k}}$ is a monomial, then we have $\frac{(\bar{\mathcal{L}}^{\cdot n+1})_g}{(n+1)!} = \frac{(\bar{\mathcal{L}}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\cdot n+k+1}}{(n+k+1)!}$. So

(7.3)
$$\frac{d}{d\lambda} \frac{(\mathcal{L}^{\cdot n+1})_g}{(n+1)!} = \frac{1}{(n+k)!} (\mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\cdot n+k} \cdot \dot{\mathcal{L}}^{[\vec{k}]} = \frac{1}{n!} (\bar{\mathcal{L}}^{\cdot n} \cdot \dot{\mathcal{L}})_g.$$

By using the construction in our proof of Proposition 2.2, we see that (7.1) holds for monomial and hence any polynomial function g. For a general continuous g, by Stone-Weierstrass theorem, we can find a sequence of polynomials functions g_i that converges to g uniformly over P. Then

$$\frac{d}{d\lambda} \frac{(\bar{\mathcal{L}}_{\lambda}^{\cdot n+1})_{g}}{(n+1)!} = \frac{d}{d\lambda} \lim_{i \to +\infty} \frac{(\bar{\mathcal{L}}_{\lambda}^{\cdot n+1})_{g_{i}}}{(n+1)!} \\ = \lim_{i \to +\infty} \frac{d}{d\lambda} \frac{(\bar{\mathcal{L}}_{\lambda}^{\cdot n+1})_{g_{i}}}{(n+1)!} = \lim_{i \to +\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \left(\mathcal{L}^{\cdot n} \cdot \frac{d}{d\lambda} \mathcal{L}_{\lambda} \right)_{g_{i}}.$$

The conclusion follows easily. Note that the switch of limit and derivative follows from the following standard fact from real analysis.

Theorem 7.5 ([74]). Suppose $\{f_m\}$ is a sequence of functions, differentiable on [a, b] and such that $f_m(x_0)$ converges for some point $x_0 \in [a, b]$. If $\{f'_m\}$ converges uniformly on [a, b], then $\{f_m\}$ converges uniformly on [a, b], to a function f, and

(7.4)
$$f'(x) = \lim_{m \to +\infty} f'_m(x).$$

Now we assume that \mathfrak{S} is *T*-invariant sub-linear system of |mB| for some $m \in \mathbb{N}$. Choose a *T*-equivariant basis $\mathfrak{s} := \{s_1, \ldots, s_N\}$. Then $e^{-\psi} = \frac{1}{(\sum_i |s_i|^2)^{2/m}}$ is a possibly singular Hermitian metric on *B* and its curvature current is

(7.5)
$$\Theta := \Theta_{\mathfrak{s}} := \frac{1}{m} \mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \log \sum_{i} |s_{i}|^{2}$$

In this case, we say that Θ is associated to the sub-linear system \mathfrak{S} .

Lemma 7.6. Let \mathfrak{S} be a *T*-invariant sub-linear system of |mB|. Then for a generic choice of basis $\mathfrak{s} = \{s_1, \ldots, s_N\}$ the following statement holds true: there is a character $\chi : \operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta_{\mathfrak{s}}) \to \mathbb{C}^*$ such that for any $s \in \mathfrak{S}$, we have $\sigma \cdot s = \chi(s)s$. In particular, \mathfrak{S} is $\operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta_{\mathfrak{s}})$ -invariant.

Proof. Let $\xi \in \mathfrak{aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$ also denote the corresponding holomorphic vector field. Then

(7.6)
$$0 = \iota_{\xi}\Theta = \bar{\partial}\left(\frac{\sum_{i} \langle \mathfrak{L}_{\xi}s_{i}, s_{i} \rangle}{\sum_{i} |s_{i}|^{2}}\right)$$

Since $\mathfrak{s} = \{s_i\}$ is generic, we have $\mathfrak{L}_{\xi}s_i = \chi(\xi)s_i$ for some $\chi(\xi) \in \mathbb{C}^*$.

For any $\Delta \in \frac{1}{m}\mathfrak{S}$, we set:

(7.7)
$$\mathbf{L}_{\Delta}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi) = \frac{1}{n!} \inf_{v} \left(A_{(X,D)}(v) - v(\Delta) + \phi(v) \right).$$

Lemma 7.7. With the above assumptions,

(7.8)
$$\mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi) = \sup \left\{ \mathbf{L}_{\Delta}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi); \Delta \in \mathfrak{S} \right\}.$$

Moreover for a general divisor $\Delta \in \mathfrak{S}$, we have $\mathbf{L}^{\mathrm{NA}}_{\mathfrak{S}}(\phi) = \mathbf{L}_{\Delta}(\phi)$.

This follows easily from the identity: for any $v \in X_{\mathbb{O}}^{\text{div}}$,

(7.9)
$$v(\Theta) = \inf\left\{v(\Delta); \Delta \in \frac{1}{m}\mathfrak{S}\right\} = \frac{1}{m}v(\mathfrak{b}(\mathfrak{S})),$$

where $\mathfrak{b}(\mathfrak{S})$ is the base ideal of \mathfrak{S} . We will follow the MMP process in [57] that was adapted to the Ding stability in [8, 38], and to the twisted K-stability in [11]. We will essentially show that the MMP process respects the twisted *g*-Ding-stability as well. Moreover, by the argument in [59, 4.1], we don't need to worry about the twisting by $\xi \in N_{\mathbb{R}}$ in the calculation.

Theorem 7.8. Let $\mathbb{X} = (X, D, \Theta_{\mathfrak{s}})$ and $\mathfrak{s} \subset \mathfrak{S}$ be as above. Let $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})/\mathbb{P}^1$ be a normal, ample test configuration for (X, L). There is an integer d and a special test configuration $(\mathcal{X}^s, \mathcal{L}^s)$ such that for any $\epsilon \in [0, 1]$ and any $\xi \in N_{\mathbb{R}}$, we have

(7.10)
$$\mathbf{D}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi^{s}) - \epsilon \mathbf{J}_{g,\mathbb{T}}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi^{s}) \ge d \cdot \left(\mathbf{D}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi) - \epsilon \mathbf{J}_{g,\mathbb{T}}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi)\right).$$

Proof. Step 1: Choose a general divisor $\Delta \in \frac{1}{m} \mathfrak{S}$. Set $Q = D + \Delta$ and $L = -K_X - D - \Delta$.

Then there exist $d \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$, a projective birational \mathbb{C}^* -equivariant morphism $\pi : \mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{lc}} \to \mathcal{X}^{(d)}$ and a normal, ample test configuration $(\mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{lc}}, \mathcal{Q}^{\mathrm{lc}}, \mathcal{L}^{\mathrm{lc}})/\mathbb{P}^1$ for (X, Q, L) such that for any $\epsilon \in [0, 1]$ and any $\xi \in N_{\mathbb{R}}$,

(7.11)
$$d\left(\mathbf{D}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi_{\xi}) - \epsilon \mathbf{J}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi_{\xi})\right) \ge \mathbf{D}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi_{\xi}^{\mathrm{lc}}) - \epsilon \mathbf{J}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi_{\xi}^{\mathrm{lc}}).$$

Choose a semistable reduction of $\mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{C}$. By this, we mean that there is an integer d and a \mathbb{G} -equivariant log resolution of singularities $\tilde{\mathcal{X}} \to \mathcal{X}_d := \mathcal{X} \times_{\mathbb{C}, t \to t^d} \mathbb{C}$ such that $(\tilde{\mathcal{X}}, \mathcal{X}_0)$ is simple normal crossing. Since the linear system \mathfrak{S} is $(T_{\mathbb{C}} \times \mathbb{G})$ -invariant, we can run a $(T_{\mathbb{C}} \times \mathbb{G} \times \mathbb{C}^*)$ -equivariant MMP (see [2, 70, 72]) to get a log canonical modification: $\pi^{\mathrm{lc}} : \mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{lc}} \to \mathcal{X}_d$ such that if $\mathcal{Q}^{\mathrm{lc}}$ is the pushforward of \mathcal{Q} then $(\mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{lc}}, \mathcal{X}_0^{\mathrm{lc}} + \mathcal{Q}^{\mathrm{lc}})$ is log canonical and $K_{\mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{lc}}} + \mathcal{Q}^{\mathrm{lc}}$ is relatively ample over \mathcal{X}_d . In the following calculation, we can assume d = 1 by multiplicativity of both sides of (7.11). Set $E = K_{\mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{lc}}} + \mathcal{Q}^{\mathrm{lc}} + (\pi^{\mathrm{lc}})^* \mathcal{L} = \sum_{i=1}^k e_i \mathcal{X}_{0,i}$ with $e_1 \leq e_2 \leq \cdots \leq e_k$ and $\mathcal{L}_{\lambda} = \rho^* \mathcal{L} + \lambda E$. Then

$$\mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi_{\lambda,\xi}) = \mathbf{L}_{\Theta}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi_{\lambda}) = \mathbf{L}_{\Delta}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi_{\lambda}) = (1+\lambda)e_{1}.$$

As in the argument in [59], we can reduce the calculation to the case when $\xi = 0$ in which case:

$$n!(\mathbf{D}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi_{\lambda}) - \epsilon \mathbf{J}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi_{\lambda})) = -(1-\epsilon) \frac{(\mathcal{L}_{\lambda}^{n+1})_{g}}{n+1} - \epsilon (\bar{\mathcal{L}}_{\lambda} \cdot L_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}^{n})_{g} + (1+\lambda)e_{1}$$
$$= -(1-\epsilon) \frac{(\bar{\mathcal{L}}_{\lambda}^{n+1})_{g}}{n+1} - \epsilon (\bar{\mathcal{L}}_{s} \cdot L_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}^{n})_{g} + (1+\lambda)e_{1}(\mathcal{X}_{0}^{\mathrm{lc}} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{L}}^{\cdot n})_{g}$$

To see that the difference is decreasing, we calculate:

$$n! \frac{d}{d\lambda} (\mathbf{D}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}} - \epsilon \mathbf{J}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}})(\phi_{\lambda}) = -(1 - \epsilon)(\bar{\mathcal{L}}_{\lambda}^{\cdot n} \cdot E)_{g} - \epsilon(E \cdot (L_{\mathbb{P}^{1}})^{\cdot n})_{g} + e_{1}$$

$$= -(1 - \epsilon)(\bar{\mathcal{L}}_{\lambda}^{\cdot n} \cdot E)_{g} + (1 - \epsilon)e_{1}(\mathcal{X}_{0}^{\mathrm{lc}} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{L}}_{\lambda}^{\cdot n})_{g} - \epsilon(E \cdot (L_{\mathbb{P}^{1}})^{\cdot n})_{g} + \epsilon e_{1}(\mathcal{X}_{0}^{\mathrm{lc}} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{L}}^{\cdot n})_{g}$$

$$= -\sum_{i}(e_{i} - e_{1})\left[(1 - \epsilon)(E_{i} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{L}}_{\lambda}^{\cdot n})_{g} + \epsilon(E_{i} \cdot (L_{\mathbb{P}^{1}})^{\cdot n})_{g}\right] \leq 0.$$

By the argument in [11], we know that the outcome $(\mathcal{X}^{lc}, \mathcal{L}^{lc})$ does not depend on the choice of the general member of $\Delta \in \frac{1}{m} \mathfrak{S}$. Moreover $\mathcal{Q}^{\mathrm{lc}}$ is just the closure of $Q \times \mathbb{C}^*$ in $\mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{lc}}$ (Q is called compatible with \mathcal{X}^{lc} in [11]).

Step 2: With the $(\mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{lc}}, \mathcal{Q}^{\mathrm{lc}}, \mathcal{L}^{\mathrm{lc}})$ obtained from the first step, we run a relative MMP with scaling to get a normal, ample test configuration $(\mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{ac}}, \mathcal{L}^{\mathrm{ac}})/\mathbb{P}^1$ for $(X, -K_X)$ with $(\mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{ac}}, \mathcal{Q}^{\mathrm{ac}} +$ $\mathcal{X}_0^{\mathrm{ac}}$) log canonical such that $-(K_{\mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{ac}}} + \mathcal{Q}^{\mathrm{ac}}) \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathcal{L}^{\mathrm{ac}}$. Because $m\Delta \in \mathfrak{S}$ is a general member of the G-invariant linear system, the MMP is automatically G-equivariant and the outcome does not depend on the choice of Δ . Moreover, for any $\epsilon \in [0, 1]$ we have:

(7.12)
$$\mathbf{D}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi^{\mathrm{lc}}) - \epsilon \mathbf{J}_{g,\mathbb{T}}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi^{\mathrm{lc}}) \ge \mathbf{D}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi^{\mathrm{ac}}) - \epsilon \mathbf{J}_{g,\mathbb{T}}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi^{\mathrm{ac}}).$$

More concretely, we take $\ell \gg 1$ such that $\mathcal{H}^{lc} = \mathcal{L}^{lc} - (\ell + 1)^{-1} (\mathcal{L}^{lc} + K_{\mathcal{X}^{lc}} + \mathcal{Q}^{lc})$ is relatively ample. Set $\mathcal{X}^0 = \mathcal{X}^{\text{lc}}, \ \mathcal{Q}^0 = \mathcal{Q}^{\text{lc}}, \ \mathcal{L}^0 = \mathcal{L}^{\text{lc}}, \ \mathcal{H}^0 = \mathcal{H}^{\text{lc}}$ and $\lambda_0 = \ell + 1$. Then $K_{\mathcal{X}^0} + \mathcal{Q}^0 + \lambda_0 \mathcal{H}^0 = \mathcal{H}^{\text{lc}}$ $\ell \mathcal{L}^0$. We run a sequence of $(K_{\mathcal{X}^0} + \mathcal{Q}^0)$ -MMP over \mathbb{C} with scaling of \mathcal{H}^0 . Then we obtain a sequence of models

$$\mathcal{X}^0 \dashrightarrow \mathcal{X}^1 \dashrightarrow \cdots \dashrightarrow \mathcal{X}^k$$

and a sequence of critical values

$$\lambda_{i+1} = \min\{\lambda; K_{\mathcal{X}^i} + \mathcal{Q}^i + \lambda \mathcal{H}^i \text{ is nef over } \mathbb{C}\}\$$

with $\ell + 1 = \lambda_0 \ge \lambda_1 \ge \cdots \ge \lambda_k > \lambda_{k+1} = 1$. For any $\lambda_i \ge \lambda \ge \lambda_{i+1}$, we let \mathcal{H}^i (resp. \mathcal{Q}^i) be the pushforward of \mathcal{H} (resp. \mathcal{Q}) to \mathcal{X}^i and set

(7.13)
$$\mathcal{L}^{i}_{\lambda} = \frac{1}{\lambda - 1} \left(K_{\mathcal{X}^{i}} + \mathcal{Q}^{i} + \lambda \mathcal{H}^{i} \right) = \frac{1}{\lambda - 1} \left(K_{\mathcal{X}^{i}} + \mathcal{Q}^{i} + \mathcal{H}^{i} \right) + \mathcal{H}^{i} =: \frac{1}{\lambda - 1} E + \mathcal{H}^{i}$$

Write $E = \sum_{i=1}^{k} e_i \mathcal{X}_{0,i}^i$ with $e_1 \leq e_2 \leq \cdots \leq e_k$. By the argument in [59], we reduce to the case when $\xi = 0$ in which case the statement follow from the following decreasing property (see [38] and [57]):

$$n! \frac{d}{d\lambda} \mathbf{D}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi_{\lambda}^{i}) = \frac{d}{d\lambda} \left(-(1-\epsilon) \frac{(\bar{\mathcal{L}}_{\lambda}^{i\cdot n+1})_{g}}{n+1} - \epsilon(\bar{\mathcal{L}} \cdot (L_{\mathbb{P}^{1}})^{\cdot n})_{g} + \frac{\lambda}{\lambda-1} e_{1} \right)$$

$$= (1-\epsilon) \frac{1}{(\lambda-1)^{2}} (E \cdot \bar{\mathcal{L}}^{i\cdot n})_{g} + \epsilon \frac{1}{(\lambda-1)^{2}} (E \cdot (L_{\mathbb{P}^{1}})^{\cdot n})_{g} - \frac{1}{(\lambda-1)^{2}} e_{1}$$

$$= \frac{1}{(\lambda-1)^{2}} \sum_{i} (e_{i} - e_{1}) \left[(1-\epsilon) (E_{i} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{L}}^{\cdot n})_{g} + \epsilon(E_{i} \cdot (L_{\mathbb{P}^{1}})_{g}^{\cdot n}] \right] \ge 0.$$

Step 3: With the test configuration $(\mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{ac}}, \mathcal{Q}^{\mathrm{ac}}, \mathcal{L}^{\mathrm{ac}})$ obtained from step 2, there exists $d \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ and a projective birational $T_{\mathbb{C}} \times \mathbb{C}^*$ -equivariant birational map $\mathcal{X}^{(d)} \dashrightarrow \mathcal{X}^s$ over \mathbb{P}^1 such that:

(7.14)
$$d(\mathbf{D}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi^{\mathrm{ac}}) - \epsilon \mathbf{J}_{g,\mathbb{T}}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi^{\mathrm{ac}})) \ge \mathbf{D}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi^{s}) - \epsilon \mathbf{J}_{g,\mathbb{T}}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi^{s})$$

As in [57], this is achieved by doing a base change and run an MMP. By the argument in [11], the outcome does not depend on the $\Delta \in \frac{1}{m}\mathfrak{S}$ and is automatically \mathbb{G} -equivariant. Let $E = -K_{\mathcal{X}^s/\mathbb{P}^1} - (-K_{\mathcal{X}'/\mathbb{P}^1})$. Then $E \ge 0$ by the negativity lemma. $\mathcal{L}_{\lambda} = -K_{\mathcal{X}'/\mathbb{P}^1} + \lambda E$.

As in [59], we verify the decreasing (7.14) by reducing to the case when $\xi = 0$, and calculate:

$$n! \frac{d}{d\lambda} (\mathbf{D}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi_{\lambda}) - \epsilon \mathbf{J}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi_{\lambda})) = -\frac{d}{d\lambda} \left((1-\epsilon) \frac{(\bar{\mathcal{L}}^{\cdot n+1})_{g}}{n+1} - \epsilon (\bar{\mathcal{L}} \cdot (L_{\mathbb{P}^{1}})^{\cdot n})_{g} + te_{1} \right)$$
$$= -\sum_{i} (e_{i} - e_{1}) \left[(1-\epsilon) (E_{i} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{L}}^{\cdot n})_{g} + \epsilon (E_{i} \cdot (L_{\mathbb{P}^{1}})^{\cdot n})_{g} \right] \leq 0.$$

So we have obtained special test configuration $(\mathcal{X}^s, \mathcal{Q}^s, \mathcal{L}^s)$ of (X, Q) which is $T_{\mathbb{C}} \times \mathbb{G}$ -equivariant.

Remark 7.9. If $B \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} t(-K_X - D)$ for some $t \in [0, 1)$, then $-(K_X + D) = \frac{1}{1-t}(-K_X - D - B) = \frac{1}{1-t}L$. The end product $\pi^s : (\mathcal{X}^s, \mathcal{D}^s) \to \mathbb{C}$ is a special test configuration of (X, D) satisfying $-(K_{\mathcal{X}^s} + \mathcal{D}^s) \sim_{\pi^s, \mathbb{Q}} \frac{1}{1-t}\mathcal{L}$.

As in [60, section 4] which generalizes [38, 39], Theorem 7.8 yields another proof of the valuative criterion when Θ is associated to a linear system:

Corollary 7.10. Let (X, D, Θ) be as above. Then the valuative criterion holds true. In other words, $(X, D + \Theta)$ is G-uniformly g-Ding-stable if and only if there exists $\gamma > 1$ such that for any $v \in X^{\text{div}}$, there exists $\xi \in N_{\mathbb{R}}$ satisfying:

(7.15) $A_{D+\Theta}(v_{\xi}) - \gamma \cdot S_g(v_{\xi}) \ge 0.$

8. Examples

It should be clear that our results generalize most of variational study of Kähler-Ricci/Mabuchi soliton metrics on log Fano varieties. Here we just point out some simple consequence. We leave the other applications to the interested reader.

Recall that $\mathbb{T} = C(\operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta))$ is a complex torus of rank \mathfrak{r} . Any one-parameter subgroup of \mathbb{T} generated by $\xi \in N_{\mathbb{R}}$ gives a $T_{\mathbb{C}} \times \operatorname{Aut}_T(X, D, \Theta)$ -equivariant product (\mathbb{R} -)test configuration $(X_{\mathbb{C},\xi}, L_{\mathbb{C},\xi})$ of (X, L). In this case, $\mathbf{D}_g^{\mathrm{NA}}(X_{\mathbb{C},\xi}, L_{\mathbb{C},\xi}) = \operatorname{Fut}_g([\omega], \xi)$. Since we can replace ξ by $-\xi$, we see that the \mathbb{G} -uniform g-Ding semistability implies that $\operatorname{Fut}_g([\omega], \xi) = 0$ for any $\xi \in N_{\mathbb{R}}$.

When $\log g$ is affine, the equation (1.6) reduces to the Kähler-Ricci soliton equation, and when g is affine, it reduces to the case of Mabuchi solitons. Note that in these two cases, the vanishing of Futaki invariant uniquely determines the function g, which means the uniqueness of V in (1.1) and (1.2) for which the corresponding equation could possibly have a solution.

Generalizing the application of results in [25], it is clear that the theorem 1.7 allows us to get new examples of Kähler-Ricci *q*-solitons on possibly singular varieties with large symmetries.

For example, let (X, D) be a log Fano toric variety determined by a monotone labelled polytope $P = \{l_i = \langle \nu_i, x \rangle \leq 1\}$ (see [56]). For simplicity assume $\Theta = 0$. By Theorem 1.7, we know that the existence of Kähler-Ricci g-soliton is equivalent to the vanishing of generalized Futaki invariant which is equivalent to the vanishing of the weighted barycenter:

(8.1)
$$\int_{P} x_{i}g(x)dx = 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$

This generalizes the works on toric Kähler-Ricci solitons in [84, 75, 4, 56] when log g is affine, and existence results about toric Mabuchi solitons in [87, 68] when g is affine. Note that in the Mabuchi soliton case, the constraint (8.1) uniquely determines $g = 1 - \theta_P$ where θ_P is the extremal function as defined in [42]. The condition g > 0, which we assumed, becomes an obstruction to the existence of solutions to the corresponding equation.

More generally, similar applications can be applied to T-varieties of complexity one (see [23, 47]) and spherical varieties as in [29] or Fano G-varieties (for a reductive complex Lie group G) as in [63]. In other words, one can effectively check their stability hence get the (non-)existence of g-soliton on such varieties.¹

¹T. Delcroix pointed to us that a related generation for the existence of coupled complex Monge-Ampère equations on Fano horosymmetric manifolds has appeared in [30].

9. Appendix: Mabuchi functional as Kempf-Ness functionals

In this section, we will build up the moment map for the equation (1.6). We will not use the moment map explicitly in our paper. However, the moment map provides us with a Kempf-Ness picture, which illustrates the naturality of using the variational approach to study (1.6). For simplicity, we will only formulate the moment map for any polarized projective manifold (X, L) without twistings by D and Θ . After the completion of the paper, we were informed by Inoue that the moment map picture has been built up for Kähler Ricci solitons in [48] and constant weighted scalar-curvature Kähler metrics in [53]. Nonetheless, for the completeness of the paper, we will still include a proof under our settings in this Appendix.

Recall our notation: the holomorphic vector fields V_1, \ldots, V_r are generators of the complexified toric action $T_{\mathbb{C}}$. We will fix the Symplectic form ω in the following. We will define the following Lie algebra of the Hamiltonian action

(9.1)
$$Lie(\mathcal{G}) = \{ v \in C_0^\infty(X) : v \text{ is } T \text{-invariant.} \}$$

where $(\bar{\partial}v)^{\#} = V_v^{1,0} = \varphi^{i\bar{j}}\partial_{\bar{j}}v$. The Lie algebra is associated with a metric $\langle, \rangle_{g_{\varphi}}$ defined by

(9.2)
$$\langle v_1, v_2 \rangle_{g_{\varphi}} = \int_X v_1 v_2 g_{\varphi} (\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n$$

for any $v_1, v_2 \in Lie(\mathcal{G})$, where $g_{\varphi} = e^{f_{\varphi}}$.

Let \mathcal{J} be the set of almost complex structures on X that are compatible with the symplectic form $\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi$. The moduli space under our consideration is

 $\mathcal{J}_T := \{J \in \mathcal{J} : J \text{ is integral, invariant under the } T \text{-action and is compatible with } \mathrm{dd}^c \varphi \}$

The space \mathcal{J} is associated with a Symplectic form $(,)_{g_{\varphi}}$ induced by $\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi$:

(9.4)
$$(\mu_1, \mu_2)_{g_{\varphi}} = \int_X \langle \mu_1, \mu_2 \rangle_{\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi} g_{\varphi} (\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n$$

for any $\mu_1, \mu_2 \in T_J \mathcal{J}$. $(,)_{g_{\varphi}}$ is closed since $g_{\varphi} \omega^n$ is a 2*n*-form independent of the choice of the complex structure.

Denote $T^{1,0} = (TX_{\mathbb{C}})^{1,0}$. Then $T_J \mathcal{J} \simeq \Omega^{0,1}(T^{1,0})$. Since J is unitary, the Symplectic form ω induces a duality $\Omega^{0,1}(T^{1,0}) \simeq S^2(T^{1,0})$.

Define the action of $Lie(\mathcal{G})$ on \mathcal{J}_T by: $\mathfrak{L}_{V_v^{1,0}}J$ where $V_v^{1,0} = JV_v + \sqrt{-1}V_v$, V_v is the Hamiltonian vector field induced by v. Let \odot denotes for the symmetric product. By [34, Lemma 10] $\mathfrak{L}_{V_v^{1,0}}J = \bar{\partial}V_v^{1,0} - \overline{V_v^{1,0}} \square N$, where N = 0 when J is integrable. We can see that the image of the action is kept to be T-invariant. Let V_{θ_α} be the Hamiltonian vector field induced by θ_α , i.e., $V_{\theta_\alpha} \square dd^c \varphi = d\theta_\alpha$. Since J is T-invariant, $\mathfrak{L}_{V_{\theta_\alpha}}J = 0$. Furthermore, since J is integrable, $\mathfrak{L}_{JV_{\theta_\alpha}}J = 0$, which implies $\xi_\alpha = JV_{\theta_\alpha} + \sqrt{-1}V_{\theta_\alpha}$ is a holomorphic vector field with respect to J. We also have $\dot{\theta}_\alpha = 0$, $\dot{f}_{\varphi} = \sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \dot{\theta}_{\alpha} = 0$.

Proposition 9.1. For the action defined above, the corresponding moment map m is

(9.5)
$$R_{\varphi} - \underline{R} - \Delta f_{\varphi} - \frac{\underline{R}}{n} \sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\varphi) - V_{f,\varphi}(f_{\varphi}) - \sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\log((\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n})),$$

where R_{φ} is the scalar curvature.

Remark 9.2. We can compare the definition above with the moment map defined in [34] for the case of Kähler Einstein (CscK). In that case, the moment map is uniquely determined up to

a constant. For the definition (9.5), **m** is uniquely determined up to a constant and the choice of the lifting of ξ_{α} ($\alpha = 1, \dots, r$) to the line bundle L.

When $L = -K_X$, let $h_{\varphi} = -\log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{e^{-\varphi}})$, we can reformulate (9.5) into

(9.6)
$$\Delta(h_{\varphi} - f_{\varphi}) + V_{f,\varphi}(h_{\varphi} - f_{\varphi})$$

Proof. A direct calculation shows that:

$$\left(\sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\varphi)\right)' = \sum_{\alpha} (f_{\alpha} \theta_{\alpha})' = 0.$$

 $(\sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}} \log((\mathrm{dd}^{c} \varphi)^{n}))' = \sum_{\alpha} (f_{\alpha} \Delta \theta_{\alpha})'$. We only need to show that the dual of the infinitesimal action is the infinitesimal moment map, which is

(9.7)
$$\mathbf{m}' = R'_{\varphi} - (V_{f,\varphi}(f_{\varphi}))' - (\Delta f_{\varphi})' - \sum_{\alpha} (f_{\alpha} \Delta \theta_{\alpha})'.$$

Since $V_{f,\varphi}(f_{\varphi}) = \sum_{\alpha,\beta} f_{\alpha} f_{\beta} \xi_{\alpha}(\theta_{\beta}) = \sum_{\alpha,\beta} f_{\alpha} f_{\beta} (\mathrm{dd}^{c} \varphi)^{i\bar{j}} \partial_{i} \theta_{\alpha} \partial_{\bar{j}} \theta_{\beta} = \sum_{\alpha,\beta} f_{\alpha} f_{\beta} \omega (JV_{\theta_{\alpha}}, V_{\theta_{\beta}})$, we have

$$(9.8) \qquad (V_{f,\varphi}(f_{\varphi}))' = \sum_{\alpha,\beta} f_{\alpha} f_{\beta} \omega(\mu V_{\theta_{\alpha}}, V_{\theta_{\beta}}) = \sum_{\alpha,\beta} f_{\alpha} f_{\beta}(\xi_{\alpha} \odot \xi_{\beta}, \mu) = (V_{f,\varphi} \odot V_{f,\varphi}, \mu).$$

The infinitesimal action $P : Lie(\mathcal{G}) \to S^2(T^{1,0})$ can be furthermore decomposed into: $P = P_2 \circ P_1$,

(9.9)
$$P_1: Lie(\mathcal{G}) \to \Gamma(T^{1,0}), \ v \to V_v^{1,0},$$

(9.10)
$$P_2: T^{1,0} \to S^2(T^{1,0}), \ v \to \mathfrak{L}_v J.$$

Now consider the dual of P. Let $\mu \in S^2(T^{1,0}) \simeq \Omega^{0,1}(T^{1,0})$.

Then by [34][proof of Proposition 9] and an integration by parts calculation,

$$(P(v),\mu)_{g_{\varphi}} = (\mathfrak{L}_{V_{v}}J,\mu) = -(\bar{\partial}V_{v}^{1,0},\mu)_{g_{\varphi}}$$

$$= \int_{X} -(V_{v}^{1,0},\bar{\partial}^{*}\mu)g_{\varphi}\omega^{n} + \int_{X} (V_{v}^{1,0}\odot V_{f,\varphi},\mu)g_{\varphi}\omega^{n}$$

$$= \int_{X} vR'_{\varphi}g_{\varphi}\omega^{n} + \int_{X} v\sum_{\alpha,\beta} f_{\alpha\beta}(\xi_{\alpha}\odot\xi_{\beta},\mu)g_{\varphi}\omega^{n} + 2\int_{X} (\mu,V_{v}^{1,0}\odot V_{f,\varphi})g_{\varphi}\omega^{n}$$

$$+ \int_{X} v(V_{f,\varphi}\odot V_{f,\varphi},\mu)g_{\varphi}\omega^{n}$$

And

$$(-\int_{X} v\Delta f_{\varphi} g_{\varphi} \omega^{n})' = \left(\int_{X} \left(\omega(Jdv, df_{\varphi}) + v\omega(Jdf_{\varphi}, df_{\varphi})\right) g_{\varphi} \omega^{n}\right)'$$
$$= \int_{X} (\mu, V_{f,\varphi} \odot V_{v}^{1,0}) g_{\varphi} \omega^{n} + \int_{X} v(\mu, V_{f,\varphi} \odot V_{f,\varphi}) g_{\varphi} \omega^{n},$$

$$(-\sum_{\alpha} \int_{X} v f_{\alpha} \Delta \theta_{\alpha} g_{\varphi} \omega^{n})' = \left(\int_{X} \sum_{\alpha\beta} v f_{\alpha\beta} \omega (Jdf_{\beta}, df_{\alpha}) g_{\varphi} \omega^{n} \right. \\ \left. + \sum_{\alpha,\beta} v f_{\alpha} f_{\beta} \omega (Jdf_{\beta}, df_{\alpha}) g_{\varphi} \omega^{n} + \sum_{\alpha} f_{\varphi} \omega (Jdf_{\alpha}, dv) g_{\varphi} \omega^{n} \right)' \\ \left. = \sum_{\alpha,\beta} \int_{X} f_{\alpha\beta} (\mu, \xi_{\alpha} \odot \xi_{\beta}) g_{\varphi} \omega^{n} + \int_{X} v(\mu, V_{f,\varphi} \odot V_{f,\varphi}) g_{\varphi} \omega^{n} \\ \left. + \int_{X} (\mu, V_{f,\varphi} \odot V_{v}^{1,0}) g_{\varphi} \omega^{n} \right)$$

By summing up the results above, we have

$$(v, R'_{\varphi} - (V_{f,\varphi}(f_{\varphi}))' - (\Delta f_{\varphi})' - \sum_{\alpha} (f_{\alpha} \Delta \theta_{\alpha})')_{g_{\varphi}}$$
$$= \int_{X} v \left(R'_{\varphi} - (V_{f,\varphi}(f_{\varphi}))' - (\Delta f_{\varphi})' \right) g_{\varphi} \omega^{n} = (\mu, \mathfrak{L}_{v}J)_{g_{\varphi}}$$

The proof is concluded.

Then the dual of P is $R'_{f,\varphi} - (V_{f,\varphi}(f_{\varphi}))'$. This concludes the proof.

We have the following formal picture. By Kempf-Ness, the stable points in GIT quotient $\mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{C}} /\!\!/ \mathcal{G}$ corresponds to the symplectic quotient $\mathbf{m}^{-1}(0)/\mathcal{G}$. We should expect the solution to (1.6) is equivalent to a stability condition. Meanwhile, the generalized Mabuchi functional can by considered as a Kempf-Ness functional (compatible with (4.8))

$$\mathbf{M}(\varphi) = \int_{0}^{1} dt$$
$$\int_{X} \dot{\varphi} \Big(-R_{\varphi} + \underline{R} + \Delta f_{\varphi} + \frac{\underline{R}}{n} \sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}} \varphi + V_{f,\varphi}(f_{\varphi}) + \sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \mathfrak{L}_{\xi_{\alpha}}(\log((\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n})) \Big) g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}$$

Since the Kempf-Ness functional is "convex" (the Hamiltonian of **m** can be considered as the Kähler potential of the moduli space), we should expect the generalized Mabuchi-functional is convex along the weak geodesic.

When $L = -K_X$, let $h_{\varphi} = -\log((\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n) - \varphi$ be the Ricci potential. Then $\mathfrak{m} = \Delta(h_{\varphi} - f_{\varphi}) + V_{f,\varphi}(h_{\varphi} - f_{\varphi}) = 0$ implies $h_{\varphi} - f_{\varphi} = 0$, which furthermore implies the g-soliton equation $Ric_{\varphi} = \mathrm{dd}^c \varphi + \mathrm{dd}^c f_{\varphi}$.

Remark 9.3. It seems to us that the formula for Mabuchi functionals used in [46] from [46], Definition 2.21, (2.47)] is not correct, since its variation does not give the correct soliton equation.

Moreover, it appears that in [13] to make some argument work, the Mabuchi functional from [13, Page 23] should be defined as $F_V(MA_g(\varphi))$ instead of $F_V(MA(\varphi))$.

10. Appendix: Non-Archimedean Entropy and generalized Mabuchi functional

In this appendix, we will define the non-Archimedean entropy $\mathbf{H}_{g,\Theta}^{NA}$ and generalized Mabuchi functional \mathbf{M}^{NA} . We will also show the slope formulas for them. For simplicity, we will only consider the case when X is a smooth Fano manifold, and $\Theta = 0, D = 0$. In this case, $d\mu_0 = e^{-\varphi_0}$, and $\mathbf{H}_{g,\Theta}$ is reduced to \mathbf{H}_g . See [86, 50] for related discussions.

10.1. **Polynomial** g. First, assume $g = \sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}} \prod_{\alpha=1}^{r} \theta_{\alpha}^{k_{\alpha}}$ is a polynomial, where \vec{k} is in a finite set.

(10.1)
$$\mathbf{H}_{g}(\varphi) = \int_{X} \log(\frac{g_{\varphi}(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}/n!}{d\mu_{0}}) g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}$$
$$= \sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}} \mathbf{H}^{[\vec{k}]}(\varphi)$$

where

(10.2)
$$\mathbf{H}^{[\vec{k}]}(\varphi) = \int_{X} \log(\frac{g_{\varphi}(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}/n!}{d\mu_{0}}) \prod_{\alpha} \theta_{\alpha}^{k_{\alpha}} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}$$
$$= \int_{X^{[\vec{k}]}} \log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}/n!}{d\mu_{0}}) \frac{((\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k}}{(n+k)!} + \int_{X^{[\vec{k}]}} \log(g_{\varphi}) \frac{((\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k}}{(n+k)!}$$

Recall that, for a test configuration $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$ that dominates $X \times \mathbb{C}^1$, for the entropy $\int_X \log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n / n!}{e^{-\varphi_0}}) \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{n!}$, the corresponding non-Archimedean entropy is defined as [16]

(10.3)
$$\int_{X_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\mathrm{div}}} A_X(v) \mathrm{MA}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi) = \mathcal{K}_{\overline{\mathcal{X}}/\mathbb{P}^1}^{\mathrm{log}} \cdot \overline{\mathcal{L}}^{\cdot n} - \rho^* (K_{X_{\mathbb{P}^1}/\mathbb{P}^1}^{\mathrm{log}}) \cdot \overline{\mathcal{L}}^{\cdot n}$$

where $\rho : \mathcal{X} \dashrightarrow \mathcal{X} \times \mathbb{C}, \ (\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \overline{\mathcal{L}})$ is the compactified test configuration.

Following the same idea, we give the non-Archimedean definition for the entropy functional in our setting.

Definition 10.1. Let $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$ be a test configuration that dominates $X \times \mathbb{C}^1$. Define the non-Archimedean version entropies for $\mathbf{H}^{[\vec{k}]}, \mathbf{H}_g$ as

(10.4)
$$(\mathbf{H}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]}) = (\mathcal{K}_{\overline{\mathcal{X}}/\mathbb{P}^{1}}^{\mathrm{log}})^{[\vec{k}]} \cdot (\overline{\mathcal{L}}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\cdot(n+k)} - (\rho^{[\vec{k}]})^{*} (K_{X_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}/\mathbb{P}^{1}}^{\mathrm{log}})^{[\vec{k}]} \cdot (\overline{\mathcal{L}}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\cdot(n+k)}$$
$$\mathbf{H}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}) = \sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}} (\mathbf{H}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\mathrm{NA}} (\mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]})$$

Remark 10.2. $K_X^{[\vec{k}]}$ and $K_{X^{[\vec{k}]}}$ are two different Cartier divisors in general. $-K_X^{[\vec{k}]}$ is ample under our construction. However, $X^{[\vec{k}]}$ is in general not a Fano variety.

Recall the generalized Mabuchi functional

(10.5)
$$\mathbf{M}(\phi) = \mathbf{H}_g(\varphi) + \int_X (\varphi - \varphi_0) g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{n!} - \mathbf{E}_g(\varphi)$$

and

$$\int_{X} (\varphi - \varphi_0) g_{\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \varphi)^n}{n!} = \sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}} \int_{X} (\varphi - \varphi_0) \prod_{\alpha} \theta_{\alpha}^{k_{\alpha}} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \varphi)^n}{n!}$$
$$= \sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}} \int_{X^{[\vec{k}]}} (\varphi^{[\vec{k}]} - \varphi_0^{[\vec{k}]}) \frac{((\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}} \varphi)^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k}}{(n+k)!}$$

and

$$\begin{split} &\int_{X^{[\vec{k}]}} \log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{e^{-\varphi_{0}}}) \frac{((\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k}}{(n+k)!} + \int_{X^{[\vec{k}]}} (\varphi^{[\vec{k}]} - \varphi^{[\vec{k}]}_{0}) \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n+k}}{(n+k)!} - \mathbf{E}^{[\vec{k}]}(\phi^{[\vec{k}]}) = \\ &\langle (\log((\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}))^{[\vec{k}]}, \varphi^{[\vec{k}]}, \cdots, \varphi^{[\vec{k}]}\rangle_{X^{[\vec{k}]}} - \langle \varphi^{[\vec{k}]}_{0}, \cdots, \varphi^{[\vec{k}]}_{0}\rangle_{X^{[\vec{k}]}} \\ &+ (\langle \varphi^{[\vec{k}]}, \cdots, \varphi^{[\vec{k}]}\rangle_{X^{[\vec{k}]}} - \langle \varphi^{[\vec{k}]}_{0}, \cdots, \varphi^{[\vec{k}]}_{0}\rangle_{X^{[\vec{k}]}}) - \mathbf{E}^{[\vec{k}]}(\varphi^{[\vec{k}]}) \end{split}$$

where $\langle \cdots \rangle_{X^{[\vec{k}]}}$ denotes the metric on the Deligne pairing. Since we have chosen φ_0 as the reference metric, $\langle \varphi_0^{[\vec{k}]}, \cdots, \varphi_0^{[\vec{k}]} \rangle_{X^{[\vec{k}]}} = 0$. The calculation above inspires the following definition. **Definition 10.3.** Let $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$ be a test configuration. We define the non-Archimedean version of the generalized Mabuchi functional as

(10.6)
$$(\mathbf{M}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]}) = \mathbf{H}^{[\vec{k}]}(\mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]}) - \mathbf{I}^{[\vec{k}]}(\mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]}) + \mathbf{J}^{[\vec{k}]}(\mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]})$$

which is equivalent to

(10.7)

$$(\mathbf{M}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]}) = \mathbf{H}^{[\vec{k}]}(\mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]}) + (D^{[\vec{k}]} \cdot (\mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\cdot n+k} - \mathbf{E}^{[\vec{k}]}(\mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]})$$

$$= \mathbf{H}^{[\vec{k}]}(\mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]}) + (\overline{\mathcal{L}}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\cdot n+k+1} + (\rho^{[\vec{k}]})^* K_X^{[\vec{k}]} \cdot (\overline{\mathcal{L}}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\cdot n+k} - \mathbf{E}^{[\vec{k}]}(\mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]})$$

$$= (\mathcal{K}^{\log}_{\overline{\mathcal{X}}/\mathbb{P}^1})^{[\vec{k}]} \cdot (\overline{\mathcal{L}}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\cdot n+k} + (n+k)\mathbf{E}^{[\vec{k}]}(\overline{\mathcal{L}}^{[\vec{k}]})$$

$$\mathbf{M}^{\mathrm{NA}}_g(\mathcal{L}) = \sum_{\vec{k}} a_{\vec{k}} (\mathbf{M}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]})$$

10.2. **continuous** g. In this subsection, we will first show several estimates that will be used later, then define $\mathbf{H}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}, \mathbf{M}^{\mathrm{NA}}$ for continuous g. At last, we will prove the corresponding slope formulas. Let g_i be a sequence of polynomials that converges to g in $C^0(P)$ -norm. Let $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$ be an ample normal test configuration that dominates $X \times \mathbb{C}$. Let $e^{\Psi_{\mathrm{ref}}}$ be a smooth metric on $\mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{C}}^{\mathrm{log}}$. This auxilliary metric is introduced in [16] in the proof of the slope formulas. We will use it in the proof of the estimates below.

Lemma 10.4. There exists a C > 0, such that

(10.9)
$$|\int_X \log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n / n!}{e^{\psi_{\mathrm{ref}}}}) g_{i\varphi} \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n}{n!} | < C(\log|t|+1)$$

Proof. The constant C may change from line by line in the proof below. By the proof of [16, Lemma 3.10], there exists a C > 0, such that $\log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi)^n / n!}{e^{\psi_{\mathrm{ref}}}}) < C$ uniformly for all t. Then

$$\begin{split} &|\int_{X} \log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}/n!}{e^{\psi_{\mathrm{ref}}}})g_{i\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}|\\ &\leq |\int_{X} (\log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}/n!}{e^{\psi_{\mathrm{ref}}}}) - C)g_{i\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}| + C\int_{X}g_{i\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}\\ &\leq \sup_{P}(g_{i})|\int_{X} (\log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}/n!}{e^{\psi_{\mathrm{ref}}}}) - C)\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}| + C\\ &\leq C(|\int_{X}\log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}/n!}{e^{\psi_{\mathrm{ref}}}})\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{\mathrm{c}}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}| + 1)\\ &< C(\log|t|+1) \end{split}$$

The last inequality is by [16, Lemma 3.10].

Lemma 10.5. For any $\epsilon > 0$, there exists an $i_0 > 0$, such that for any $i, j > i_0$,

(10.10)
$$|\int_X \log(\frac{e^{\psi_{\text{ref}}}}{d\mu_0})(g_{i\varphi} - g_{j\varphi})\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^c\varphi)^n}{n!}| < \epsilon(t+1)$$

Proof. Since g_i converges to g in $C^0(P)$, for any $\epsilon' > 0$, there exists an i_0 , such that for any $i, j > i_0, |g_i - g_j| < \epsilon'$. Since we restrict to the case that X is a Fano manifold, $d\mu_0 = e^{-h_0} \frac{\mathrm{dd}^c \varphi_0^n}{n!}$ is smooth and non-degenerate. Since $e^{\psi_{\mathrm{ref}}}$ is a smooth metric on $\mathcal{K}_{\overline{\mathcal{X}}/\mathbb{P}^1}^{\log}$, there exists a C > 0 such that $\log(\frac{\psi_{\mathrm{ref}}}{d\mu_0}) < C$ uniformly. Then

$$\begin{split} &|\int_{X} \log(\frac{e^{\psi_{\text{ref}}}}{d\mu_{0}})(g_{i\varphi} - g_{j\varphi})\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}|\\ &\leq |\int_{X} (\log(\frac{e^{\psi_{\text{ref}}}}{d\mu_{0}}) - C)(g_{i\varphi} - g_{j\varphi})\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}| + C\epsilon'\\ &\leq C\epsilon'(|\int_{X} \log(\frac{e^{\psi_{\text{ref}}}}{d\mu_{0}})\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}| + 1)\\ &\leq C\epsilon'(C't + 1) \end{split}$$

where the last line is by [16, Lemma 3.9].

Lemma 10.6. $(\mathbf{H}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\prime \infty}(\Phi) = (\mathbf{H}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi), \ (\mathbf{M}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\prime \infty}(\Phi) = (\mathbf{M}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi).$

Proof. Since $e^{\psi_{\text{ref}}}, e^{-\varphi_0}$ are smooth metrics on $\mathcal{K}^{\log}_{\overline{\mathcal{X}}/\mathbb{P}^1}, (\rho)^* K^{\log}_{X_{\mathbb{P}^1}/\mathbb{P}^1}$, by [16, Lemma 3.9], we have

(10.11)
$$\langle \psi_{\text{ref}}^{[\vec{k}]}, \varphi^{[\vec{k}]}, \cdots, \varphi^{[\vec{k}]} \rangle - \langle \psi_{\text{ref},0}^{[\vec{k}]}, \varphi_0^{[\vec{k}]}, \cdots, \varphi_0^{[\vec{k}]} \rangle = t(\mathcal{K}_{\overline{\mathcal{X}}/\mathbb{P}^1}^{\log})^{[\vec{k}]} \cdot (\mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\cdot (n+k)} + O(1)$$

$$(10.12) \quad \langle \varphi_0^{[\vec{k}]}, \varphi^{[\vec{k}]}, \cdots, \varphi^{[\vec{k}]} \rangle - \langle \varphi_0^{[\vec{k}]}, \varphi_0^{[\vec{k}]}, \cdots, \varphi_0^{[\vec{k}]} \rangle = t(\rho^{[\vec{k}]})^* (K_{X_{\mathbb{P}^1}/\mathbb{P}^1}^{\log})^{[\vec{k}]} \cdot (\mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\cdot (n+k)} + O(1)$$

Then

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathbf{H}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\prime\infty}(\Phi) &= \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{X^{[\vec{k}]}} \log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}/n!}{e^{-\varphi_{0}}}) \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k}}{(n+k)!} \\ &= \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \Big(\int_{X^{[\vec{k}]}} \log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}/n!}{e^{\psi_{\mathrm{ref}}}}) \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k}}{(n+k)!} + \int_{X^{[\vec{k}]}} \log(\frac{e^{\psi_{\mathrm{ref}}}}{e^{\varphi_{0}}}) \frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi^{[\vec{k}]})^{n+k}}{(n+k)!} \Big) \\ &= \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \Big(\langle \psi^{[\vec{k}]}_{\mathrm{ref}}, \varphi^{[\vec{k}]}, \cdots, \varphi^{[\vec{k}]} \rangle - \langle \psi^{[\vec{k}]}_{\mathrm{ref},0}, \varphi^{[\vec{k}]}_{0}, \cdots, \varphi^{[\vec{k}]}_{0} \rangle - (\langle \varphi^{[\vec{k}]}_{0}, \varphi^{[\vec{k}]}, \cdots, \varphi^{[\vec{k}]} \rangle - \langle \varphi^{[\vec{k}]}_{0}, \varphi^{[\vec{k}]}_{0}, \cdots, \varphi^{[\vec{k}]}_{0} \rangle) \Big) \\ &= (\mathcal{K}^{\mathrm{log}}_{\overline{\mathcal{X}}/\mathbb{P}^{1}})^{[\vec{k}]} \cdot (\mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\cdot (n+k)} - (\rho^{[\vec{k}]})^{*} (\mathcal{K}^{\mathrm{log}}_{X_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}/\mathbb{P}^{1}})^{[\vec{k}]} \cdot (\mathcal{L}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\cdot (n+k)} \end{aligned}$$

where the equality of the second and third line is because of Lemma 10.4. The proof for $(\mathbf{M}^{[\vec{k}]})^{\text{NA}}$ follows similarly.

Definition 10.7. For a continuous function g, we define the non-Archimedean entropy and generalized Mabuchi functional as

(10.13)
$$\mathbf{H}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}) = \lim_{i \to \infty} \mathbf{H}_{g_{i}}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L})$$

(10.14)
$$\mathbf{M}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L}) = \lim_{i \to \infty} \mathbf{M}_{g_i}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\mathcal{L})$$

where $\mathbf{M}_{g_i}^{\text{NA}}$ is the generalized Mabuchi functional with respect to g_i .

Proposition 10.8. The limits in (10.13),(10.14) converge. And we have the slope formulas $\mathbf{H}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi) = \mathbf{H}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi)$ (10.15)

$$\mathbf{1}_{g} (\mathbf{1}) \mathbf{1}_{g} (\boldsymbol{\varphi})$$

(10.16)
$$\mathbf{M}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi) = \mathbf{M}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi)$$

Proof. By Lemma 10.6, for each polynomial g_i , $\mathbf{H}_{g_i}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi) = \mathbf{H}_{g_i}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi)$. Let i_0 be sufficiently large, and $i, j > i_0$. By Lemma 10.4, Lemma 10.5,

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{H}_{g_{i}}(\varphi) - \mathbf{H}_{g_{j}}(\varphi)| &\leq \\ |\int_{X} \log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}/n!}{e^{\psi_{\mathrm{ref}}}})g_{i\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}| + |\int_{X} \log(\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}/n!}{e^{\psi_{\mathrm{ref}}}})g_{j\varphi}\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}| \\ + |\int_{X} \log(\frac{e^{\psi_{\mathrm{ref}}}}{d\mu_{0}})(g_{i\varphi} - g_{j\varphi})\frac{(\mathrm{dd}^{c}\varphi)^{n}}{n!}| \leq C(\epsilon t + \log(t) + 1) \end{aligned}$$

Then $\frac{1}{t}\mathbf{H}_{g_i}(\varphi)$ converges to $\mathbf{H}_{g_i}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi) = \mathbf{H}_{g_i}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi)$ uniformly. Specifically, $|\mathbf{H}_{g_i}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi) - \mathbf{H}_{g_j}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi)| < C\epsilon$. Then $\mathbf{H}_{g_i}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi)$ is a Cauchy sequence, which converges to a limit $\mathbf{H}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi)$. And by the dominated convergence theorem, $\mathbf{H}_{g}^{\prime\infty}(\Phi) = \mathbf{H}_{g}^{\mathrm{NA}}(\phi)$. The statement for \mathbf{M}^{NA} can be proved similarly.

References

- [1] M.F. Ativah and R. Bott: The moment map and equivariant cohomology, Topology 23 (1984), no. 1, 1-28.
- [2] M. Andreatta: Actions of linear algebraic groups on projective manifolds and minimal model program, Osaka J. Math. 38 (2001), 151-166.
- [3] R. Berman: K-stability of Q-Fano varieties admitting Kähler-Einstein metrics, Invent. Math. 203 (2015), no.3, 973-1025.
- [4] R. Berman, B. Berndtsson: Real Monge-Ampère equations and Kähler-Ricci solitons on toric log Fano varieties, Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse Math. (6) 22 (4) (2013) 649-711.
- [5] R. Berman, R. Berndtsson, Convexity of the K-energy on the space of Kähler metrics, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 30 (2017), 1165-1196.
- [6] R. Berman, S. Boucksom, P. Eyssidieux, V. Guedj, A. Zeriahi: Kähler-Einstein metrics and the Kähler-Ricci flow on log Fano varieties, arXiv:1111.7158. To appear in J. Reine Angew. Math.
- [7] R. Berman, S. Boucksom, V. Guedj, A. Zeriahi: A variational approach to complex Monge-Ampère equations. Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Etudes Sci. 117 (2013), 179-245.
- [8] R. Berman, S. Boucksom, M. Jonsson: A variational approach to the Yau-Tian-Donaldson conjecture, arXiv:1509.04561v1.
- [9] R. Berman, S. Boucksom, M. Jonsson: A variational approach to the Yau-Tian-Donaldson conjecture, arXiv:1509.04561v2.
- [10] R. Berman, T. Darvas, and C. H. Lu: Convexity of the extended K-energy and the large time behaviour of the weak Calabi flow, Geom. Topol. 21 (2017), 2945-2988.
- [11] H. Blum, Y. Liu and C. Zhou: Optimal destabilization of K-unstable Fano varieties via stability thresholds, arXiv:1907.05399.
- [12] R. Berman and S. Boucksom: Growth of balls of holomorphic sections and energy at equilibrium. Invent. Math. 181 (2010), no.2, 337-394.
- [13] Robert Berman and Nystrom David Witt: Complex optimal transport and the pluripotential theory of Kähler-Ricci solitons, arXiv:1401.8264.
- [14] B. Berndtsson: A Brunn-Minkowski type inequality for Fano manifolds and some uniqueness theorems in Kähler geometry. Invent. Math. 200 (2015), no. 1, 149-200.
- [15] S. Boucksom, H. Chen: Okounkov bodies of filtered linear series, Compositio Math. 147 (2011) 1205-1229.
- [16] S. Boucksom, T. Hisamoto and M. Jonsson: Uniform K-stability, Duistermaat-Heckman measures and singularities of pairs, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 67 (2017), 87-139. arXiv:1504.06568.

JIYUAN HAN AND CHI LI

- [17] S. Boucksom, T. Hisamoto and M. Jonsson: Uniform K-stability and asymptotics of energy functionals in Kähler geometry, to appear in J. Eur. Math. Soc., arXiv:1603.01026.
- [18] S. Boucksom, M. Jonsson: Singular semipositive metrics on line bundles on varieties over trivially valued fields. arXiv:1801.08229.
- [19] S. Boucksom, M. Jonsson: A non-Archimedean approach to K-stability. arXiv:1805.11160v1.
- [20] M. Brion: Sur l'image de l'application moment. Séminaire d'Algèbre Paul Dubreil et Marie-Paul Malliavin Lect. Notes Math., vol. 1296, Springer-Verlag, 1987.
- [21] X.X. Chen, S. K. Donaldson and S. Sun: Kähler-Einstein metrics on Fano manifolds, I-III, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 28 (2015), 183-197, 199-234, 235-278.
- [22] H-D. Cao, G. Tian, and X. Zhu: Kähler-Ricci solitons on compact complex manifolds with $c_1(M) > 0$, Geom. Funct. Anal. 15 (2005), no. 3, 697-719.
- [23] J. Cable, H. Süss: On the classification of Kähler-Ricci solitons on Gorenstein Del Pezzo surfaces, Eur. J. Math. 4 (1) (2018) 137-161.
- [24] X. Chen, S. Sun, and B. Wang: Kähler-Ricci flow: Kähler-Einstein metric, and K-stability, Geom. Topol. 22 (2018), no. 6, 3145-3173.
- [25] V. Datar, G. Székelyhidi: Kähler-Einstein metrics along the smooth continuity method, Geom. Funct. Anal. 26 (2016), no.4, 975-1010.
- [26] T. Darvas: The Mabuchi geometry of finite energy classes. Adv. Math. 285 (2015), 182-219.
- [27] T. Darvas: Metric geometry of normal Kähler spaces, energy properness, and existence of canonical metrics, Int. Math. Res. Not. (2017), 6752-6777.
- [28] T. Darvas, Y. Rubinstein: Tian's properness conjectures and Finsler geometry of the space of Kähler metrics. J. Amer. Math. Soc. 30 (2017), 347-387.
- [29] T. Delcroix: K-Stability of Fano spherical varieties, arXiv:1608.01852.
- [30] T. Delcroix, J. Hultgren: Coupled complex Monge-Ampère equations on Fano horosymmetric manifolds, arXiv:1812.07218.
- [31] J.-P. Demailly: Regularization of closed positive currents and intersection Theory. J. Alg. Geom. 1 (1992), 361-409.
- [32] E. Di Nezza, V. Guedj: Geometry and topology of the space of Kähler metrics, Composition Math. 154 (2018) 1593-1632.
- [33] R.Dervan: Uniform stability of twisted constant scalar curvature Kähler metrics, Int. Math. Res. Not. 2016, no 15, 4728-4783.
- [34] S. K. Donaldson: Remarks on gauge theory, complex geometry and 4-manifold topology, Fields Medallists' lectures, World Sci. Ser. 20th Century Math., vol. 5, World Sci. Publ., River Edge, NJ, 1997, pp. 384-403.
- [35] S. Donaldson: Scalar curvature and stability of toric varieties, J. Differential Geom. 62 (2002), no.2, 289-349.
- [36] P. Eyssidieux, V. Guedj, A. Zeriahi: Singular Kähler-Einstein metrics. J. Amer. Math. Soc. 22 (2009), 607-639.
- [37] K. Feng and L. Shen: The partial C^0 -estimate along a general continuity path and applications, arXiv:1909.05196.
- [38] K. Fujita: A valuative criterion for uniform K-stability of Q-Fano varieties, J. Reine Angew. Math. 751 (2019), 309-338.
- [39] K. Fujita: Uniform K-stability and plt blowups, Kyoto J. Math. 59 (2019), no.2, 399-418.
- [40] A. Futaki: An obstruction to the existence of Einstein-Kähler metrics. Inv. Math., 73, 437-443 (1983).
- [41] A. Futaki: Kähler-Einstein Metrics and Integral Invariants. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1314, Springer-Verlag
- [42] A. Futaki, and T. Mabuchi: Bilinear forms and extremal Kähler vector fields associated with Kähler classes. Math. Ann., 301 (1995), 199-210.
- [43] V. Guedj, A. Zeriahi: Degenerate complex Monge-Ampère equations, book, 470pp, EMS Tracts in Mathematics (2017).
- [44] V. Guedj, A. Zeriahi: The weighted Monge-Ampère energy of quasiplurisubharmonic functions, J. Funct. Anal. 250 (2007), no. 2, 442-482.
- [45] T. Hisamoto: Stability and coercivity for toric polarizations. arXiv:1610.07998.
- [46] T. Hisamoto: Mabuchi's soliton metric and relative D-stability. arXiv:1905.05948.

- [47] N. Ilten, H. Süss: K-stability for Fano manifolds with torus action of complexity 1. Duke Math. J. 166(1), 177-204 (2017)
- [48] E. Inoue: The moduli space of Fano manifolds with Kähler Ricci solitons, Advances in Mathematics. 357 2019.
- [49] E. Ioue: Constant μ -scalar curvature Kähler metric formulation and foundational results, arXiv:1902.00664.
- [50] E. Inoue: Equivariant calculus on μ -character and μ -K-stability of polarized schemes, arXiv:2004.06393.
- [51] W. Jiang, F. Wang, and X. Zhu: Bergman Kernels for a sequence of almost Kähler-Ricci solitons, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble), 67 (2017), 1279-1320.
- [52] X. Jin and J. Liu: The long-time behavior of generalized Calabi-flow, J. Geom. Anal. 29, 939-956 (2019).
- [53] A. Lahdili: K\u00e4hler metrics with constant weighted scalar curvature and weighted K-stability, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3), 2019.
- [54] A. Lahdili: Convexity of the weighted Mabuchi functional and the uniqueness of weighted extremal metrics. arXiv:2007.01345, 2020.
- [55] R. Lazarsfeld: Positivity in algebraic geometry I, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete, vols. 48 (Springer, Berlin, 2004).
- [56] E. Legendre: Toric Kähler-Einstein metrics and convex compact polytopes, J. Geom. Anal (2016), 26, 399-427.
- [57] C. Li and C. Xu: Special test configurations and K-stability of Fano varieties, Ann. of Math. (2) 180 (2014), no.1, 197-232.
- [58] C. Li, G. Tian and F. Wang: The uniform version of Yau-Tian-Donaldson conjecture for singular Fano varieties. arXiv:1903.01215.
- [59] C. Li: G-uniform stability and Kähler-Einstein metrics on Fano varieties, arXiv:1907.09399.
- [60] C. Li: Geodesic rays and stability in the cscK problem, arXiv:2001.01366.
- [61] Y. Li: Existence of Kähler-Ricci solitons on smoothable Q-Fano varieties, arXiv:1908.10091.
- [62] Y. Li and B. Zhou: Mabuchi metrics and properness of modified Ding functional, Pacific J. Math., 302 (2019), 659-692.
- [63] Y. Li, G. Tian and X. Zhu: Singular Kähler-Einstein metrics on Q-Fano compactifications of Lie groups, arXiv:2001.11320.
- [64] G. Liu, and G. Székelyhidi: Gromov-Hausdorff limits of Kähler manifolds with Ricci curvature bounded below, arXiv:1804.08567.
- [65] T. Mabuchi, K-energy maps integrating Futaki invariants, Tohoku Math. Jour. 38 (1986) 575593,
- [66] T. Mabuchi: Kähler-Einstein metrics for manifolds with nonvanishing Futaki character. Tohoku Mathematical Journal, Second Series, 2001, 53(2): 171-182.
- [67] T. Mabuchi: Multiplier Hermitian structures on Kähler manifolds. Nagoya Mathematical Journal, 2003, 170: 73-115.
- [68] S. Nakamura: Generalized Kähler-Einstein metrics and uniform stability for toric Fano manifolds, Tohoku Math. J. (2), 71 no. 4 (2019), 525-532.
- [69] Y. Nakagawa: On generalized Kähler-Ricci solitons, Osaka J. Math. 48 (2011), 497-513.
- [70] B. Pasquier: Birational geometry of G-varieties, online notes, 2017.
- [71] D. H. Phong, J. Song, J. Sturm, and B. Weinkove: The Moser-Trudinger inequality on Kähler-Einstein manifolds, Am. J. Math., 130 (2008), 1067-1085.
- [72] Y. Prokhorov: On birational involutions of P^3 , arXiv:1206.4985.
- [73] J. Ross, G. Székelyhidi: Twisted Kähler-Einstein metrics, arXiv:1911.03442
- [74] W. Rudin: Principles of Mathematical Analysis, 1976, New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company.
- [75] Y. Shi, X. Zhu: Kähler-Ricci solitons on toric Fano orbifolds, Math. Z. 271 (2012), 1241-1251.
- [76] G. Székelyhidi: The partial C^0 -estimate along the continuity method. J. Amer. Math. Soc. **29** (2016), 537560.
- [77] G. Tian: Kähler-Einstein metrics with positive scalar curvature. Invent. Math. 130 (1997), 239-265.
- [78] G. Tian: An equivariant version of the K-energy. Acta Math. Sin. 21(1), 1-8 (2005).
- [79] G. Tian: Existence of Einstein metrics on Fano manifolds, in : Metric and Differential Geometry (X.-Z. Dai et al., Eds.), Springer, 2012, pp.119-159.
- [80] G. Tian: K-stability and Kähler-Einstein metrics. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 68 (7) (2015), 1085-1156.

JIYUAN HAN AND CHI LI

- [81] G. Tian, F. Wang: On the existence of conic Kaehler-Einstein metrics, arXiv:1903.12547.
- [82] G. Tian and X. Zhu: Uniqueness of Kähler-Ricci solitons on compact Kähler manifolds, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Ser. I Math. 329 (1999), no. 11, 991-995.
- [83] G. Tian and X. Zhu: A new holomorphic invariant and uniqueness of Kähler-Ricci solitons, Comment. Math. Helv. 77 (2002), no. 2, 297-325.
- [84] X. Wang and X. Zhu: Kähler-Ricci solitons on toric manifolds with positive first Chern class, Advances in Mathematics 188 (2004), 87-103.
- [85] F. Wang and X. Zhu. On the structure of spaces with Bakry-Emery Ricci curvature bounded below.J. Reine Angew. Math., arXiv:1304.4490.
- [86] F. Wang, B. Zhou and X. Zhu: Modified Futaki invariant and equivariant Riemann-Roch formula, Adv. Math. 289 (2016), 1205-1235.
- [87] Y. Yao: Mabuchi Metrics and Relative Ding Stability of Toric Fano Varieties. arXiv:1701.04016, 2017.
- [88] Y. Yao: Relative Ding stability and an obstruction to the existence of Mabuchi solitons, arXiv:1908.09518.
- [89] S-T. Yau: On the Ricci curvature of a compact Kähler manifold and the complex Monge-Ampère equation, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. **31** 1978.
- [90] X. Zhu: Kähler-Ricci soliton type equations on compact complex manifolds with $c_1(M) > 0$. J. Geom. Anal. **10**(4), 759-774 (2000).

Department of Mathematics, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, 47907 E-mail address: han 556@purdue.edu

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, PURDUE UNIVERSITY, WEST LAFAYETTE, IN, 47907 *E-mail address*: li2285@purdue.edu